

JHEP

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 18, 2020 REVISED: November 9, 2020 ACCEPTED: December 23, 2020 PUBLISHED: February 1, 2021

On the time evolution of cosmological correlators

Sebastián Céspedes,^{a,b} Anne-Christine Davis^c and Scott Melville^{c,d} ^a ICTP, Strada Costiera 11, 34151 Trieste, Italy ^b Instituto de Física Teórica UAM/CSIC, Calle Nicolás Cabrera 13-15 Cantoblanco E-28049 Madrid, Spain ^c DAMTP, Center for Mathematical Sciences, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, CB3 0WA, U.K. ^d Emmanuel College, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, CB2 3AP, U.K. E-mail: sebastian.cespedes@uam.es, a.c.davis@damtp.cam.ac.uk, scott.melville@damtp.cam.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: Developing our understanding of how correlations evolve during inflation is crucial if we are to extract information about the early Universe from our late-time observables. To that end, we revisit the time evolution of scalar field correlators on de Sitter spacetime in the Schrödinger picture. By direct manipulation of the Schrödinger equation, we write down simple "equations of motion" for the coefficients which determine the wavefunction. Rather than specify a particular interaction Hamiltonian, we assume only very basic properties (unitarity, de Sitter invariance and locality) to derive general consequences for the wavefunction's evolution. In particular, we identify a number of "constants of motion" — properties of the initial state which are conserved by any unitary dynamics — and show how this can be used to partially fix the cubic and quartic wavefunction coefficients at weak coupling. We further constrain the time evolution by deriving constraints from the de Sitter isometries and show that these reduce to the familiar conformal Ward identities at late times. Finally, we show how the evolution of a state from the conformal boundary into the bulk can be described via a number of "transfer functions" which are analytic outside the horizon for any local interaction. These objects exhibit divergences for particular values of the scalar mass, and we show how such divergences can be removed by a renormalisation of the boundary wavefunction — this is equivalent to performing a "Boundary Operator Expansion" which expresses the bulk operators in terms of regulated boundary operators. Altogether, this improved understanding of the wavefunction in the bulk of de Sitter complements recent advances from a purely boundary perspective, and reveals new structure in cosmological correlators.

KEYWORDS: Space-Time Symmetries, Classical Theories of Gravity, Effective Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2009.07874

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Time evolution and unitarity	7
	2.1 Free evolution	8
	2.2 Interacting evolution	10
	2.3 Constants of motion from unitarity	15
3	de Sitter isometries	16
	3.1 Symmetry generators	17
	3.2 Equal-time correlators	18
	3.3 Wavefunction coefficients	22
4	Locality and analyticity on superhorizon scales	24
	4.1 The conformal boundary	25
	4.2 Analyticity from locality	27
	4.3 Renormalisation of the boundary wavefunction	35
5	Some examples	39
	5.1 Conformally coupled scalar	39
	5.2 Massless scalar	46
	5.3 EFT of inflation	48
6	Discussion	51
A	Comparison with wavefunctions on Minkowski spacetime	53
в	Some properties of Bessel functions	58

1 Introduction

Extracting imprints of the early inflationary Universe from our late-time observables is a central goal of modern cosmology — providing a new window into fundamental physics in the high-energy regime. In order to extract as much information as possible from these observables, a great deal of recent research has been devoted to better understanding how correlations are produced and evolve during inflation.

In this work, we study the time evolution of cosmological correlators using the bulk Schrödinger equation. Rather than specify a particular Hamiltonian, our aim is to use only very basic assumptions — such that the interactions are *unitary*, *de Sitter invariant* and *local* — to derive general consequences for the wavefunction of the Universe. This model-independent approach to studying cosmological correlators is very much inspired by the successes enjoyed by the S-matrix programme on flat Minkowski space [1, 2], in which similar foundational properties (unitarity, Lorentz invariance and locality) can be used to efficiently bootstrap scattering amplitudes without specifying a particular Lagrangian (see e.g. [3-5] for recent reviews). The advantage of such an approach is that our results capture a large class of different models, and are not hindered by our ignorance of the detailed inflationary dynamics.

The early Universe is well-described by a period of quasi-de Sitter expansion [6-9] in which the spontaneous breaking of time translations inevitably gives rise to a scalar excitation [10, 11]. Therefore, at the simplest level, inflationary correlators may be approximated by the correlators of a scalar field on a fixed de Sitter spacetime — this is the focus of our work.

Evolution of the wavefunction. One of the earliest approaches for computing correlation functions on de Sitter spacetime is the wavefunction formalism [12, 13]. In this formalism, the state of the system at time η is described by a linear functional $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$, from which all equal-time correlation functions of the field ϕ can be efficiently computed (see for instance [14–16]). Although modern computations of the wavefunction often favour path integral techniques [17–19] (e.g. borrowing the bulk-to-boundary and bulk-to-bulk propagators of holography to compute the on-shell action), in this work we adopt the Schrödinger picture, representing observables in terms of $\hat{\phi}$ and its canonical momentum $\hat{\Pi}$, and $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$ is determined by solving the Schrödinger equation. This picture naturally focuses on the integration Hamiltonian rather than the Lagrangian, and so properties such as unitarity (hermiticity of the Hamiltonian) are made manifest.¹

Unitarity and constants of motion. Loosely speaking, the importance of a hermitian Hamiltonian lies in the conservation of probability. Since $U = e^{i\mathcal{H}t}$ is the operator which implements time evolution, if a state $|\Psi\rangle$ is initially properly normalised then at later times $\langle \Psi | U^{\dagger}U | \Psi \rangle$ remains normalised only if U is unitary. Another way to phrase this is that $\int \mathcal{D}\phi |\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]|^2$ is a *constant of motion*. Since $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$ is a functional, unitarity leads to the conservation of an infinite number of functions (one at each order in ϕ^n) — we will call these constants of motion $\{\beta_n\}$, and here we construct the first two explicitly at weak coupling (neglecting loops).

Previously, unitarity constraints have been derived in models of inflation by focusing on subhorizon scales, at which the background expansion can be ignored and scattering amplitudes can be constructed analogously to flat space [20–23]. One notable exception is the very recent work of [24], which also uses properties of the wavefunction under unitary evolution to derive a "Cosmological Optical Theorem". Our constants of motion provide a major step beyond subhorizon scattering, giving a constraint which applies to the wavefunction on

¹The price to be paid for choosing this approach is that the symmetries (which were manifest in the Lagrangian) are now obscured. On Minkowski spacetime we are able to implement Lorentz invariance in such a powerful way (via off-shell mode functions) that nowadays the Lagrangian approach is used almost exclusively. However, for cosmology, since we are not yet able to implement de Sitter boosts in such a powerful way, there is merit in using a Hamiltonian description to benefit from the manifest unitarity.

horizon scales (relevant for observation), and also a complementary way to understand the important result of [24], since for the particular case of the Bunch-Davies initial condition the conservation of our β_n directly implies the Cosmological Optical Theorem.

de Sitter isometries. Although the wavefunction (and our above constants of motion) may be defined on any curved spacetime, we will focus primarily on an exact de Sitter background. The isometries of de Sitter spacetime are well-understood, and by now it is well-known that at late times the (d + 1)-dimensional de Sitter symmetries approach those of the *d*-dimensional conformal group, and this places constraints on both the equal-time correlators and the wavefunction as $\eta \to 0$ [25–29]. This lies at the heart of the recently proposed "Cosmological Bootstrap" program [30–33], which aims to determine the boundary wavefunction by solving the conformal Ward identities.

However, less well-understood are the consequences of these symmetries (particularly de Sitter boosts) in the bulk, at finite η . One reason for this is that, while all de Sitter observers agree on the field eigenstate at $\eta = 0$ (since this timeslice is invariant under all de Sitter isometries), a field eigenstate at finite η is generally observer-dependent, and therefore $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi] = \langle \phi | \Psi \rangle$ transforms in a more complicated way. By defining the Noether charges associated with dilations and de Sitter boosts, we will provide compact expressions for how the wavefunction changes under de Sitter transformations. This allows us to identify the states which are de Sitter invariant on any bulk timeslice (not just at the conformal boundary).

Locality and analyticity. Supposing one has successfully solved the conformal Ward identities and identified the boundary state at $\eta = 0$. How is this related to the bulk dynamics? Well, if we evolve the boundary state into the bulk, going a small η from the conformal boundary, it should be possible to express this new state as a small perturbation from the boundary state. With this logic, we identify a set of "transfer functions", whose purpose is to map a boundary state (correlator) into a bulk state (correlator) at finite η . Providing the bulk interactions are local, these functions have the schematic form $1+(-k\eta)^2+(-k\eta)^4+\ldots$ when η is small and are smooth, analytic functions of the momenta of the fields in the correlator. When $|k\eta|$ approaches one (i.e. when a mode crosses the horizon), this series must be resummed and it is this resummation which produces non-analyticities in the transfer functions/bulk wavefunction (in spite of the Hamiltonian being an analytic function of k).

One particular non-analyticity which the transfer functions always develop as a result of this resummation is a $1/k_T$ pole in the total energy, $k_T = \sum_j |\mathbf{k}_j|$, together with various so-called "folded" non-analyticities. In recent years there has been growing interest in the analytic structure of cosmological correlators, and in particular in the pole at $k_T =$ 0 [30, 31, 34, 35], whose residue is related to the corresponding scattering amplitude on Minkowski space. We show that, when propagating a boundary state into the bulk, this pole only emerges on subhorizon scales $|k\eta| \gg 1$, and further show that the complementary limit $|k\eta| \ll 1$ is free from non-analyticities providing both the interactions and the initial state are analytic (local) functions of the momenta.

Summary of main results

We will work throughout with the following ansatz for the wavefunction,

$$\Psi_{\eta}[\phi] = \exp\left(i\,g^{n-2}\,\Gamma_{\eta}[g\phi]\right) \quad \text{where} \quad \Gamma_{\eta}[\phi] = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta)\,\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\dots\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}\,, \quad (1.1)$$

which reduces the functional $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$ to a series of functions $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$ (or c_n for short), called wavefunction coefficients. We focus on states that are approximately Gaussian, using g as a weak coupling which controls our perturbative expansions (i.e. we will focus on only tree level contributions to the c_n). Our main results are:

(i) Firstly, by direct manipulation of the Schrödinger equation, we derive simple equations of motion for the time evolution of the wavefunction coefficients, $\partial_{\eta}c_n$. Explicit expressions for $\partial_{\eta}c_3$ and $\partial_{\eta}c_4$ are given in (2.27) and (2.35). Solving this system of equations reproduces known results from the analogous path integral computation, only now at each order in ϕ^n a constant of integration must be specified — this encodes the initial condition for $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$, which can now be freely varied. Explicitly, the master equation from which any non-Gaussian $\partial_{\eta}c_n$ can be read off is,

$$-\partial_{\eta} \left(\Gamma_{\eta}^{I} + \frac{i}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)}{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)} \frac{\delta \Gamma_{\eta}^{I}}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{I}} \frac{\delta \Gamma_{\eta}^{I}}{\delta \phi_{-\mathbf{k}}^{I}} \right) = \mathcal{H}^{I} - \frac{i}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)}{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)} \partial_{\eta} \left(\frac{\delta \Gamma_{\eta}^{I}}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{I}} \frac{\delta \Gamma_{\eta}^{I}}{\delta \phi_{-\mathbf{k}}^{I}} \right) , \qquad (1.2)$$

where \mathcal{H} is the interaction Hamiltonian and the superscript I denotes that all fields should be normalised using the mode function, $\phi_{\mathbf{k}} = \phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{I} f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)$.

(ii) We use unitarity of the interaction Hamiltonian to identify new constants of motion at every order in ϕ^n . For example, defining the following combinations,

$$\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^* f_{\mathbf{k}_2}^* f_{\mathbf{k}_3}^*} = c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} - c_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}_1\bar{\mathbf{k}}_2\bar{\mathbf{k}}_3}^* \tag{1.3}$$

$$\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*}} = c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} - c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{2}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{3}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{4}} + i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} |f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}|^{2} \Big(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} - c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{*}\Big) \Big(c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} - c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{*}\Big)$$

where the argument $\bar{\mathbf{k}}$ is defined such that $f_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}}(\eta) = f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta)$, the equations of motion for c_3 and c_4 become simply $\partial_{\eta}\beta_3 \propto \mathcal{H}_3 - \mathcal{H}_3^{\dagger}$ and $\partial_{\eta}\beta_4 \propto \mathcal{H}_4 - \mathcal{H}_4^{\dagger}$ (where \mathcal{H}_3 and \mathcal{H}_4 are the cubic and quartic terms in the interaction Hamiltonian). β_3 and β_4 are therefore constants of motion, preserved by any unitary dynamics (hermitian Hamiltonian). When restricting to the Bunch-Davies initial condition,² in which all $\beta_n = 0$, this reduces to the Cosmological Optical Theorem which has recently appeared in [24].

(iii) Invariance under the de Sitter isometries can be imposed directly on the correlation functions by regarding $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle(\eta)$ as the equal-time limit of $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta_n) \rangle$

²In the Bunch-Davies vacuum state, $\bar{\mathbf{k}}$ is given simply by $|\bar{\mathbf{k}}| = -|\mathbf{k}|$.

in the Heisenberg picture. We show that this results in,

$$\left((n-1)d - \eta \partial_{\eta} + \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}\right) \langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \rangle' = 0$$
(1.4)

$$\sum_{J} \left(2 \left(d + \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \right) \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} - \mathbf{k}_{J} \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}^{2} \right) \left\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \right\rangle' = \frac{2\eta}{\Omega^{d-1}} \sum_{J} \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \left\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \Pi_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \right\rangle',$$

where $\hat{\Pi}$ is the momentum conjugate to $\hat{\phi}$, and the prime indicates that the overall momentum-conserving δ -function has been removed. Analogous constraints also apply to correlators involving arbitrary insertions of both $\hat{\phi}$ and $\hat{\Pi}$.

(iv) The de Sitter isometries can also be implemented directly on the wavefunction via the conserved Noether charges D and \mathbf{K} (associated to dilations and boosts respectively). We show that this results in,

$$\delta_D \Gamma_\eta = -\eta \partial_\eta \Gamma_\eta + \int_{\mathbf{p}} \phi_{-\mathbf{p}} \, \mathbf{p} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{p}} \, \frac{\delta \Gamma_\eta}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{p}}}, \qquad (1.5)$$

$$\delta_{\mathbf{K}}\Gamma_{\eta} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \left[\frac{\eta}{\Omega^{d-1}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}}{\delta\phi_{-\mathbf{p}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\mathbf{p}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{p}}} + \phi_{-\mathbf{p}} \left(2\mathbf{p} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\mathbf{p}} - \mathbf{p}\partial_{\mathbf{p}}^{2} \right) \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{p}}} \right] + 2\eta \partial_{\mathbf{q}} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\text{int}}|_{\mathbf{q}=0}.$$

where $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}}$ is the Fourier transform of the Hamiltonian density. Like (1.2), these equations impose relations on every wavefunction coefficient, c_n . Although the boost constraint in the bulk depends on the details of the interaction Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}^{int} , this becomes a model-independent constraint at late times ($\eta \to 0$), where the interactions switch off, and one recovers the usual conformal Ward identities.³

(v) Once a boundary value for the wavefunction is provided at $\eta = 0$, say $\Psi_{\eta=0}[\phi]$ with $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta = 0) = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}$, we can propagate this into the bulk using a set of transfer functions. Schematically, these act as the coefficients in the following expansion,

$$c_n(\eta) = \alpha_n + \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} \frac{\delta c_n(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_j} \alpha_j + \frac{1}{2!} \sum_{i,j=2}^{\infty} \frac{\delta c_n(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_i \delta \alpha_j} \alpha_i \alpha_j + \dots$$
(1.6)

Locality of the bulk interactions corresponds to analyticity of these transfer functions in every momenta \mathbf{k}_j until the corresponding mode enters the horizon $(|k_j\eta| \sim 1)$, at which point non-analyticities may develop (e.g. the $1/k_T$ pole), see figure 1.

(vi) For particular values of the scalar mass, the interactions do not turn off sufficiently quickly at late times and the wavefunction coefficients diverge. We show how such boundary divergences can be *renormalised* by redefining the boundary condition at $\eta = 0$ (i.e. $\alpha_n \to \alpha_n^{\text{ren}}$), and also provide an equivalent prescription in terms of a Boundary Operator Expansion. This is a mapping between the bulk operators $\hat{\phi}$ and

³Except for special values of the scalar mass, at which the interactions do not turn off sufficiently quickly as $\eta \to 0$ and the conformal Ward identities must be corrected by anomalous terms.



Figure 1. A cartoon of the expanding de Sitter spacetime. We refer to late times, $\eta \to 0$, as the conformal boundary, and denote the wavefunction coefficients there by α_n . This boundary condition can be translated into a bulk wavefunction, with coefficients $c_n(\eta)$, by means of various "transfer functions" $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{\nu_1...\nu_n}(\eta)$ which we define in section 4 — these objects are analytic (for any local Hamiltonian) until horizon crossing at $|k\eta| \sim 1$ where they develop non-analyticities (such as the $1/k_T$ pole). In the far past, $\eta \to -\infty$, we denote the wavefunction coefficients as α_n^{in} . Imposing the Bunch-Davies vacuum state in the far past corresponds simply to $\alpha_n^{\text{in}} = 0$.

 $\hat{\Pi}$ (with dilation weight 0 and d respectively) to the boundary operators $\hat{\varphi}$ and $\hat{\pi}$ (with dilation weight Δ and $d - \Delta$ respectively),

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left(\frac{\hat{\phi}}{(-\eta)^{\Delta}} \right) = \hat{\varphi} + \sum_{j} Z_{\phi \mathcal{O}_{j}} \, \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{j}[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}] \,, \tag{1.7}$$
$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left((-\eta)^{\Delta} \hat{\Pi} \right) = \hat{\pi} + \sum_{j} Z_{\Pi \mathcal{O}_{j}} \, \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{j}[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}] \,,$$

where $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_j$ is a basis of composite boundary operators, and Δ is determined by the scalar field mass $(m^2 = \Delta(d - \Delta))$. Typically, dilation invariance sets every mixing coefficient $Z_{\phi\mathcal{O}_j}$ and $Z_{\Pi\mathcal{O}_j}$ to zero, but divergences can occur whenever there exists an operator with $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}_j} = \Delta$ or $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}_j} = d - \Delta$ and the corresponding mixing coefficient is non-zero. For instance, $\hat{\mathcal{O}} = \hat{\varphi}^n$ mixes into $\hat{\Pi}$ when $n\Delta = d - \Delta$ and into $\hat{\Phi}$ when $n\Delta = \Delta$ (these correspond to ultra-local and semi-local divergences respectively).

Synopsis and conventions

In section 2, we briefly review time evolution in the Schrödinger picture, derive simple equations of motion for the wavefunction coefficients, and identify new constants of motion which are preserved by any unitary dynamics. In section 3, we derive constraints on both the equal-time correlators and the wavefunction coefficients from the isometries of de Sitter spacetime. In section 4, we show that the bulk wavefunction may be written in terms of a boundary condition at $\eta = 0$ and a number of transfer functions — locality of the bulk interactions is then manifest as analyticity of these functions outside the horizon — and show how to renormalise the IR divergences which can appear in the $\eta \to 0$ limit. In

section 5, we discuss in detail three particular examples, namely a conformally coupled scalar, a massless scalar, and the EFT of inflation, before finally concluding in section 6.

We work mostly in d + 1 spacetime dimensions with metric signature $(-, +, \ldots, +)$. Bold variables are *d*-dimensional spatial vectors, and $\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y} = x^i \delta_{ij} y^j$. We will avoid using explicit indices on vectors, so that \mathbf{x}_j can always be read as the position of the j^{th} field (and should not be confused with the *j*th component of \mathbf{x}). We also define $\mathbf{k}_s = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2$, $\mathbf{k}_t = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_3$ and $\mathbf{k}_u = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_4$ when describing exchange contributions to quartic correlators/wavefunction coefficients. The Fourier transform is defined as $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \int d^d \mathbf{x} \, e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} f_{\mathbf{x}}(\eta)$ and commutes with functions of η . We denote the conformal weight by $\Delta = \frac{d}{2} - \nu$, where $\nu = \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} - \frac{m^2}{H^2}}$ is real for light fields, and will write the shadow weight explicitly as $d - \Delta$ (note that these are often referred to as Δ^- and Δ^+).

2 Time evolution and unitarity

In this section, we will derive simple equations of motion for the coefficients appearing in the wavefunction, primarily for a scalar field on a conformally flat spacetime background. We will work in the Schrödinger representation, in which states of the Hilbert space, $|\Psi\rangle$, are replaced by linear functionals of fields, $\Psi[\phi]$, which notionally act as $\langle \phi | \Psi \rangle$ and provide the overlap between the state and a classical (smooth) field configuration (see e.g. [36–38] for reviews). Observables built from the field operator $\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}$ and its canonical momentum $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}$ (which satisfy the commutation relation $[\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}, \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}'}] = i\delta^3(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}')$) are represented as $\phi_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $-i\delta/\delta\phi_{-\mathbf{k}}$ acting on $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$.

Throughout this work we will focus on isotropic states of the form,⁴

$$\Psi_{\eta}[\phi] = e^{i\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where the functional $\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]$ is approximately Gaussian, and can be expanded as,

$$\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}}(\eta) \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} + \sum_{n=3} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta) \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where $\int_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n} = \int \prod_{i=1}^n d^3 \mathbf{k}_i \, \delta(\sum_{i=1}^n \mathbf{k}_i)$ is an integral over *n* conserved momenta, and the non-Gaussian coefficients $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$ are assumed small (i.e. we assume throughout that each $c_n \sim g^{n-2}$ is suppressed by some weak coupling *g*). For brevity, we will often refer to $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$ as simply c_n when its arguments are unimportant or otherwise clear from the context. This characterisation of the state is convenient because it allows any equal-time correlation function of $\phi_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $\Pi_{\mathbf{k}}$ to be read off straightforwardly, as we will show in section 3.2. All of the dynamical information is effectively encoded in the $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$.

The time evolution of the coefficients $c_n(\eta)$ is governed by the Schrödinger equation,

$$i\partial_{\eta}\Psi_{\eta}[\phi] = \mathcal{H}\left[\phi, -i\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi}\right]\Psi_{\eta}[\phi], \qquad (2.3)$$

 $^{^{4}}$ While this ansatz is general enough to capture any instantaneous vacuum state, it cannot describe *n*-particle states since these depend explicitly on the momenta of the particles (which spontaneously break rotational invariance).

where $\mathcal{H}[\phi,\Pi]$ is the Hamiltonian for the scalar field ϕ . We will first describe how $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$ evolves in a free theory, then we will include the effects of small interactions in \mathcal{H} in section 2.2, arriving at a set of simple equations of motion which determine the time evolution of the $c_n(\eta)$. Finally, in section 2.3, we use these equations to identify new constants of motion, which we call β_n , that are conserved in any scalar theory with unitary interactions.

2.1 Free evolution

We begin by discussing a *free* scalar field on a conformally flat spacetime, $ds^2 = \Omega^2(\eta)(-d\eta^2 + d\mathbf{x}^2)$, with Hamiltonian given by,

$$\mathcal{H}[\phi,\Pi] = \int d^d \mathbf{x} \left(\frac{1}{2\Omega^{d-1}(\eta)} \Pi_{\mathbf{x}}^2 + \frac{\Omega^{d-1}(\eta)}{2} E_{\mathbf{x}}^2(\eta) \phi_{\mathbf{x}}^2 \right), \qquad (2.4)$$

where $E_k^2(\eta) = k^2 + m^2 \Omega^2(\eta)$ in momentum space. It will also prove convenient to define the Gaussian width,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = i\Omega^{d-1}(\eta)\omega_k(\eta), \qquad (2.5)$$

so that $\omega_k(\eta)$ has the same units as $E_k(\eta)$.

The Schrödinger equation (2.3) for the state $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$ given in (2.1) becomes the Hamilton-Jacobi equation⁵ for $\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]$,

$$-\partial_{\eta}\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}} \left\{ \frac{1}{\Omega^{d-1}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}} + \Omega^{d-1} E_{k_{1}}^{2} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} - \frac{i}{\Omega^{d-1}} \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}} \right\}.$$
 (2.6)

Expanding Γ as in (2.2), this gives a first order differential equation for every $\partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$. In the absence of interactions, setting $c_n = 0$ for all n > 2 solves equation (2.6) — i.e. exactly Gaussian states remain Gaussian under this free evolution.

Gaussian states. Consider an exactly Gaussian state, (2.2) with $c_2 \neq 0$ and $c_{n>2} = 0$. Such a state is annihilated by the operator,

$$\hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta) \left(-ic_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\hat{\phi}_{-\mathbf{k}} + i\hat{\Pi}_{-\mathbf{k}} \right) , \qquad (2.7)$$

where $f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta)$ is an overall normalisation, chosen so that $2f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta)f_{-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = 1/\text{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}$ to ensure a commutation relation $[\hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta), \hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}'}^{\dagger}(\eta)] = \delta^3(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')$ (note that a Hermitian operator in momentum space obeys $\phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} = \phi_{-\mathbf{k}}$). Equation (2.7) can also be inverted to express the fields in terms of \hat{A} and \hat{A}^{\dagger} ,

$$\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} = f_{-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\hat{A}_{-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) + f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)\hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(\eta), \qquad (2.8)$$
$$\frac{i\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}} - i\operatorname{Re}c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}}{\operatorname{Im}c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)} = f_{-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\hat{A}_{-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) - f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)\hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(\eta),$$

which will prove useful when we compute equal-time correlators in section 3.2.

⁵Note that the second functional derivative, $\delta^2/\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}}\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}}$ is formally divergent and requires renormalisation — this is the analogue of loop diagrams in the path integral approach. We will return to this point below when we discuss evolution in an interacting theory.

Any Gaussian state can be described in terms of these $\hat{A}(\eta)$ and $\hat{A}^{\dagger}(\eta)$ operators, whose time evolution is governed by $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ (or equivalently by the $\omega_k(\eta)$ given in (2.5)). In a free theory, the Schrödinger equation (2.6) gives,

$$-\omega_k^2(\eta) + k^2 + m^2 \Omega^2 = \frac{-i\partial_\eta \left(\Omega^{d-1}\omega_k\right)}{\Omega^{d-1}}.$$
(2.9)

For a Hermitian Hamiltonian (in this case a real m^2), the imaginary part of this equation uniquely fixes Im ω_k in terms of Re ω_k ,

$$-\mathrm{Im}\,\omega_k = \frac{\partial_\eta \left(\Omega^{d-1}\mathrm{Re}\,\omega_k\right)}{2\Omega^{d-1}\mathrm{Re}\,\omega_k} = \frac{\partial_\eta |f_{\mathbf{k}}|}{|f_{\mathbf{k}}|}\,.$$
(2.10)

This is an example of a *unitarity condition*: unitary dynamics (hermiticity of the Hamiltonian) requires relations between real and imaginary parts of the wavefunction coefficients. In this case, the damping of the mode functions (Im ω_k) is controlled by their frequency (Re ω_k). We will return to unitarity conditions in section 2.3.

From the real part of the Schrödinger equation (2.9), we see that $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ solves the classical equations of motion,

$$-\frac{\partial_{\eta} \left(\Omega^{d-1} \partial_{\eta} f_{\mathbf{k}}\right)}{\Omega^{d-1}} = E_{\mathbf{k}}^2 f_{\mathbf{k}}, \qquad (2.11)$$

providing it is normalised so that,

$$2\mathrm{Im}\left[f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\partial_{\eta}f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)\right] = \Omega^{1-d} \,.$$
(2.12)

Consequently, the Gaussian width can be written as,

=

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{i}{2|f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)|^{2}} + \frac{\Omega^{d-1}\partial_{\eta}|f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)|}{|f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)|} ,$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad \partial_{\eta}f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta) = i\omega_{k}(\eta)f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta) , \qquad (2.13)$$

and so (2.8) can be written as,

$$\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}} = \Omega^{d-1} \left(\partial_{\eta} f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) \hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) + \partial_{\eta} f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta) \hat{A}^{\dagger}(\eta) \right) , \qquad (2.14)$$

which coincides with the classical equation of motion, $\Pi(\eta) = \Omega^{d-1} \partial_{\eta} \phi_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$, in the Heisenberg picture.

We should stress at this stage that \hat{A} and \hat{A}^{\dagger} do *not* necessarily diagonalise the Hamiltonian, and so a general Gaussian state is not necessarily a ground state (vacuum) of any $\mathcal{H}(\eta)$. Rather, at each time, it is only a particular family of Gaussian states that minimize the energy — those that satisfy the vacuum condition $\omega_k^2(\eta_0) = k^2 + m^2 \Omega^2(\eta_0)$ at time η_0 (equivalent to $\partial_{\eta} c_2 = 0$ instantaneously). At this time, $\hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_0)$ momentarily diagonalises the Hamiltonian, $\hat{\mathcal{H}}(\eta_0) = \int d^d \mathbf{k} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\Omega^{d-1}(\eta_0)} \omega_k(\eta_0) \hat{A}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_0) \hat{A}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_0)$, and the instantaneous ground state is therefore given by a Gaussian state in which $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ has a boundary value $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta_0) = i\Omega^{d-1}(\eta_0)\sqrt{k^2 + m^2\Omega^2(\eta_0)}$ at time η_0 . Note that even under free time evolution, the width $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ at later $\eta \neq \eta_0$ will in general not obey $\omega_k^2(\eta) = k^2 + m^2\Omega^2(\eta)$ and is therefore no longer a vacuum state. Since under free evolution the state remains Gaussian, there is always a linear operator (2.7) which annihilates the state, but in general this operator does not diagonalise the instantaneous Hamiltonian.

2.2 Interacting evolution

Now consider a Hamiltonian with small interactions,

$$\mathcal{H}[\phi,\Pi] = \mathcal{H}_{\text{free}}[\phi,\Pi] + \mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}[\phi,\Pi].$$
(2.15)

The interactions act as a source for the non-Gaussianities, and setting $c_n(\eta) = 0$ is no longer a possible solution — i.e. an initially Gaussian state will evolve into a non-Gaussian one. For example, the quartic coefficients evolves as,

$$-\partial_{\eta}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} = \frac{\delta^{4}\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\dots\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\Omega^{d-1}} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{4} c_{\mathbf{k}_{j},-\mathbf{k}_{j}}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} + \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} - i\int_{\mathbf{p}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{p},-\mathbf{p}} \right\},$$

$$(2.16)$$

where $\mathbf{k}_s = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2$, $\mathbf{k}_t = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_3$ and $\mathbf{k}_u = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_4$ are the three permutations which appear in the c_3c_3 sum. In addition to the time-evolution from \mathcal{H}_{int} , the existing non-Gaussian features of the wavefunction also contribute to the time-evolution. The coefficients $c_n(\eta)$ mix with each other (even in a completely free theory like (2.4)) and therefore evolve in a non-trivial way. Our goal in this section will be to study (2.6) in more detail and express the time evolution of the $c_n(\eta)$ as simply as possible.

Connection to Feynman-Witten diagrams. Before developing relations like (2.16) further, it is worth stressing that solving this system of differential equations for c_n is equivalent to conventional path integral techniques, which express the c_n as integrals over products of the bulk-to-bulk propagator, ${}^6 G_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta_1, \eta_2)$ and bulk-to-boundary propagator, ${}^7 K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta)$. For instance, the exchange contribution to the wavefunction coefficient c_4 can be expressed at leading order as the Feynman-Witten diagram,



⁶Explicitly, this propagator can be expressed in terms of mode functions as,

$$G_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_{*}}(\eta_{1},\eta_{2}) = \frac{i}{2} \left(f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_{1}) - \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_{*})}{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta_{*})} f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta_{1}) \right) f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta_{2}) \Theta(\eta_{1} - \eta_{2}) + (\eta_{1} \leftrightarrow \eta_{2}) , \qquad (2.17)$$

where $f_k(\eta)$ has been normalised so that $\Omega^{d-1} f_{\mathbf{k}}^* \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\eta} f_{-\mathbf{k}} = -i.$

⁷Explicitly, this propagator can be expressed in terms of mode functions as,

$$K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_{*}}(\eta) = \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)}{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta_{*})} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

where we have imposed boundary conditions at $\eta \to -\infty$. Rather than compute this integral directly (which is difficult even for simple spacetime backgrounds), notice that by considering a small variation in the position η_* of our timeslice, the propagators obey,⁸

$$\partial_{\eta_*} K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta) = -c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta_*) K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta)$$

$$\partial_{\eta_*} G_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta_1, \eta_2) = \frac{1}{2} K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta_1) K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}(\eta_2)$$
(2.20)

and the four-point wavefunction coefficient decomposes into two-point and three-point coefficients, as in (2.16). In fact, armed with (2.20), it is straightforward to show that ∂_{η_*} of the conventional expressions for $c_n(\eta_*)$ in terms of $K_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}$ and $G_{\mathbf{k}}^{\eta_*}$ always coincides⁹ with the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (2.24) — this is not surprising, since both approaches are solving the same underlying Schrödinger equation for $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$. Some advantages¹⁰ of describing $c_n(\eta)$ with a differential equation (rather than an integral expression like (2.19)) are: (i) it is easier to manipulate these equations of motion into the form $\partial_{\eta}\beta_n = 0$ to derive constants of motion (which we will carry out in section 2.3), (ii) these differential equations for c_n can be readily compared with the differential constraints arising from spacetime isometries and other symmetries (as we will see in section 3), and (iii) the complementary solutions of the differential equations can be used to study the dependence on initial conditions (which we will use in section 4).

Interaction picture. We will now take steps to simplify (2.16). First, note that solving (2.16) requires inverting $\partial_{\eta} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{\mathbf{k}_{j}-\mathbf{k}_{j}}(\eta)$. Diagrammatically, this contribution from $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}$ is associated with the propagation of the external legs, rather than any nonlinear interaction. To simplify matters, we can use our knowledge of $\mathcal{H}_{\text{free}}$ to transform into the *interaction picture*, performing a unitary transformation at each time to define a new operator $\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}^{I}(\eta) = \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} / f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)$. This corresponds to rescaling the wavefunction coefficients,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\dots\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) = \frac{c_{\mathbf{k}_1\dots\mathbf{k}_n}^I(\eta)}{f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^*(\eta)\dots f_{\mathbf{k}_n}^*(\eta)},$$
(2.21)

so that for example (2.16) becomes,

$$-\partial_{\eta}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{I} - \frac{\delta^{4}\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}^{I}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}^{I}\dots\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{I}} = \frac{1}{\Omega^{d-1}} \left\{ \sum_{ij}^{3} \frac{c_{\mathbf{k}_{i}\mathbf{k}_{j}\mathbf{k}_{ij}}^{I}c_{\mathbf{k}_{i'}\mathbf{j}'\mathbf{k}_{j'}\mathbf{k}_{j'}}^{I}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_{ij}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{i'j'}}^{*}} - i \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{p},-\mathbf{p}}^{I}}{f_{\mathbf{p}}^{*}f_{-\mathbf{p}}^{*}} \right\}, \quad (2.22)$$

and the term $\sum c_2 c_4$ associated with the free propagation has been removed. The interaction picture Hamiltonian is $\mathcal{H}_{int}^{I}[\phi^{I}] = \mathcal{H}_{int}[f_{\mathbf{k}}^*\phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{I}]$ — for instance the interaction $\lambda \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}$ in \mathcal{H}_{int} would correspond to the time-dependent interaction $\lambda f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^* \dots f_{\mathbf{k}_n}^* \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}^I \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}^I$ in \mathcal{H}_{int}^{I} .

⁸This representation of the bulk-to-bulk propagator as an integral over the boundary of two bulk-toboundary propagators is known in the holography literature as the "split representation" (see e.g. [39-41]).

⁹It is, of course, also possible to go the other way, writing the general solution to the first order HJ equation in terms of an integrating factor, which produces integral expressions like (2.19).

¹⁰It would be interesting to see whether aspects of our approach could be exported to an AdS context. The main difference is that we are using a Schrödinger equation to describe bulk time evolution (constrained by bulk unitarity), whereas in AdS it would be a radial equation of motion in the bulk (somewhat disconnected from unitarity, which can be implemented at the time-like boundary without any reference to the bulk).



Figure 2. The Hamilton-Jacobi equations for the wavefunction phase, Γ . The time derivative is given by all possible ways of splitting the interaction into two pieces (exchange contribution), plus all possible ways of contracting a single higher-point coefficient into a loop (loop contribution), plus any interactions in the Hamiltonian (contact contribution).

In general, if we split the effective action into its free and interacting parts,

$$\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi] = \Gamma_{\eta, \, \text{free}}[\phi] + \Gamma_{\eta, \, \text{int}}[\phi] \,, \qquad (2.23)$$

where $\Gamma_{\eta, \text{free}}[\phi] = \int_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{1}{2} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2}(\eta) \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_2}$, the Schrödinger equation (2.3) becomes,

$$-\partial_{\eta}\Gamma^{I}_{\eta,\text{int}}[\phi^{I}] = \mathcal{H}^{I}_{\text{int}} + \frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}}\frac{\Omega^{1-d}}{f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}}\left\{\left(\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi^{I}_{\mathbf{k}}}\Gamma^{I}_{\eta\,\text{int}}[\phi^{I}]\right)^{2} - i\frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma^{I}_{\eta\,\text{int}}[\phi^{I}]}{\delta\phi^{I}_{\mathbf{k}}\delta\phi^{I}_{\mathbf{k}}}\right\},\qquad(2.24)$$

where in the interaction picture, $\Gamma_{\eta,\text{int}}^{I}[\phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{I}] = \Gamma_{\eta,\text{int}}\left[f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)\phi_{\mathbf{k}}^{I}\right]$. This corresponds to the evolution of $\Psi^{I} = e^{i\Gamma_{\text{int}}^{I}}$ generated by $\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}^{I}$, which is now decoupled from the free evolution (contained implicitly within $f_{\mathbf{k}}$, which are determined from (2.9) and (2.13)).

Each of the terms in (2.24) can be expressed diagrammatically, as shown in figure 2. There are three distinct source terms on the right-hand side: a contact contribution from \mathcal{H}_{int}^{I} , an exchange contribution from $(\delta\Gamma/\delta\phi)^2$, and a loop contribution from $\delta^2\Gamma/\delta\phi^2$. We will now discuss each of these in turn.

Loop contributions. Note that if each field is given a small coupling, so that the wavefunction phase is written as¹¹ $\frac{1}{g^2}\Gamma[g\phi_{\mathbf{k}}]$, then the final term in (2.24) is $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$ suppressed relative to the other terms. This $\delta^2\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]/\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}}^2$ term is formally divergent but can be treated in a perturbative expansion in g (this corresponds to the usual loop expansion). For a general Hamiltonian (with momentum-dependent interactions), the Schrödinger equation at weak coupling can therefore be written as,

$$-\partial_{\eta}\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi] = \mathcal{H}\left[\phi, \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]}{\delta\phi}\right], \qquad (2.25)$$

which coincides with the classical Hamilton-Jacobi equation, and therefore $\Gamma_{\eta}[\phi]$ coincides with the classical on-shell action at tree level. We postpone any further discussion of loop contributions to the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for the future, and in this work we will assume throughout that interaction strengths are sufficiently weak that all terms in $\delta^2\Gamma/\delta\phi^2$ can be neglected.

¹¹This is motivated by the power counting rules familiar from flat space, which guarantee that this scaling with g is radiatively stable.

Contact contributions. We refer to the contribution of a ϕ^n interaction in \mathcal{H}_{int} to the *n*-point coefficient c_n as a *contact* contribution. The most general set of interactions that can appear in \mathcal{H}_{int} at this order can be written as,

$$\{ V_0 \phi^n, V_1 \phi^{n-1} \Pi, \dots, V_j \phi^{n-j} \Pi^j, \dots, V_n \Pi^n \},$$
(2.26)

where each $V_j(\eta, \mathbf{k}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{k}_n)$ is a function of both time and momenta. In local, rotationally invariant, theories these functions are analytic in the momenta — this is most easily seen in the corresponding Lagrangian, in which local interactions either have contracted pairs of spatial derivatives (which give $\mathbf{k}_i \cdot \mathbf{k}_j$), or a single time derivative $\dot{\phi}$ (which produces the Π dependent terms), or more time derivatives (which can be reduced to ϕ and $\dot{\phi}$, with analytic coefficients, using the equations of motion).

In the Hamilton-Jacobi equation, each of the terms in (2.26) contribute to c_n as $V_j(c_2)^j$ (i.e. imagine taking *n* functional derivatives with respect to ϕ and then set both ϕ and $\delta\Gamma/\delta\phi$ equal to zero). Therefore for contact contributions we can treat $\Pi_{\mathbf{k}}$ as $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\phi_{\mathbf{k}}$ when acting on the wavefunction at time η (at leading order in the small coupling). The simplest example of this is the cubic coefficient, which is sourced solely by contact contributions,

$$-\partial_{\eta}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{I} = \prod_{j=1}^{3} f_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}^{*}(\eta) \frac{\delta^{3}\mathcal{H}[\phi, c_{2}(\eta)\phi]}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}}\Big|_{\phi=0}.$$
(2.27)

The most general time evolution for the bispectrum is therefore encoded in four independent functions of \mathbf{k} ,

$$-\partial_{\eta}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{I} = \sum_{s_{j}} V_{s_{1}s_{2}s_{3}}(\eta, \mathbf{k}_{j})\partial_{\eta}^{s_{1}}f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}^{*}\partial_{\eta}^{s_{1}}f_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}^{*}\partial_{\eta}^{s_{1}}f_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{*}, \qquad (2.28)$$

where the s_i are either 0 or 1.

Exchange contributions. Now we turn our attention to the term in (2.24) which is quadratic in $\delta\Gamma/\delta\phi$, which we refer to as an *exchange* contribution. The factor of $\Omega^{1-d}/f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^* f_{\mathbf{k}_2}^*$ now plays the role of the "propagator" for the wavefunction coefficients $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^I$. However, this is not always straightforward to integrate — in particular, if $c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^I$ is already quite complicated, then the exchange contribution to (2.16) will be very difficult to integrate. Fortunately, the exchange terms can be simplified by noting that $\Omega^{1-d}/f_{\mathbf{k}}^* f_{\mathbf{k}}^* = i\partial_{\eta} [f_{\mathbf{k}}/f_{\mathbf{k}}^*]$, so for example by shifting the wavefunction coefficient,

$$C_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta) = c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta) + i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta)c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta)|f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta)|^{2}$$
(2.29)

we arrive at a simpler HJ equation,

$$-\partial_{\eta}C^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} = f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}\frac{\delta^{4}\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\dots\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}} - i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6}c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}\frac{f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}}{f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}}\partial_{\eta}c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} + \text{loops} \quad (2.30)$$

in which the exchange contribution to the time evolution is now *linear* (rather than quadratic) in c_3 , since (2.27) can be used to replace $\partial_\eta c^I_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}$ with \mathcal{H} .

This simplification can be achieved in general by subtracting a boundary term from the time integral,

$$\tilde{\Gamma}^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}} = \Gamma^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}} + \frac{i}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\delta \Gamma^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}}}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{\delta \Gamma^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}}}{\delta \phi_{-\mathbf{k}}} \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)}{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}(\eta)}$$
(2.31)

which produces,

$$-\partial_{\eta} \tilde{\Gamma}^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}}[\phi^{I}] = \mathcal{H}^{I}_{\text{int}}[\phi^{I}] - \frac{i}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}}}{f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*}} \partial_{\eta} \left(\frac{\delta \Gamma^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}}}{\delta \phi^{I}_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{\delta \Gamma^{I}_{\eta \text{ int}}}{\delta \phi^{I}_{-\mathbf{k}}} \right) + \text{loops}.$$
(2.32)

In practice, (2.32) is often easier to integrate than (2.24), and its solution can then be used to find $\Gamma_{\eta,\text{int}}$ using (2.31) (which no longer contains any time integrals).

In fact, (2.30) can be simplified even further. Consider for instance a simple $g\phi^3$ interaction in \mathcal{H}_{int} . Then each exchange contribution can be written as,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{I} \frac{f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{*}} \partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{I} = -c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{I} g f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}} f_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{*} f_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*}$$
$$= c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{I} \partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{s}}^{I}$$
(2.33)

where we have defined \mathbf{k}_s such that $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta)$. If we had considered instead the most general cubic interaction in \mathcal{H}_{int} , given in (2.28), we would have found several terms from $\delta^3 \mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}/\delta \phi^3$, which always combine into the combination (2.33). For instance, the next simplest interaction is $V_1 \phi^2 \Pi$, and so replacing Π with $\delta \Gamma/\delta \phi$ leads to a contribution from $\delta^4 \mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}/\delta \phi^4$, which combines with the $c^I_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_s} \partial_\eta c^I_{\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4\mathbf{k}_s}$ term to give,

$$\begin{aligned}
-\partial_{\eta}C^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} &= \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}V_{1}(\mathbf{k}_{3},\mathbf{k}_{4},\mathbf{k}_{s})\frac{f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}}{f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}} \\
&+ i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}V_{1}(\mathbf{k}_{3},\mathbf{k}_{4},\mathbf{k}_{s})\Omega^{d-1}\left(\frac{f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}}{f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}}f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}\partial_{\eta}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}+\partial_{\eta}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}+f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}\partial_{\eta}f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}\right) \\
&= -i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}\partial_{\eta}c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{s}} \tag{2.34}
\end{aligned}$$

where we have made use of the normalisation $f_{\mathbf{k}}\partial_{\eta}f_{\mathbf{k}}^* - f_{\mathbf{k}}^*\partial_{\eta}f_{\mathbf{k}} = i\Omega^{1-d}$. Therefore the quartic wavefunction coefficient can be found from the following relation,

$$-\partial_{\eta}C^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} = -i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}\partial_{\eta}c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{s}} + \prod_{j=1}^{4} f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}(\eta)\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}} \mathcal{H}[\phi, c_{2}\phi]\Big|_{\phi=0}.$$
 (2.35)

The equations of motion, (2.27) and (2.35), describe how the non-Gaussianities in the wavefunction evolve with time in response to a Hamiltonian \mathcal{H} . We will now show that, by manipulating these equations, one can construct constants of motion which are preserved by any unitary dynamics.

2.3 Constants of motion from unitarity

During the final stages of this work, [24] appeared, in which the properties of de Sitter bulk-to-bulk and bulk-to-boundary propagators (under a careful analytic continuation to negative values of $|\mathbf{k}_j|$) are used to establish a "Cosmological Optical Theorem". We believe that our relations (2.27) and (2.35) shed light on this important result.

It will prove useful to define the discontinuity,

$$\operatorname{Disc}\left[c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\ldots\mathbf{k}_{n}}\right] = c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\ldots\mathbf{k}_{4}} - c^{*}_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{1}\ldots\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{4}} \tag{2.36}$$

where $\bar{\mathbf{k}}$ is again the continuation of the momentum which achieves $f_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}} = f_{\mathbf{k}}^*$. This has the advantage that Disc $f_{\mathbf{k}} = 0$ by construction, and similarly Disc $c_2 = 0$. For instance, in a general Gaussian state on pure de Sitter, with $\Omega = 1/(-H\eta)$, the Bunch-Davies mode function is,

$$f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}(\nu-1)}}{2\sqrt{H}}\Omega^{-d/2}H_{\nu}^{(2)}(-k\eta)\,, \qquad (2.37)$$

which has been normalised so that $f_{\mathbf{k}} \partial_{\eta} f_{\mathbf{k}}^* = i\Omega^{1-d}$ and where we have chosen the overall phase¹² so that $\bar{\mathbf{k}}$ corresponds to the replacement $|\bar{\mathbf{k}}| = e^{-i\pi} |\mathbf{k}|^*$, since $H_{\nu}^{(2)}(ze^{-i\pi}) = -e^{i\pi\nu}H_{\nu}^{(2)*}(z^*)$ (for Im(z) < 0). For more general initial states or background spacetimes, $\bar{\mathbf{k}}$ may be more complicated, but one can always keep in mind the simple de Sitter example (2.37).

The discontinuity (2.36) is useful for the following reason. For a pure potential interaction, e.g. $V_{000}\phi^3$, then unitarity requires Im $V_{000} = 0$ and so the imaginary part of c_3 is fixed in terms of its real part *independently* of the interaction (much like (2.10) for c_2),

$$-\partial_{\eta} \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = \operatorname{Im} \left(i \sum_{j} \omega_{k_{j}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} \right) \quad \text{when} \quad \mathcal{H}_{\text{int}} = V_{000} \phi^{3} \,. \tag{2.39}$$

However, taking the imaginary part in this way will not remove interactions like $V_{001}\phi^2\Pi$ from (2.27), since they depend on c_2 and thus Im (c_2V_{001}) can be non-zero even in a unitary theory. It is this subtlety that the Disc in (2.36) is overcoming, since¹³ Disc (c_2V_{001}) = 0. The extension of (2.39), which removes every cubic interaction (2.28) from the equation of motion (2.27), is,

$$-\partial_{\eta} \operatorname{Disc} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = i \sum \omega_{k_{j}} \operatorname{Disc} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} \text{ for any } \mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{int}}.$$
(2.40)

Since factors of $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ commute with the Disc, this can also be written simply as,

$$\partial_{\eta} \operatorname{Disc} c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = 0, \qquad (2.41)$$

¹²Alternatively, one could use the de Sitter invariant mode function,

$$\hat{f}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{i\sqrt{\pi}k^{\nu}}{2\sqrt{H}}\Omega^{-d/2}H_{\nu}^{(2)}(-k\eta)$$
(2.38)

which is annihilated by de Sitter boosts and has weight Δ under dilations.

¹³Recall that a local V_{001} is analytic in the \mathbf{k}_j and therefore does not depend on any $k_j = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}_j \cdot \mathbf{k}_j}$, so $\text{Disc}(c_2 V_{001}) = c_2 \text{Im } V_{001}$ vanishes by unitarity.

and therefore $\operatorname{Disc} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^I$ is a *constant of motion*. In fact, this argument applies to any contact contribution to any c_n coefficient: if exchange and loop contributions are neglected, then $\operatorname{Disc} c_n^I$ is always conserved by a unitary evolution.

For n > 3, the c_n coefficient generically has exchange interactions which also contribute to the Disc. For example, (2.35) can be written as,

$$-\partial_{\eta} \operatorname{Disc} \left[C^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} - i \sum_{\operatorname{perm.}}^{3} c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} c^{I*}_{\mathbf{\bar{k}}_{3}\mathbf{\bar{k}}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} \right] = \prod_{j=1}^{4} f^{*}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}} \left(\mathcal{H}[\phi, c_{2}\phi] - \mathcal{H}^{\dagger}[\phi, c_{2}\phi] \right) \Big|_{\phi=0}$$

$$(2.42)$$

where \mathcal{H}^{\dagger} is the Hermitian conjugate of the Hamiltonian, and we have again used that $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^* = c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}$. A unitary time evolution (Hermitian Hamiltonian), therefore requires that the right-hand side of this equation vanishes, and therefore that this particular discontinuity is also a constant of motion.

In summary, the Hamilton-Jacobi relations (2.27) and (2.35), together with unitarity of the interaction Hamiltonian, establish that at each order in ϕ there is one additional constant of motion, which we shall call β_n . At cubic and quartic order, these are given explicitly by,¹⁴

$$\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^* f_{\mathbf{k}_2}^* f_{\mathbf{k}_3}^*} = c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} - c_{\mathbf{k}_1\bar{\mathbf{k}}_2\bar{\mathbf{k}}_3}^* \tag{2.43}$$

$$\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{*}f_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*}} = c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} - c_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{1}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{2}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{3}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{4}}^{*} + i\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} |f_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}|^{2} \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} - c_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{1}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{*}\right) \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} - c_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{3}\bar{\mathbf{k}}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{*}\right)$$

since our equations of motion (2.41) and (2.42) set $\partial_{\eta}\beta_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = 0$ and $\partial_{\eta}\beta_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4} = 0$ for any hermitian Hamiltonian. This is somewhat analogous to classical mechanics, in which the Hamilton-Jacobi approach identifies a pair of constants (corresponding to the initial position and initial velocity) for each degree of freedom. Once the boundary value for the wavefunction $\Psi[\phi]$ has been specified, (2.43) allows the constant β_n to be calculated immediately (without the need for any time integration) — they are a property of the initial state. In [24], a Bunch-Davies vacuum state was assumed in the past — setting $\alpha_n^{\rm in} = 0$ in this way for the initial state then sets $\beta_n = 0$ for all time. Now we see that in fact any initial state in which $\beta_n = 0$ will have $\beta_n = 0$ for all time, and more generally that an arbitrary initial condition (specified at an arbitrary time in the bulk or on the boundary) will likewise have a conserved (in general non-zero) set of β_n .

3 de Sitter isometries

While the preceding formalism may be applied to a scalar field on any conformally flat spacetime, we will now focus on the particular case of a (at least quasi-)de Sitter background. This means that, providing the state is initially de Sitter invariant, time evolution

¹⁴Note that on Minkowski or de Sitter with (2.37), if $c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = c_3(k_1, k_2, k_3)$ is written in terms of the magnitudes of \mathbf{k}_j only (which can always be done without loss of generality using $\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 = 0$), then $c_{\mathbf{\bar{k}}_1\mathbf{\bar{k}}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = c_3(-k_1, -k_2, k_3)$ is the same function with the signs of $|\mathbf{k}_1|$ and $|\mathbf{k}_2|$ reversed.

will produce a state at later times which is also de Sitter invariant. This provides powerful constraints on the wavefunction and its evolution, which we now describe.

We will work in the expanding Poincare patch, $ds^2 = \frac{1}{H^2\eta^2}(-d\eta^2 + d\mathbf{x}^2)$, which is most relevant for cosmology. Here, the Hubble constant H is the inverse of the de Sitter radius and the conformal time η runs from $-\infty$ in the past to 0 in the asymptotic future. First we will briefly review the generators of the de Sitter isometries and their associated Noether charges in 3.1, then their simple action on equal-time correlation functions in 3.2, and finally how they can be implemented directly on wavefunction coefficients in 3.3. While the action of these generators is well-known near the conformal boundary at $\eta \to 0$ (where they reduce to the *d*-dimensional conformal group), the way that they constrain the correlators and wavefunction in the bulk is less widely appreciated. Our aim is to describe these constraints in a similar fashion to our Hamilton-Jacobi equations from section 2, providing a further set of differential equations which can be used to determine properties of the c_n coefficients.

3.1 Symmetry generators

In addition to spatial translations/rotations and dilations,

$$\eta \to \alpha \eta , \qquad \mathbf{x} \to \alpha \, \mathbf{x} , \tag{3.1}$$

de Sitter spacetime has an additional d "boost" isometries,

$$\eta \to \gamma \eta, \qquad \mathbf{x} \to \gamma \left(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{b} \cdot (\eta^2 - |\mathbf{x}|^2) \right)$$
where $\gamma = \left(1 - 2\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{x} - |\mathbf{b}|^2 (\eta^2 - |\mathbf{x}|^2) \right)^{-1},$
(3.2)

parametrised here by the constant (*d*-dimensional) vector **b**. The infinitesimal versions of (3.1) and (3.2) are generated by,¹⁵

$$D = -\eta \partial_{\eta} - \mathbf{x} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}} \tag{3.4}$$

$$\mathbf{K} = -2\mathbf{x}D + (\eta^2 - \mathbf{x}^2)\partial_{\mathbf{x}}.$$
(3.5)

Transforming the generators (3.4) and (3.5) to momentum space is straightforward (see, for instance, [34]), and amounts to replacing $\vec{x} \to -i\partial_{\vec{k}}$ and $\partial_{\vec{x}} \to -i\vec{k}$ (taking suitable care with products like $\mathbf{x} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}$),¹⁶

$$D = d - \eta \partial_{\eta} + \mathbf{k} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}} \tag{3.7}$$

$$\mathbf{K} = 2D\partial_{\mathbf{k}} - \mathbf{k} \left(\eta^2 + \partial_{\mathbf{k}}^2\right).$$
(3.8)

$$D = -x^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \quad \text{and} \quad K_i = 2x_i x^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} - x^2 \partial_i \tag{3.3}$$

 16 Note that, when acting on a function of $|{\bf k}|$ only, the boost generator simplifies to,

$$\mathbf{K} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{k} \left[2(d-1-\eta\partial_{\eta})\partial_{k} - k\left(\eta^{2}+\partial_{k}^{2}\right) \right] \,. \tag{3.6}$$

¹⁵Note that writing $x^{\mu} = (\eta, \mathbf{x})$, with the understanding that Greek indices are raised/lowered with $\eta_{\mu\nu}$, these generators

can be thought of as the usual time translations and boosts of Minkowski space with the time direction replaced by $t \to x^{\mu} x_{\mu}$.

Noether currents. Invariance of the scalar field action $S[\phi] = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L}$ under these symmetries gives rise to conserved Noether currents,¹⁷

$$J_D^0 = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \partial_\eta \phi} \hat{D}[\phi] + \eta \mathcal{L}, \qquad \qquad J_D^i = -\frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \partial_i \phi} \hat{D}[\phi] + \mathbf{x}^i \mathcal{L}$$
(3.9)

$$J_{K_i}^0 = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \partial_\eta \phi} \hat{K}_i[\phi] - 2\mathbf{x}_i \eta \mathcal{L}, \qquad J_{K_i}^j = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \partial_j \phi} \hat{K}_i[\phi] - \left(\delta_i^j(\eta^2 - \mathbf{x}^2) + 2\mathbf{x}_i \mathbf{x}^j\right) \mathcal{L}$$
(3.10)

Once promoted to operators (and normally ordered appropriately), these can be used to implement (3.4) and (3.5) directly on the wavefunction. For instance, dilations in the quantum theory are implemented by,

$$\hat{Q}_D = : \int_{\mathbf{x}} \left(-\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{x}} \, \mathbf{x} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}} \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{x}} - \eta \, \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathbf{x}} \right) : \tag{3.11}$$

and similarly for de Sitter boosts,

$$\hat{Q}_{K_i} = : \int_{\mathbf{x}} \left(\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{x}} \left(2\mathbf{x}_i \, \mathbf{x} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}} + (\eta^2 - \mathbf{x}^2) \partial_{\mathbf{x}_i} \right) \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{x}} + 2\mathbf{x}_i \eta \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathbf{x}} \right) :$$
(3.12)

where we have defined the Hamiltonian density, $\int d^d \mathbf{x} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathcal{H}$, and used : $\hat{\mathcal{O}}$: to highlight the normal ordering.

3.2 Equal-time correlators

Equal-time correlators in approximately Gaussian states can be computed either by using (2.7) to express $\hat{\phi}$ and $\hat{\Pi}$ in terms of \hat{A} and \hat{A}^{\dagger} as in usual canonical quantisation, or equivalently by inserting a functional integral over a complete set of field eigenstates,¹⁸

$$\langle \Psi_{\eta} | \mathcal{O}[\hat{\phi}, \hat{\Pi}] | \Psi_{\eta} \rangle = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \ \Psi_{\eta}^{*}[\phi] \mathcal{O}\left[\phi, \frac{1}{i}\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi}\right] \Psi_{\eta}[\phi].$$
(3.13)

Note that this is not an integral over paths — the ϕ here is a function of spatial momentum only — but rather an average over all possible field realisations on a fixed hypersurface, weighted by how likely each is given that the system is in the state $\Psi_{\eta}[\eta]$.

Field correlators. For instance, to leading order in the non-Gaussianity (i.e. assuming weak coupling), the first few equal-time correlators of the scalar field $\hat{\phi}$ are,

$$\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}} \phi_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle' = |f_k|^2 \tag{3.14}$$

$$\frac{\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_2} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle'}{|f_{k_1}|^2 |f_{k_2}|^2 |f_{k_3}|^2} = i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} - c^*_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} \right) \,. \tag{3.15}$$

$$\frac{\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}\rangle'}{|f_{k_{1}}|^{2}|f_{k_{2}}|^{2}|f_{k_{3}}|^{2}|f_{k_{4}}|^{2}} = i\left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} - c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*}\right) - |f_{k_{s}}|^{2}2i\mathrm{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}2i\mathrm{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} \\ - |f_{k_{t}}|^{2}2i\mathrm{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{k}_{t}}2i\mathrm{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{t}} - |f_{k_{u}}|^{2}2i\mathrm{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{4}-\mathbf{k}_{u}}2i\mathrm{Im}\,c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{u}}.$$

$$(3.16)$$

where $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle'$ is $\langle \Psi_{\eta} | \hat{\mathcal{O}} | \Psi_{\eta} \rangle$ with the overall momentum-conserving δ -function removed. Note that the phase of the wavefunction (the Re $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}$) does not affect these observables any observable $\mathcal{O}[\phi]$ which depends only on ϕ is sensitive only to the magnitude $|\Psi_{\eta}|^2$.

¹⁷These may be recognised as the components of the Noether stress-energy and angular momentum tensors (associated to translations and boosts) from Minkowski space, with time replaced by $x_{\mu}x^{\mu}$.

¹⁸Note that this equation is implicitly normalised with a factor of $\langle \Psi_{\eta} | \Psi_{\eta} \rangle = \int \mathcal{D} \phi | \Psi_{\eta} |^2$.

Momentum correlators. While the phase of the wavefunction does not contribute to correlators of $\hat{\phi}$, it does contribute to their time derivatives (much like the rate of change of the phase determines the velocity for non-relativistic particles). In the Schrödinger picture, although $\hat{\phi}$ is not explicitly time dependent, one can form correlators of the canonical momentum $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}$ — for instance the quadratic correlators are,

$$\langle \Pi_{\mathbf{k}} \phi_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle' = \frac{i}{2} + |f_k|^2 \operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}, \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\langle \Pi_{\mathbf{k}} \Pi_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle' = \frac{1}{4|f_k|^2} + |f_k|^2 \left(\operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}} \right)^2 ,$$
 (3.18)

and depend on $\operatorname{Re} c_2$. Similarly, cubic correlators containing $\Pi_{\mathbf{k}}$ now depend on $\operatorname{Re} c_3$,

$$\frac{\langle \Pi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_2} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle'}{|f_{k_1}|^2 |f_{k_2}|^2 |f_{k_3}|^2} = i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} c^*_{\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_1} - c^*_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_1} \right) , \qquad (3.19)$$

and so on.

However, recall that Re c_2 is due to the damping of the mode functions $\partial_{\eta} |f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)|$. This results in an additional contribution to the canonical momentum, as can be seen from (2.8). For example, if $|\Psi_{\eta}\rangle$ was the time evolution of a vacuum state, then the momentum variance in this state would be larger than naively expected from the Heisenberg uncertainty relation, $\Delta\phi\Delta\Pi = \hbar/2$. Due to Re c_2 , the vacuum is effectively squeezed by the time evolution, and this unnecessarily complicates the equal-time correlation functions of $\hat{\Pi}$.

Removing the damping. Fortunately, this damping can be removed from $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$ by performing the (time-dependent) unitary transformation,

$$\hat{B}(\eta) = \exp\left(-i \int_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2} \frac{\operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)}{2} \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}_1} \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}_2}\right)$$
(3.20)

which explicitly shifts the momentum,

$$\tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) := \hat{B}^{\dagger}(\eta)\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}\hat{B}(\eta) = \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}} - \operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}, \qquad (3.21)$$

for which the quadratic correlators are now $\langle \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}} \rangle = i/2$ and $\Delta \phi \Delta \tilde{\Pi} = \hbar/2$, saturating the Heisenberg uncertainty bound. Once the damping has been removed by (3.21), the cubic correlators are now simply,

$$\frac{\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_2} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle'}{|f_{k_1}|^2 |f_{k_2}|^2 |f_{k_3}|^2} = i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} - c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^* \right) , \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\left(\frac{2}{i}\right)\frac{\langle \Pi_{\mathbf{k}_1}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_2}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_3}\rangle'}{|f_{k_2}|^2|f_{k_3}|^2} = -i\left(c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} + c^*_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}\right), \qquad (3.23)$$

$$\left(\frac{2}{i}\right)^2 \frac{\langle \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_1} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_2} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle'}{|f_{k_3}|^2} = i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} - c^*_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} \right)$$
(3.24)

$$\left(\frac{2}{i}\right)^{3} \langle \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}} \rangle' = -i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} + c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{*} \right) , \qquad (3.25)$$

and are determined solely by $\operatorname{Re} c_3$ or $\operatorname{Im} c_3$, depending on whether there is an even or odd number of momenta in the correlator.¹⁹ The quartic correlators follow the same pattern, and are all related to (3.16) (up to an overall normalisation) by substituting $\operatorname{Im} c_n$ for $\operatorname{Re} c_n$ when an odd number of the momenta are carried by Π 's. For the sake of concreteness, they are given explicitly by,

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\frac{2}{i}
\end{pmatrix} \frac{\langle \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}\rangle'}{|f_{k_{2}}|^{2}|f_{k_{3}}|^{2}|f_{k_{4}}|^{2}} = -i\left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} + c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*}\right) - |f_{k_{s}}|^{2}2\operatorname{Re}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}}2i\operatorname{Im}c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} \\
-|f_{k_{t}}|^{2}2\operatorname{Re}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{k}_{t}}2i\operatorname{Im}c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{t}} - |f_{k_{u}}|^{2}2\operatorname{Re}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{4}-\mathbf{k}_{u}}2i\operatorname{Im}c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{u}} \\
(3.26)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{i} \end{pmatrix}^{2} \frac{\langle \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{3}} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}} \rangle'}{|f_{k_{3}}|^{2} |f_{k_{4}}|^{2}} = i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} - c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*} \right) - |f_{k_{s}}|^{2} 2 \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} - |f_{k_{t}}|^{2} 2 \operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{k}_{t}} 2 \operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{t}} - |f_{k_{u}}|^{2} 2 \operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{4}-\mathbf{k}_{u}} 2 \operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{u}}$$

$$(3.27)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2\\i \end{pmatrix}^{3} \frac{\langle \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{4}} \rangle'}{|f_{k_{4}}|^{2}} = -i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} + c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*} \right) - |f_{k_{s}}|^{2} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} 2\operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} - |f_{k_{t}}|^{2} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{k}_{t}} 2\operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{t}} - |f_{k_{u}}|^{2} 2\operatorname{Re} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{4}-\mathbf{k}_{u}} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{u}} (3.28)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{i} \end{pmatrix}^{4} \langle \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{3}} \tilde{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}} \rangle' = i \left(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} - c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{*} \right) - |f_{k_{s}}|^{2} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} - |f_{k_{t}}|^{2} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{k}_{t}} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{t}} - |f_{k_{u}}|^{2} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{4}-\mathbf{k}_{u}} 2i \operatorname{Im} c_{\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{u}} (3.29)$$

To summarise, once the Hamilton-Jacobi equation of section 2.1 has been solved for (both the real and imaginary parts of) the wavefunction coefficients c_n , they can be translated straightforwardly into the equal-time correlation functions of ϕ and $\tilde{\Pi}$.

de Sitter invariance. Equal-time correlators are generally not manifestly invariant under spacetime isometries, because the restriction of a correlation like $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta_n) \rangle$ to "equal times" is not a frame-independent procedure — different observers will construct different equal-time correlators. However, the underlying dynamics is still invariant under the isometries, and this should leave some imprint on the equal-time correlators.

To find this constraint, first consider the unequal-time in-in correlator in the Heisenberg picture, $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta_n) \rangle$. Such an object is invariant under the isometries providing that,

$$\sum_{J} D_{J}[\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta_{1}) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta_{n}) \rangle] = 0$$
(3.30)

$$\sum_{J} \mathbf{K}_{J}[\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta_{1}) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta_{n}) \rangle] = 0, \qquad (3.31)$$

¹⁹In an approximately Gaussian state, because there is always a linear combination of ϕ and Π for which $\hat{A}|\Psi\rangle = 0$, there are only two independent cubic correlators (namely AAA^{\dagger} and $AA^{\dagger}A^{\dagger}$) — this is consistent with the wavefunction carrying only two independent functions at this order, Rec₃ and Imc₃. At quartic order, there are two new independent functions in the wavefunction, Rec₄ and Imc₄, consistent with inserting either an additional A or an additional A^{\dagger} into the correlator.

where D_J and \mathbf{K}_J are given by (3.7) and (3.8) with (η, \mathbf{k}) replaced by (η_J, \mathbf{k}_J) . Once the overall momentum-conserving δ -function has been removed, this requires that,

$$0 = \left[(n-1)d + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(-\eta_{j}\partial_{\eta_{j}} + \mathbf{k}_{j} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} \right) \right] \left\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta_{1}) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta_{n}) \right\rangle'$$

$$0 = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[2(d - \eta_{j}\partial_{\eta_{j}} + \mathbf{k}_{j} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}) \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} - \mathbf{k}_{j} \left(\partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}^{2} + \eta_{j}^{2} \right) \right] \left\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta_{1}) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta_{n}) \right\rangle', \qquad (3.32)$$

which differ from (3.30) and (3.31) only by the scaling weight (-d) of the δ -function.²⁰ Analogous relations hold with any number of $\hat{\phi}$'s replaced with $\hat{\Pi}$.

Now, since the equal-time limit of $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta_n) \rangle$ is nothing but the $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle(\eta)$ given above in the Schrödinger picture, the equal-time limit of (3.32) provides the constraint corresponding to bulk de Sitter invariance. Since de Sitter boosts involve $\sum_J \eta_J \partial_{\eta_J} \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J}$, the equal-time limit must be taken with care (as this cannot be extracted from $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle$ alone) — each $\partial_\eta \phi$ in (3.32) must first be replaced with the canonical momentum Π before taking the equal-time limit. This results in the "equal-time" version of the de Sitter isometries,

$$\left((n-1)d - \eta\partial_{\eta} + \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}\right) \langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \rangle' = 0$$
(3.33)

$$\sum_{J} \left(2 \left(d + \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \right) \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} - \mathbf{k}_{J} \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}^{2} \right) \left\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \right\rangle' = \frac{2\eta}{\Omega^{d-1}} \sum_{J} \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \left\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \Pi_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \right\rangle',$$

where we have assumed weak coupling so that $\Pi = \Omega^{d-1}\partial_{\eta}\phi + \mathcal{O}(g)$ in the Heisenberg picture.

We note for later convenience that when $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta_n) \rangle'$ depends only on the magnitude of the vectors, $k_J = |\mathbf{k}_J|$ (which is the case for the two-point and three-point correlators, and also all ϕ^n contact contributions), then (3.32) can be written more simply as,

$$0 = (K_I - K_J) \langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta_n) \rangle'$$
where $K_J = \frac{1}{k_J} (d + 1 - 2D_J) \partial_{k_J} + \partial_{k_J}^2 + \eta_J^2.$
(3.34)

for any pair (I, J) of fields. The equal time limit of (3.34) (again taking care to replace $\partial_{\eta}\phi$ with Π) results in a constraint on $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle(\eta)$ which is often easier to implement than (3.33).

Given a set of equal-time correlators, (3.33) may be used to check whether they were produced by a de Sitter invariant state. Now, while these correlators can be written in terms of the c_n , we will see later in explicit examples that (3.33) applied to just one correlator $(\text{say } \langle \phi^n \rangle)$ is actually not sufficient to guarantee that the whole state is de Sitter invariant, and it can be cumbersome to apply (3.33) to every correlator of both ϕ and Π . Ideally, we would instead have a simple constraint written directly in terms of the c_n coefficients.

²⁰Note that for **K**, we have dropped the $\eta^2 \mathbf{k}$ term (which vanishes through momentum conservation), and used the fact that the action of the ∂_k derivatives on the δ function also vanishes by dilation and rotation invariance (as described in appendix D of [34]).

While the wavefunction coefficients can themselves be written as an equal-time correlator,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\dots\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) \propto \langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0 | \Pi_{\mathbf{k}_1}\dots\Pi_{\mathbf{k}_n} | \Psi \rangle(\eta)$$
(3.35)

involving a field eigenstate (defined such that $\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} | \phi_{\mathbf{k}} = g_{\mathbf{k}} \rangle = g_{\mathbf{k}} | \phi_{\mathbf{k}} = g_{\mathbf{k}} \rangle$ for all \mathbf{k}), since the different $\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}_J}$ only commute at equal times it does not seem possible to construct this state using the equal-time limit of some unequal-time correlator, as we did above for $\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle \langle \eta \rangle$. In fact, we will now use the Noether charges constructed in section 3.1 in order to implement dilations and boosts directly on $|\Psi_{\eta}\rangle$.

3.3 Wavefunction coefficients

Dilation constraints. A dilation acts on the wavefunction as $\hat{Q}_D |\Psi\rangle$, where the charge \hat{Q}_D is defined in (3.11). Transforming to momentum space, this symmetry generator shifts the wavefunction phase by,

$$\delta_D \Gamma_\eta = -\eta \partial_\eta \Gamma_\eta + \int_{\mathbf{p}} \phi_{-\mathbf{p}} \, \mathbf{p} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{p}} \, \frac{\delta \Gamma_\eta}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{p}}} \,. \tag{3.36}$$

Written in terms of the $c_n(\eta)$ coefficients (taking care to also account for the $\partial_{\mathbf{p}}$ acting on the overall momentum conserving δ -function),

$$\delta_D c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) = \left(-d - \eta \partial_\eta + \sum_J \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J}\right) c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta).$$
(3.37)

Note that, crucially, this differs from the way that dilations are implemented on correlators (3.33) by the replacement $d - \eta \partial_{\eta} \rightarrow -\eta \partial_{\eta}$. This will be important when we study the conformal boundary at $\eta \rightarrow 0$, where $\eta \partial_{\eta}$ acting on a ϕ correlator will give the scaling dimension Δ , while $\eta \partial_{\eta}$ acting on a c_n coefficient will give the shadow weight $d - \Delta$.

Note that although $\sum_J D_J$ contains derivatives with respect to unequal times, since $\sum \partial_{\eta_J} f(\eta_1, \eta_2, \dots, \eta_n) = \partial_{\eta} f(\eta, \eta, \dots, \eta)$ it is possible to write the dilation constraint simply in terms of $\partial_{\eta} c_n(\eta)$. This can even be combined with (2.16), the equation of motion for $\partial_{\eta} \Gamma_{\eta}$, and written directly in terms of wavefunction coefficients,

$$\delta_D c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) = \left[-d + \sum_J \left(\frac{\eta c_{\mathbf{k}_J - \mathbf{k}_J}(\eta)}{\Omega^{d-1}} + \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \right) \right] c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n} + \eta \frac{\delta^n \mathcal{H}_{\text{int}}}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}}$$
(3.38)

plus exchange contributions.

Boost constraints. A boost acts on the wavefunction as $\hat{Q}_{\mathbf{K}}|\Psi\rangle$, where $\hat{Q}_{\mathbf{K}}$ is defined in (3.12). Transforming to momentum space, this symmetry generator shifts the wavefunction phase by,

$$\delta_{\mathbf{K}}\Gamma_{\eta} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \left[\frac{\eta}{\Omega^{d-1}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}}{\delta\phi_{-\mathbf{p}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\mathbf{p}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{p}}} + \phi_{-\mathbf{p}} \left(2\mathbf{p} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\mathbf{p}} - \mathbf{p}\partial_{\mathbf{p}}^{2} \right) \frac{\delta\Gamma_{\eta}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{p}}} \right] + 2\eta \partial_{\mathbf{q}} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathrm{int}}|_{\mathbf{q}=0} \quad (3.39)$$

plus terms quadratic in ϕ (which do not affect the wavefunction coefficients c_n with n > 2). We have used the Fourier transform of the Hamiltonian density, $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}} = \int d^d \mathbf{x} \, e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \, \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}}$, to express $\mathbf{x} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}}$ as $\partial_{\mathbf{q}} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}}|_{\mathbf{q}=0}$. Unlike the dilation constraint, which resembles the dilation operator with $\sum \partial_{\eta_J}$ replaced by ∂_{η} , it is not possible to write the boost constraint simply in terms of $\partial_{\eta} \Gamma$, since $\sum_J \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \partial_{\eta_J}$ acting on an unequal-time object cannot be replaced by a single ∂_{η} acting on an equal-time object. In terms of wavefunction coefficients,²¹

$$\delta_{\mathbf{K}} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) = \sum_{J=1}^n \left[2 \left(\frac{\eta \, c_{\mathbf{k}_J - \mathbf{k}_J}(\eta)}{\Omega^{d-1}} + \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_J} - \mathbf{k}_J \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J}^2 \right] c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) \tag{3.41}$$

plus exchange and interaction terms.

 α vacua. Armed with these de Sitter isometries, it is now straightforward to determine which states are de Sitter invariant. For instance, consider the Gaussian states described in section 2.1. On a de Sitter background, we can solve (2.9) for c_2 ,

$$c_{\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = -\Omega^d H\left(\Delta - k\eta \frac{(H^{(2)} + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}} H^{(1)})_{\nu-1}(-k\eta)}{(H^{(2)} + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}} H^{(1)})_{\nu}(-k\eta)}\right)$$
(3.42)

with $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}$ a constant function of \mathbf{k} , and $\nu = \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} - \frac{m^2}{H^2}}$ is the order of the Hankel functions. The associated mode function (2.13) is,

$$f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = N(k)\Omega^{-d/2} \left(H_{\nu}^{(1)}(-k\eta) + \left(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} \right)^* H_{\nu}^{(2)}(-k\eta) \right) , \qquad (3.43)$$

where the overall normalisation N(k) does not affect any observable.²²

Specifying an initial value of c_2 fixes $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}$, which could in principle be an arbitrarily complicated function of \mathbf{k} . However, if the initial state is to respect the de Sitter isometries, this uniquely fixes $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}$ up to a constant. For example, in the asymptotic past, $\eta \to -\infty$, invariance under dilations requires that $\partial_k \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}} = 0$ (independently of $\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{int}}$, which becomes unimportant in this limit). Since rotational invariance restricts $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}$ to be a function of k only, this shows that the only Gaussian states which are de Sitter invariant can be parametrised by a single complex constant, α^{in} . These states correspond to the well-known α -vacua, originally derived in [42] from studying properties of two-point Green's functions.

Anomalies. For particular values of the scalar field mass, the interactions can persist until late times and lead to divergences in the wavefunction coefficients. This requires renormalisation, and in particular the renormalisation of the boundary term in Noether's theorem leads to additional (anomalous) contributions to the above Ward identities as

$$\delta_{\mathbf{K}} c_{k_1 \dots k_n}(\eta) = \sum_{J=1}^n \frac{\mathbf{k}_J}{k_J} \left[2 \left(\frac{\eta c_{\mathbf{k}_J - \mathbf{k}_J}}{\Omega^{d-1}} - 1 \right) \partial_{k_J} + k_J \partial_{k_J}^2 \right] c_{k_1 \dots k_n}(\eta)$$
(3.40)

plus exchange and interaction terms.

 $^{^{21}}Note$ that if the coefficient is a function of the $|{\bf k}_J|$ only, then this simplifies to,

²²By this we mean that the physical wavefunction coefficients, c_n , only ever depend on ratios of mode functions, $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_2)/f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta_1)$, and their derivatives. Of course, when writing expressions like (3.14)–(3.16) in section 3.2, we have assumed that $f_{\mathbf{k}}$ is normalized as in (2.12) in order to simplify expressions. Unless stated otherwise, we will always choose N(k) such that the commutation relations are canonically normalised (2.12), and such that $|\mathbf{\bar{k}}| = -|\mathbf{k}|$ when $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} = 0$, as in (2.37).

 $\eta \to 0$. Unlike on Minkowski spacetime, where the only such divergences arise from loops (from the momentum $p \to \infty$ limit, in which the theory breaks down), on de Sitter spacetime these divergences can arise at tree level (from the late time $\eta \to 0$ limit, in which the volume element diverges). We will discuss this subtlety further in the next section, where we study the behaviour of the bulk coefficients $c_n(\eta)$ in the limit $\eta \to 0$.

4 Locality and analyticity on superhorizon scales

We will begin this section by describing how the de Sitter isometry conditions in the bulk (given in section 3) become conformal Ward identities near the boundary — this is the essence of the recent Cosmological Bootstrap program [30-33] (see also [25-29]).

Then in section 4.2, we discuss how the bulk wavefunction coefficients may be expressed as a power series in η near the boundary at $\eta = 0$, assuming some generic value of the scalar field mass. We refer to the coefficients in this series as "transfer functions", since they are the objects which propagate the boundary data into the bulk spacetime. For local interactions, these transfer functions are analytic in the momenta of the fields outside the horizon (i.e. for every $|k\eta| < 1$), and only once $|k\eta|$ exceeds one do they develop non-analyticities (such as a $1/k_T$ pole in the total energy). This can be summarised by saying that, once a boundary value $c_n(\eta \to 0) = \alpha_n$ is specified for the state $\Psi_{\eta\to 0}[\phi]$, the resulting bulk wavefunction coefficients $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$ have non-analyticities in momenta due to the following three sources,²³

- (a) From non-analyticities in the boundary value of the wavefunction this can be interpreted as non-localities in the initial state (for instance, imposing the Bunch-Davies initial condition in the far past produces non-analytic α_n at late times),
- (b) From non-analyticities in the interaction Hamiltonian this would be due to the presence of non-local interactions,
- (c) From the resummation which takes place in the transfer function once $|k\eta| \sim 1$ for a particular mode this can be interpreted as the field beginning to oscillate.

We will also find that in particular cases (in which ν is rational) this series solution becomes ill-defined, and this signals the presence of divergences which must be renormalised. This is discussed systematically in section 4.3, first by renormalising the boundary condition for $\Psi_{\eta\to 0}[\phi]$ (analogous to the usual renormalisation of the boundary value for $\phi(\eta \to 0)$ in holography), and then from the viewpoint of boundary operator mixing (analogous to the usual renormalisation of composite operators in flat space QFT).

Throughout this section, we will allow for the *n* fields which multiply $c_n(\eta)$ to have different masses (conformal weights), since this both achieves a greater level of generality (the results apply to any number of distinct scalar fields) and also makes the origin of various terms clear notationally.

 $^{^{23}}$ At tree level, this seems to exhaust all possible sources of non-analyticity. Further non-analyticities can develop once loop corrections are included.

4.1 The conformal boundary

Near the $\eta \to 0$ boundary of the expanding Poincare patch, the de Sitter isometries (3.4) and (3.5) become conformal symmetries,

$$D_j \rightarrow d - \Delta_j + \mathbf{k_j} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k_j}}$$
 (Dil.) (4.1)

$$\mathbf{K}_{j} \rightarrow 2(d - \Delta_{j} + \mathbf{k}_{j} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}})\partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} - \mathbf{k}_{j}\partial_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}^{2} \qquad (SCT) \qquad (4.2)$$

namely dilations and special conformal transformations²⁴ (SCT). These symmetries provide a set of Ward identities on the wavefunction coefficients which uniquely determine the two- and three-point function (up to constant coefficients), and which can be used to bootstrap four (and higher) point functions. We will now show how our bulk constraints on the $c_n(\eta)$ from de Sitter dilations (3.38) and de Sitter boosts (3.41) are related to these conformal Ward identities.

Free evolution. First, let us ignore the effect of the bulk interactions and consider the free evolution given by (2.4). Given an initial condition for the wavefunction at any time, the resulting wavefunction coefficients are $c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) \propto \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{\mathrm{in}}/f_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta) \dots f_{\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$. The operators $\delta_D c_n$ and $\delta_{\mathbf{K}} c_n$ defined in (3.38) and (3.41) have the interesting property,

$$k_{1}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta)\dots k_{n}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta)\delta_{D}\left[\frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\mathrm{in}}}{k_{1}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta)\dots k_{1}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta)}\right] = \left[-d + \sum_{J}\left(\Delta_{J} + \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}\right)\right]\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\mathrm{in}}$$
(4.4)

$$k_{1}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta)\dots k_{n}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta)\delta_{\mathbf{K}}\left[\frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\mathrm{m}}}{k_{1}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta)\dots k_{n}^{\nu}f_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta)}\right] = \sum_{J}\left[2\left(\Delta_{J}+\mathbf{k}_{J}\cdot\partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial\mathbf{k}_{J}}-\mathbf{k}_{J}\partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}^{2}\right]\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\mathrm{m}}$$

$$(4.5)$$

since the mode functions are themselves eigenstates of D and \mathbf{K} . While δ_D and $\delta_{\mathbf{K}}$ are explicitly η -dependent, they reduce to the conformal constraints from dilations and SCT when acting on α_n^{in} , which has the conformal weight of a correlator of primary operators²⁵ each of weight $d - \Delta_j$. This shows that de Sitter invariance of $c_n(\eta)$ in the bulk is equivalent to conformal invariance of the initial condition α_n^{in} , regardless of the timeslice on which α_n^{in} is specified (it need not be the boundary condition at $\eta = 0$).

Once interactions are included, this need no longer be the case, since $c_n(\eta)$ is now generally a more complicated function of time and the operators δ_D and $\delta_{\mathbf{K}}$ acquire additional terms in \mathcal{H}_{int} . However, in the limit $\eta \to 0$, providing the interactions turn off sufficiently fast, one recovers the conclusion that $c_n(\eta \to 0)$ is de Sitter invariant only if the boundary value α_n (now supplied strictly at $\eta = 0$) is conformal.

$$\mathbf{K} \rightarrow \frac{\mathbf{k}_j}{k_j} \left[2(d-1-\Delta_j)\partial_{k_j} + k_j \partial_{k_j}^2 \right] \,. \tag{4.3}$$

 $^{^{24}}$ When acting on a function which depends on the $|{\bf k}|$ only, the action of SCT simplifies to,

²⁵Recall that an overall momentum-conserving δ -function has been removed from $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}$, so (4.4) really does correspond to $\sum_j D_j$ with $d - \Delta_j$ in place of Δ_j .

Boundary coefficients. Near the conformal boundary, we have the following scaling with time,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\dots\mathbf{k}_n} \sim \frac{1}{\eta \sum_J \Delta_J}$$
 and $\eta c_{\mathbf{k}_J - \mathbf{k}_J} = \frac{\Delta_J}{(-H\eta)^{d-1}} + \dots$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}} \sim \sqrt{-g} = \frac{1}{(-H\eta)^{d+1}}$,
(4.6)

where we write the momentum (and conformal weight) of each of the *n* fields multiplying c_n as \mathbf{k}_1 (and Δ_1), \mathbf{k}_2 (and Δ_2)..., \mathbf{k}_n (and Δ_n). Providing $\sum_J \Delta_J > d$, the interactions become subdominant as $\eta \to 0$. Consequently, the bulk dilation constraint (3.38) and bulk boost constraint (3.41) become at late times,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \delta_D c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) = \left[-d + \sum_J \left(\Delta_J + \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \right) \right] c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta = 0) , \qquad (4.7)$$

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \delta_K c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta) = \sum_J \left[2 \left(\Delta_J + \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \right) \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} - \mathbf{k}_J \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J}^2 \right] c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n}(\eta = 0) , \qquad (4.8)$$

and coincide with the action of dilations and SCT in a *d*-dimensional CFT correlator (of operators with scaling dimension $d - \Delta_J$).

Given (4.6), the limit $\lim_{\eta\to 0} c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}(\eta)$ is not regular. Instead, we will define the boundary value of the wavefunction coefficient via,²⁶

$$\alpha_n = \lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[(-\eta)^{\sum_J \Delta_J} c_n(\eta) \right]$$
(4.9)

The coefficients $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}$ must then obey the conformal Ward identities (4.7) and (4.8), which can be used to determine which boundary conditions for the wavefunction respect the spacetime isometries.

Although (4.7) and (4.8) are themselves well-known, to the best of our knowledge the bulk analogues (3.38) and (3.41) are novel — the fact that (3.38) and (3.41) reduce to the expected conformal Ward identities as $\eta \to 0$ is an important sanity check.

Anomalous Ward identities. Before moving on to discuss the late-time limit of the c_n coefficients in more detail, we must highlight an important caveat to the conformal constraints (4.7) and (4.8). In section 4.2, we will encounter divergences in the late-time limit of the wavefunction coefficients — these divergences can be renormalised via a (formally singular) redefinition of the boundary condition for the $\Psi_{\eta=0}$ (the α_n in (4.9)), as we will describe in section 4.3. This can be viewed as a Boundary Operator Expansion (BOE), in which the bulk operators $\hat{\phi}$ and $\hat{\Pi}$ are rewritten in terms of boundary operators $\hat{\varphi}$ and $\hat{\pi}$ — the coefficients of this expansion depend on both a small regulator (e.g. $\delta = d-3$ in dimensional regularisation, or a hard cutoff at time η_{δ}) and an RG scale μ , introduced for dimensional consistency. The renormalisation thus introduces anomalous terms into the conformal Ward identities, through this new scale μ .

²⁶The scaling (4.9) will also emerge naturally in section 4.3 when we express the bulk operator $\hat{\phi}$ in terms of the boundary operator $\hat{\varphi}$. Since $\lim_{\eta\to 0} (\hat{\phi}/(-\eta)^{\Delta}) = \hat{\varphi}$, the α_n are naturally the wavefunction coefficients of $\Psi_{\eta=0}[\varphi]$.

This is best illustrated with a simple example. Consider the cubic wavefunction coefficient of conformally coupled scalars (which we discuss in more detail in section 5). Setting $\alpha_2^{\text{in}} = 0$ and $\alpha_3^{\text{in}} = 0$ in the past (i.e. Bunch-Davies initial condition) produces a boundary coefficient,

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} \propto \frac{1}{3-d} - \log\left(ik_T\right) \tag{4.10}$$

where $k_T = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$. This function is perfectly invariant under *d*-dimensional dilations (4.1) (recall that $\Delta = 1$ for a conformally coupled scalar),

$$D_{d \text{ dim.}} \left[\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} \right] = \left(-d + 3 + \sum_J \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \right) \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} = 0, \qquad (4.11)$$

however once the divergence is subtracted and $d \rightarrow 3$, the resulting (finite) α_3 is not invariant under 3-dimensional dilations,

$$D_{3 \text{ dim.}}\left[\lim_{d \to 3} \left(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} - \frac{1}{3-d}\right)\right] = \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \left[-\log\left(k_{T}\right)\right] = -1 \neq 0.$$
(4.12)

In general, the 3-dimensional dilations acting on a regulated α_n will pick out the residue of the $1/(d - n\Delta)$ pole. The discrepancy between (4.11) and (4.12) can be understood simply by noting that, in d dimensions, the coefficient $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}$ has a mass dimension $[\alpha_3] = d - 3$, and so simply subtracting 1/(3 - d) is not dimensionally consistent. Rather, we should define,

$$\alpha_3^{\rm ren}(\mu) = \alpha_3 - \frac{\mu^{d-3}}{3-d} = -\log\left(\frac{ik_T}{\mu}\right) + \mathcal{O}(d-3), \qquad (4.13)$$

where μ is an arbitrary scale introduced on dimensional grounds. This renormalised coefficient now satisfies $D_{3 \text{ dim}} [\alpha_3] = -\mu \partial_{\mu} \alpha_3$, and we interpret the right-hand side as an anomalous contribution to the dilation Ward identity.

In general, the α_n satisfy the anomalous form of the Ward identities,²⁷

$$\left[-d + \sum_{J} \left(\Delta_{J} + \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}\right)\right] \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\mathrm{ren}} = \mathcal{A}_{n}$$

$$(4.14)$$

$$\sum_{J} \left[2 \left(\Delta_{J} + \mathbf{k}_{J} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \right) \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} - \mathbf{k}_{J} \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}^{2} \right] \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\text{ren}} = -\sum_{J} 2 \partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \mathcal{A}_{n}$$
(4.15)

where \mathcal{A}_n is a known function of the α_i (e.g. $\mathcal{A}_3 = \mu \partial_\mu \alpha_3$ in the above example).

4.2 Analyticity from locality

Now we turn our attention to the behaviour of $c_n(\eta)$ at small η , close to the conformal boundary. Given a boundary condition for the state $\Psi_{\eta=0}$ (i.e. a set of α_n coefficients), obtained for instance from a conformal bootstrap approach or even from a direct measurement of the end of inflation, what does that tell us about the bulk evolution? To answer this question, we will now solve the equations of motion for the $c_n(\eta)$ perturbatively at small η , beginning with the quadratic coefficient c_2 in the free theory. Throughout this section we will work in units in which H = 1, so that e.g. $\Omega = 1/(-\eta)$.

 $^{^{27}}$ See e.g. [43] for a careful derivation of the anomalous contributions to the conformal Ward identity for 3-point correlators in position space.

Mode functions. The classical equations of motion at small η enforce either $f_k(\eta) \propto (-\eta)^{\Delta}$ or $f_k(\eta) \propto (-\eta)^{d-\Delta}$. Choosing $(-\eta)^{\Delta}$ (which dominates for light fields since $\Delta < d-\Delta$), the classical equation of motion then has a series solution, $f_k(\eta) \propto (-\eta)^{\Delta} F_{-\nu}(-k\eta)$, where $F_{-\nu}$ is an analytic function²⁸ of both η and \mathbf{k} ,

$$F_{-\nu}(k\eta) = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-4)^{-r}}{\Gamma(1+r-\nu)} \frac{(-k\eta)^{2r}}{r!} = 2^{-\nu} \Gamma(1-\nu) \frac{J_{-\nu}(-k\eta)}{(-k\eta)^{-\nu}}.$$
 (4.16)

The other boundary behaviour corresponds to the solution $(-\eta)^{d-\Delta}F_{+\nu}(-k\eta)$, and so the general solution for the mode function is given by,

$$f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = N'(k)(-\eta)^{\Delta} \left(F_{-\nu}(k\eta) - \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^*(-\eta)^{2\nu} F_{+\nu}(k\eta) \right), \qquad (4.17)$$

where N'(k) is an overall normalisation that does not affect any observable, and $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ is a constant function of the momentum which must be fixed using the initial condition for $\Psi[\phi]$. Near the boundary, $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) \propto (-\eta)^{\Delta} + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}(-\eta)^{d-\Delta}$, and so physically $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ is capturing the subleading η dependence at late times.²⁹

(4.17) already exhibits a very general feature: when written in terms of the data α_n at the conformal boundary,³⁰ the coefficients in this expansion are analytic functions of the momenta at small η (for $|k\eta| < 1$) and only develop non-analyticities once $|k\eta| > 1$ and the mode crosses the horizon. This behaviour is not manifest if the initial condition for $\Psi[\phi]$ is supplied in the bulk, for instance comparing (4.17) with the de Sitter mode function given in (3.43), we see that $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ is related to $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}$ by,³¹

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}} = \frac{ik^{2\nu}}{(1 - e^{2i\pi\nu})} \frac{1 + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}} e^{-2i\pi\nu}}{1 + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}} \frac{\pi 2^{1-2\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu)\Gamma(\nu+1)} \,. \tag{4.18}$$

The Bunch-Davies initial condition, for instance, sets $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}} \propto i k^{2\nu}$, and this introduces nonanalyticity³² into $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ (since $k = \sqrt{\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{k}}$ is not analytic in \mathbf{k}).

Quadratic coefficient. Analogously, (2.9) fixes the small η limit of $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ to be either $\Delta/(-\eta)^d$ or $(d - \Delta)/(-\eta)^d$. Choosing $\Delta/(-\eta)^d$ results in a series solution $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = (-\eta)^{-d} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}$ in which $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}$ is analytic in both η and \mathbf{k} ,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}(\eta) = \Delta + \frac{(-k\eta)^2}{2(\nu-1)} + \frac{(-k\eta)^4}{8(\nu-2)(\nu-1)^2} + \dots$$
$$= \Delta + k\eta \frac{J_{1-\nu}(-k\eta)}{J_{-\nu}(-k\eta)}, \qquad (4.19)$$

that coincides with $\Omega^d \eta \partial_\eta F_{-\nu}/F_{-\nu}$ of (4.16).

²⁹One can therefore relate $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ to the conjugate momentum for ϕ , since it is well-known holographically that the coefficient of the $(-\eta)^{d-\Delta}$ mode is conjugate to the coefficient of the $(-\eta)^{\Delta}$ mode.

³⁰Neglecting the overall normalisation, (4.17) obeys, $f_{\mathbf{k}} \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\eta} f_{\mathbf{k}}^* \propto 2i\nu \operatorname{Im}(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}) \Omega^{1-d}$, and so when expanding around $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}} = 0$ the commutator $[\hat{\phi}, \hat{\Pi}]$ vanishes and fluctuations behave classically.

³¹Note that the overall normalisations are also related, $N'(k) = -N(k)\frac{i}{\pi}2^n e^{i\nu\pi}\Gamma(\nu)(-k)^{-\nu}\left(1+(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}})^*\right)$. ³²Fixing $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ is essentially integrating out the conjugate momentum, which leaves behind an effective description of ϕ dynamics which contains non-analyticities.

²⁸Note that the series $F_{-\nu}(k\eta) = {}_{0}F_{1}\left(1-\nu;-\frac{1}{4}k^{2}\eta^{2}\right)$ can also be written in terms of a hypergeometric function, which makes the analytic structure manifest — we have used a Bessel *J* function in (4.16) to make contact with the Hankel mode functions of (3.43).

While $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}/(-\eta)^d$ is a particular solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi equation,

$$-(-\eta)^{d}\eta\partial_{\eta}\left(\frac{c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}}{(-\eta)^{d}}\right) = \left(c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}\right)^{2} - \left(m^{2} + k^{2}\eta^{2}\right), \qquad (4.20)$$

there is also the freedom to add to $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}$ any solution of

$$-\eta \partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}} = 2c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}} + (-\eta)^d (c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}})^2$$
(4.21)

which depends on the Hamiltonian only implicitly (via $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}$). This corresponds to the freedom to add $(-\eta)^{d-\Delta}F_{+\nu}$ to our solution to the classical equations of motion. In particular, for the mode function (4.17), the corresponding wavefunction coefficient is,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{series}}(\eta)}{(-\eta)^d} + \frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}}{(-\eta)^{2\Delta}} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{initial}}(\eta), \qquad (4.22)$$

where $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ can be determined by specifying an initial condition for $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}$, and the function $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{initial}}(\eta)$ can also be written in terms of analytic functions as,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{initial}}(\eta) = \sum_{r=0} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{r} (-\eta)^{2r\nu} I_{k}^{(r)}(\eta)$$
(4.23)

where the functions $I_k^{(r)}(\eta)$ are analytic in both η and \mathbf{k} ,

$$I_k^{(r)} = \frac{1}{F_{-\nu}F_{-\nu}} \left(\frac{F_{+\nu}}{F_{-\nu}}\right)^r \,. \tag{4.24}$$

This leads to the resummed, $c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^{\text{initial}} = 1/F_{-\nu}/(F_{-\nu} - \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}(-\eta)^{2\nu}F_{+\nu})$. This resummation can be represented graphically,³³ as shown in figure 3.

Cubic coefficient. We can represent the transition from boundary α_n to bulk c_n graphically for any non-Gaussian wavefunction coefficient. The simplest of these is the cubic coefficient. Anticipating the resummation of the $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ series for the external lines, we first define a new coefficient,³⁴

$$\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} \prod_{j=1}^{3} \left(F_{-\nu}(k_{j}\eta) - \alpha_{k_{j}}(-\eta)^{2\nu} F_{+\nu}(k_{j}\eta) \right)$$
(4.26)

such that $\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}$ coincides with $c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}$ near the boundary and depends at most linearly on any single $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_J}$,

$$\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta) = \frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{(-\eta)^{3\Delta}} + \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta)|_{\alpha=0} + \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} \frac{\delta\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} + \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} \frac{\delta^{2}\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} + \frac{\delta^{3}\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} + \frac{\delta^{3}\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}, \qquad (4.27)$$

³³The reason that it is factors of $F_{+\nu}/F_{-\nu}$ which appear on the red internal lines of figure 3 is that,

$$(-\eta)^{2\nu} \frac{F_{+\nu}(k\eta)}{F_{-\nu}(k\eta)} = \int \frac{d\eta}{\eta} \frac{2\nu(-\eta)^{2\nu}}{F_{-\nu}(k\eta)F_{-\nu}(k\eta)},$$
(4.25)

where the right-hand side is an integral over all time of the $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}} = 0$ propagator, $1/F_{-\nu}F_{-\nu}$.

³⁴Note that this is simply $(-\eta)^{-3\Delta} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^{\mathbf{I}}$ for the mode function (4.17).



Figure 3. Adding a quadratic $\alpha_2 \phi^2$ to the boundary wavefunction (at time $\eta = 0$) affects the two-point coefficient $c_2(\eta)\phi^2$ at a bulk time η via the resummation shown above. This is analogous to a mass insertion, $m^2\phi^2$, shifting the propagator from $1/p^2$ to $1/(p^2 - m^2)$ in a standard Lorentzian QFT.

where $|_{\alpha=0}$ denotes the function evaluated with all $\alpha_n = 0$. The η dependence of \tilde{c}_3 is now encoded in the various transfer coefficients $\delta^n \tilde{c}_i / \delta \alpha_j^n \Big|_{\alpha=0}$. For instance, for the cubic interaction $\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}} = \Omega^{d+1} \frac{1}{3!} v_3 \phi^3$, the corresponding coefficients are,

$$(-\eta)^{d} \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta)|_{\alpha=0} = v_{3}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{---}(\eta) \qquad (4.28)$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{1}}} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{3}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{+--}(\eta)$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{1}+2\nu_{2}}} \frac{\delta^{2} \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{3}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{++-}(\eta)$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{1}+2\nu_{2}+2\nu_{3}}} \frac{\delta^{3} \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{3}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{+++}(\eta)$$

where the functions $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3}$ are analytic for $|k_j\eta| < 1$, and straightforward to write down by solving (2.27) with mode function (4.16),

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}}(\eta) &= \frac{1}{\sum_{i}\Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}-d} + \frac{(-\eta)^{2}}{\sum_{i}\Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}-d+2}\sum_{j}\frac{k_{j}^{2}}{4(\sigma_{j}\nu_{j}-1)} \\ &+ \frac{(-\eta)^{4}}{\sum_{i}\Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}-d+4}\left(\sum_{j}\frac{k_{j}^{4}}{32(\sigma_{j}\nu_{j}-1)(\sigma_{j}\nu_{j}-2)} + \sum_{jj'}\frac{k_{j}^{2}k_{j'}^{2}}{16(\sigma_{j}\nu_{j}-1)(\sigma_{j'}\nu_{j'}-1)}\right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(k^{6}\eta^{6}) \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.29)$$

where $\Delta_j^{\pm} = \frac{d}{2} \pm \nu_j$ (so $\Delta_j^- = \Delta_j$ and $\Delta_j^+ = d - \Delta_j$). The main virtue of the expansion (4.27) is that, since the $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3}(\eta)$ are analytic in the momentum, *locality* of the interaction Hamiltonian (i.e. that v_3 is an analytic function³⁵ of the \mathbf{k}_j) translates directly into analyticity of the transfer coefficients given by (4.28).

³⁵Of course, for a local interaction which is also *de Sitter invariant*, v_3 will depend on η through the combination $\Omega^{-2}\mathbf{k}_i \cdot \mathbf{k}_j$. This does not affect our argument, since any polynomial dependence on η can be incorporated into an analogous $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{\sigma_1...\sigma_n}(\eta)$ object by shifting the location of the poles in (4.29) (but this will not change the analyticity of \mathcal{I} in the momentum).

Quartic coefficient. Next, we move on to the quartic coefficient, c_4 . Again anticipating the resummation of the $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ series for the external lines, we can define,³⁶

$$\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta) = c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} \prod_{j=1}^{4} \left(F_{-\nu}(k_{j}\eta) - \alpha_{k_{j}}(-\eta)^{2\nu}F_{+\nu}(k_{j}\eta) \right)$$

$$- (-\eta)^{d} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}} F_{+\nu}(k_{s}\eta) \left(F_{-\nu}(k_{s}\eta) - \alpha_{k_{s}}(-\eta)^{2\nu}F_{+\nu}(k_{s}\eta) \right)$$

$$(4.30)$$

which coincides with $c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}(\eta)$ at small η , and has an analogous expansion to (4.27) which is at most linear in any particular $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_J}$. A few of the relevant transfer functions are shown graphically in figure 4, and are listed below. As with the cubic coefficient, the quartic transfer functions can be written in terms of manifestly analytic functions $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4}(\eta)$ (which describes the contact contribution) and $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2-\mathbf{k}_s|\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4\mathbf{k}_s}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4+}(\eta)$ (which describes the exchange contribution). While $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4}(\eta)$ is given by (4.29) (where the sums now run from 1 to 4), the exchange contribution is captured by,³⁷

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{\sigma_{1}\sigma_{4}+}(\eta) &= \frac{1}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{4}\Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}-d-(\sigma_{s}+1)\nu_{s}\right)\left(\Delta_{1}^{\sigma_{1}}+\Delta_{2}^{\sigma_{2}}+\Delta_{s}^{\sigma_{s}}-d\right)} \\ &+ \frac{\frac{(-k_{3}\eta)^{2}}{4(\sigma_{3}\nu_{3}-1)}+\frac{(-k_{4}\eta)^{2}}{4(\sigma_{4}\nu_{4}-1)}+\frac{(-k_{s}\eta)^{2}}{4(\nu_{s}-1)}}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{4}\Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}-d-(\sigma_{s}+1)\nu_{s}+2\right)\left(\Delta_{1}^{\sigma_{1}}+\Delta_{2}^{\sigma_{2}}+\Delta_{s}^{\sigma_{s}}-d\right)} \\ &+ \frac{\frac{(-k_{1}\eta)^{2}}{4(\sigma_{1}\nu_{1}-1)}+\frac{(-k_{2}\eta)^{2}}{4(\sigma_{2}\nu_{2}-1)}+\frac{(-k_{s}\eta)^{2}}{4(\sigma_{s}\nu_{s}-1)}}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{4}\Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}-d-(\sigma_{s}+1)\nu_{s}+2\right)\left(\Delta_{1}^{\sigma_{1}}+\Delta_{2}^{\sigma_{2}}+\Delta_{s}^{\sigma_{s}}-d+2\right)} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(k^{4}\eta^{4}) \end{aligned}$$
(4.32)

where $\Delta_s = \frac{d}{2} - \nu_s$ is the weight of the exchanged particle.

In terms of the analytic \mathcal{I} functions (4.37) and (4.32), the transfer functions for \tilde{c}_4 under the interaction Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}_{\text{int}} = \Omega^{d+1} \left(\frac{1}{3!}v_3\phi^3 + \frac{1}{4!}v_4\phi^4\right)$ are given by:

• The term which is independent of the α_n boundary conditions is,

$$(-\eta)^{d} \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta)|_{\alpha=0} = v_{4}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{-----}(\eta) + v_{3}^{2}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta) + 5 \text{ perm.}$$
(4.33)

$$\int \frac{d\eta}{\eta} \frac{2\nu(-\eta)^{2\nu}}{\left(F_{-\nu}(k\eta) - \alpha_k(-\eta)^{2\nu}F_{+\nu}(k\eta)\right)^2} = \frac{(-\eta)^{2\nu}F_{+\nu}(k\eta)}{F_{-\nu}(k\eta) - \alpha_k(-\eta)^{2\nu}F_{+\nu}(k\eta)},$$
(4.31)

in place of $\Omega^{1-d}/f_{\mathbf{k}}^*f_{\mathbf{k}}^* = i\partial_{\eta} \left[f_{\mathbf{k}}/f_{\mathbf{k}}^*\right].$

³⁶Note that this is the analogue of $(-\eta)^{-4\Delta}C_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}$ for the mode function (4.17). ³⁷This follows from solving (2.32) at small η , using the relation,











• The dependence on the quadratic initial condition, $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$, is given by,

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{1}}} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{4}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{+---}(\eta) + v_{3}^{2}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta) + 5 \text{ perm.}$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{s}}} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{3}^{2}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta) + 5 \text{ perm.}$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{1}+2\nu_{s}}} \frac{\delta^{2}\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{4}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta) + v_{3}^{2}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta) + 5 \text{ perm.}$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{d}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_{1}+2\nu_{s}}} \frac{\delta^{2}\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{s}}\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_{3}^{2}\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}(\eta) + 5 \text{ perm.}$$

$$(4.34)$$

and so forth — just as for the cubic coefficient, each of the $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1}, \ldots, \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_4}$ may only appear once in any term, and now there may further be an additional $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_s}$ or $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_t}$ or $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_u}$.

• The cubic initial condition, $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}$, contributes in only three ways,

$$(-\eta)^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + \Delta_s} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{k}_s}} \Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_3 \mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4 \mathbf{k}_s}^{---+}(\eta)$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + \Delta_s}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_3}} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{k}_s} \delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_3}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{k}_s} \delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_3}} \Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_3 \mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4 \mathbf{k}_s}^{+--+}(\eta)$$

$$\frac{(-\eta)^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + \Delta_s}}{(-\eta)^{2\nu_3 + 2\nu_4}} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{k}_s} \delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_3} \delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_4}} \Big|_{\alpha=0} = v_3 \mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4 \mathbf{k}_s}^{+++}(\eta) ,$$

$$(4.35)$$

plus terms related by permuting the external legs.

• Finally, we have a new initial condition, $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}$, which appears as a single term in $\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}$,

$$(-\eta)^{4\Delta} \frac{\delta \tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4}(\eta)}{\delta \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_4}}\Big|_{\alpha=0} = 1, \qquad (4.36)$$

just like the first term in (4.27).

Since all of the transfer coefficients have the form $v_j \times \mathcal{I}$, where the \mathcal{I} functions are analytic outside the horizon, we can again conclude that locality of the interaction Hamiltonian (in this case analyticity of both v_3 and v_4) is translated into analyticity of the \tilde{c}_4 transfer coefficients. The same procedure can be carried out for any \tilde{c}_n wavefunction coefficient, and although we have focused on interactions of the form ϕ^n the same conclusion can be reached for more general interactions which also contain Π (this requires defining a new \mathcal{I} object in which a $\partial_{\mu}F_{-\nu}$ is used in place of $F_{-\nu}$, but otherwise proceeds as above). Locality of the bulk interactions guarantees that the transfer coefficients which relate $\tilde{c}_n(\eta)$ to α_n on superhorizon scales are analytic functions of the momenta. **Horizon crossing.** As $|k\eta|$ approaches unity, the series solutions for the transfer coefficients must be resummed. Formally, this can be done using integrals over products of the Bessel mode function, resumming (4.29) and (4.32) into,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\dots\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\sigma_{1}\dots\sigma_{n}}(\eta) = \int_{0}^{\eta} \frac{d\eta'}{\eta'} \left(\frac{\eta'}{\eta}\right)^{-d+\sum_{i} \Delta_{i}^{\sigma_{i}}} F_{\sigma_{1}\nu_{1}}(k_{1}\eta')\dots F_{\sigma_{n}\nu_{n}}(k_{n}\eta') , \qquad (4.37)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{s}|\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{s}}^{\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{s}|\sigma_{4}\sigma_{4}+}(\eta) = \int_{0}^{\eta} \frac{d\eta''}{\eta''} \left(\frac{\eta'}{\eta}\right)^{\Delta_{3}^{\sigma_{1}+\Delta_{4}^{\sigma_{1}}-\Delta_{s}}} F_{\sigma_{3}\nu_{3}}(k_{3}\eta'') F_{\sigma_{4}\nu_{4}}(k_{4}\eta'') F_{+\nu_{s}}(k_{s}\eta'') \\
\times \int_{0}^{\eta''} \frac{d\eta'}{\eta'} \left(\frac{\eta'}{\eta}\right)^{-d+\Delta_{1}^{\sigma_{1}}+\Delta_{2}^{\sigma_{2}}+\Delta_{s}^{\sigma_{s}}} F_{\sigma_{1}\nu_{1}}(k_{1}\eta') F_{\sigma_{2}\nu_{2}}(k_{2}\eta') F_{\sigma_{s}\nu_{s}}(k_{s}\eta'),$$
(4.38)

where again we have used $\Delta_j^{\pm} = \frac{d}{2} \pm \nu_j$ (so $\Delta_j^- = \Delta_j$ and $\Delta_j^+ = d - \Delta_j$). While these expressions are not particularly enlightening for general ν , in section 5 we will see particular cases in which these integrals can be performed and the transfer functions extended to $|k\eta| > 1$ and into the horizon.

Method of regions. One useful feature of (4.37) and (4.38), even if they cannot always be evaluated explicitly, is that they allow us to infer properties of our transfer functions in the deep subhorizon limit, $|k\eta| \gg 1$. We do this by dividing the integration over η into a number of regions, determined by the momenta. For example, consider the quartic coefficients $\tilde{c}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}$, where the arguments have been ordered so that $k_1 \ge k_2 \ge k_3 \ge k_4$. The η integrals in the transfer function can be written as,

$$\int_0^{\eta} d\eta' = \left(\int_0^{-1/k_1} + \int_{-1/k_1}^{-1/k_2} + \int_{-1/k_2}^{-1/k_3} + \int_{-1/k_3}^{-1/k_4} + \int_{-1/k_4}^{\eta}\right) d\eta', \qquad (4.39)$$

and in each region a different approximation for the mode functions may be used. If $|\eta'|$ is smaller than $1/k_j$, then the analytic expansion (4.16) is used, while if $|\eta'|$ is larger than $1/k_j$ then the asymptotic expansion,³⁸

$$(-\eta)^{\Delta} F_{-\nu}(k\eta) \propto \eta \left(e^{ik\eta} - i e^{i\nu\pi} e^{-ik\eta} \right) , \qquad (4.40)$$

is used.

Focussing on the final region in (4.39), in which $|\eta|$ is much larger than any momenta and we can use (4.40), we see that each $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4}(\eta)$ will contain,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}\sigma_{4}}(\eta) \supset \int_{-1/k_{4}}^{\eta} d\eta \, (-\eta)^{-d+3} \sum_{\sigma_{j}'=\pm} e^{i(\sigma_{1}'k_{1}+\sigma_{2}'k_{2}+\sigma_{3}'k_{3}+\sigma_{4}'k_{4})\eta} \tag{4.41}$$

and therefore in d = 3 will generically develop poles in $1/\sum_j k_j$, as well as all other folded configurations $(k_1+k_2+k_3-k_4, k_1+k_2-k_3-k_4, \text{etc.})$, when we transfer from the boundary to deep inside the horizon. While the transfer functions are analytic outside the horizon

³⁸Strictly speaking, one requires $|k\eta| \gg |\nu^2 - 1/4|$ in d = 3 dimensions to use this expansion, but for light fields we can safely treat the right-hand side as an order one number.

for local interactions, non-analyticities inevitably develop once $|k\eta| > 1$. This argument is somewhat heuristic, since we have neglected the other regions in (4.39), but nonetheless we will observe precisely this behaviour in explicit examples in section 5.

The above discussion has assumed generic values of the conformal weights Δ_j . However, note that for particular values of $\sum_j \Delta_j$ and d there are simple-pole divergences in both $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{\nu_1...\nu_n}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n|\mathbf{p}_1...\mathbf{p}_{n'}}^{\nu_1...\nu_{n'}}$ (the integrals which determine the transfer coefficients). We will now show how these can be systematically renormalised.

4.3 Renormalisation of the boundary wavefunction

In addition to the manifest analyticity, another advantage of expressing the wavefunction coefficients in terms of the transfer functions is that the structure of boundary divergences becomes clear. The integrals (4.37) and (4.38) have simple poles at particular values of the scalar field masses and spatial dimension d. We will now show how these can be removed in a systematic way by renormalising the wavefunction's boundary condition.

Types of divergence. Let us begin by listing the various kinds of divergence we may encounter at the boundary. Beginning with the contact integral (4.29), we see that this leads to two qualitatively different kinds of divergence in the transfer functions. Firstly, the $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{-...-}$ contain divergences when $\sum_{j=1}^n \Delta_j = d - 2\ell$ (for any positive integer ℓ), as can be seen from (4.37). Adopting the language of [43], we will refer to this as an *ultralocal* divergence. Secondly, there is an analogous divergence in $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{+-...-}$ when $d - \Delta_1 + \sum_{j=2}^n \Delta_j =$ $d - 2\ell$ approaches zero. Again following [43], we will refer to this as a *semilocal* divergence. $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2...\mathbf{k}_n}^{++-...-}$ and the other functions in (4.37) are finite for light fields³⁹ in any d since $0 \leq$ $\Delta < d/2$, so $2d - \Delta_1 - \Delta_2 + \sum_{j=3}^n \Delta_j$ is always greater than d (and can never approach a pole at $d - 2\ell$).

Moving on to the simplest exchange integral (4.32), we find the same ultralocal and semilocal divergences, plus a new kind of divergence which appears only in $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2-\mathbf{k}_s|\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4\mathbf{k}_s}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2+|\sigma_3\sigma_4+}$, when $\sum_{j=1}^4 \Delta_j^{\sigma_j} = 2\Delta_s - 2\ell$, where Δ_s is the conformal weight of the exchanged field. Since this kind of divergence can appear only in 4-point correlators and higher, it does not appear in the 3-point analysis of [43]. We dub these *exchange* divergences. In higher *n*-point correlators, there are triple integrals, quadruple integrals, etc., and it seems that at each order new exchange divergences are introduced.

We will not attempt a systematic classification of all such divergences here. Rather, we will focus on the ultralocal and semilocal divergences stemming from the contact integrals (4.37). We will first show that both types of divergence can be dealt with by renormalising the boundary condition at the conformal boundary, and then further show that this is equivalent to performing a Boundary Operator Expansion to replace the (singular) bulk operators with (finite) boundary operators.

Ultralocal divergences. An ultralocal divergence appears as a $1/\delta_{n\ell}$ pole, where $\delta_{n\ell} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \Delta_j - d + 2\ell$. This kind of divergence can be removed by renormalising a single

³⁹By 'light', we mean that they belong to the "complementary series" of de Sitter representations.

wavefunction coefficient,

$$\alpha_n^{\rm ren} = \alpha_n - \frac{\mu^{-\delta_{n\ell}}}{\delta_{n\ell}} P_{2\ell}(\mathbf{k}_J) \,, \tag{4.42}$$

where $P_{2\ell}$ is an analytic polynomial of degree 2ℓ in the momenta, and μ is an arbitrary scale introduced on dimensional grounds. For instance, the example of three conformally coupled scalars from (4.13) corresponds to $\sum_J \Delta_J = 3$ in d = 3, which gives $\ell = 0$ and so $P_0 = 1$ is a simple constant. More generally, from our expression (4.37) for the integral $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^{\sigma_1...\sigma_n}$ (which determines the transfer function for any $v_n\phi^n$ contact interaction), we see that an ultralocal divergence in \tilde{c}_n can indeed always be removed by (4.42),

$$\tilde{c}_{n} = \frac{\alpha_{n}}{(-\eta)^{\sum_{j} \Delta_{j}}} + \frac{v_{n}}{(-\eta)^{d}} \mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{-...-} + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha_{j < n}\right)$$

$$= \lim_{\delta_{\ell} \to 0} \left[\frac{\alpha_{n}}{(-\eta)^{\sum_{j} \Delta_{j}}} + \frac{v_{n}}{(-\eta)^{\sum_{j} \Delta_{j} + 2\ell - \delta_{n\ell}}} \frac{(-k\eta)^{2\ell}}{\delta_{n\ell}} + \text{finite} \right]$$

$$= \frac{\alpha_{n}^{\text{ren}}}{(-\eta)^{\sum_{j} \Delta_{j}}} + v_{n}(-k\eta)^{2\ell} \log(-\eta\mu) + \text{finite}, \qquad (4.43)$$

where we have used $(-k\eta)^{2\ell}$ to represent a polynomial of degree 2ℓ in the k_J (i.e. the coefficient at order $(-\eta)^{2\ell}$ in (4.29)). In fact, any interaction (not only ϕ^n) can be renormalised in the same way, by choosing the function $P_{2\ell}$ in (4.42) appropriately.

Semilocal divergences. A semilocal divergence appears as a $1/\delta'_{n\ell}$ pole, where $\delta'_{n\ell} = \sum_{j=2}^{n} \Delta_j - \Delta_1 + 2\ell$. This kind of divergence can only be removed by renormalising an infinite number of wavefunction coefficients, starting at order n,

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{\text{ren}} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}} + \sum_{\text{perm.}} \frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{p}-\mathbf{p}}}{\delta_{n\ell}'} P_{2\ell}(\mathbf{p};\mathbf{k}_{2},\ldots,\mathbf{k}_{n}) \quad , \qquad (4.44)$$

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n+1}}^{\text{ren}} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n+1}} + \sum_{\text{perm.}} \frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{p}}}{\delta_{n\ell}'} P_{2\ell}(\mathbf{p};\mathbf{k}_{3},\ldots,\mathbf{k}_{n+1}) \quad , \qquad \vdots$$

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{2n-2}}^{\text{ren}} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{2n-2}} + \sum_{\text{perm.}} \frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n-1}\mathbf{p}}}{\delta_{n\ell}'} P_{2\ell}(-\mathbf{p},\mathbf{k}_{n},\ldots,\mathbf{k}_{2n-2}) + \sum_{\text{perm.}} \frac{\alpha_{\mathbf{p}-\mathbf{p}}}{\delta_{n\ell}''} P_{2\ell}(\mathbf{p};\mathbf{k}_{1},\ldots,\mathbf{k}_{n-1}) P_{2\ell}(-\mathbf{p};\mathbf{k}_{n},\ldots,\mathbf{k}_{2n-2})$$

$$\vdots$$

where the $P_{2\ell}(\mathbf{p}; \mathbf{k}_1, \dots, \mathbf{k}_{n-1})$ are again polynomials of degree 2ℓ in the momenta, and we adopted the convention that $\mathbf{p} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \mathbf{k}_j$ is always set to be the sum of the remaining n-1 arguments. Taking n = 3 and focussing on the δ'_{30} divergences found in our \tilde{c}_4 transfer coefficients above, we can see explicitly that (4.44) (with P_0 a constant) has the effect of removing the $1/\delta'_{30}$ divergence from $\mathcal{I}^{+---}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}$ and from every $\mathcal{I}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3|--+}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2-\mathbf{k}_s|\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4\mathbf{k}_s}$, and also the double pole from $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2-\mathbf{k}_s|\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4\mathbf{k}_s}^{--++--+}$. In fact, this tower of redefinitions (4.44) coincides with a particular redefinition of the field ϕ_1 (with conformal weight Δ_1),

$$\phi_1 \to \phi_1 + \frac{P_{2\ell}(\mathbf{k}_1; \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n)}{\delta'_{n\ell}} \phi_2 \dots \phi_n \,. \tag{4.45}$$

In section 5 we will study an example of this kind of divergence, namely the threepoint coefficient of a massless field (which requires performing (4.45) with n = 3 and $\ell = 0$). Another example of this kind of divergence is the two-point coefficient, α_2 , which always exhibits an $\ell = 0$ divergence since $(d - \Delta) + \Delta = d$. In this case, n = 2 in (4.45) and all that is required is a rescaling $\phi \to Z\phi$. We will show below that this is most easily done using a hard cutoff, namely $\phi \to (-\eta_{\delta})^{\Delta}\phi$ (which is the familiar renormalisation of the boundary value routinely used in holography).

When the initial condition for Ψ is provided at the boundary, $\eta = 0$, then renormalisation can be carried out straightforwardly by shifting the α_n coefficients as in (4.42) or (4.44). On the other hand, when the initial condition is provided in the bulk (e.g. Bunch-Davies vacuum in the past), then the renormalisation must be carried out at the level of the operators $\hat{\phi}$ and $\hat{\Pi}$. We will now describe how this is done.

Operator mixing. On the boundary, we have a set of local operators, namely $\hat{\varphi}$, its momentum $\hat{\pi}$ and their descendents, $k^2 \hat{\varphi}, k^2 \hat{\pi}, \ldots$ When the bulk operator $\hat{\phi}(\eta)$ (and its canonical momentum $\hat{\Pi}(\eta)$) approach the boundary, we must specify how it is mapped onto the boundary operators.⁴⁰ This mapping is known in the CFT literature as the "Boundary Operator Expansion" (BOE), and in general takes the form,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \hat{\mathcal{O}}_i^{\text{bulk}}(\eta) = \sum_j Z_{ij} \, \hat{\mathcal{O}}_j^{\text{boundary}} \,. \tag{4.46}$$

Since this limit is singular, it requires a small regulator, δ . The BOE coefficients Z_{ij} then depend on this regulator in a way which is fixed by the isometries. For instance, in the free theory with a hard cutoff at η_{δ} , the BOE is,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[\frac{\Phi(\eta)}{(-\eta)^{\Delta_{-}}} \right] = Z_{\phi\varphi}\hat{\varphi} + Z_{\phi\pi}(-\eta_{\delta})^{2\nu}\hat{\pi}$$
(4.47)

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[(-\eta)^{\Delta_{-}} \Pi(\eta) \right] = Z_{\Pi \pi} \hat{\pi} + Z_{\Pi \varphi} (-\eta_{\delta})^{-2\nu} \hat{\varphi}$$
(4.48)

where the scaling weights are $[\hat{\varphi}] = \Delta$ and $[\hat{\pi}] = d - \Delta$, and we have used scale-invariance to write the Z_{ij} as constants (multiplying the appropriate power of δ). The commutation relation,

$$[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}] = \frac{\lim_{\eta \to 0} [\hat{\phi}(\eta), \hat{\Pi}(\eta)]]}{Z_{\phi\varphi} Z_{\Pi\pi} - Z_{\phi\pi} Z_{\Pi\varphi}}$$
(4.49)

⁴⁰Note that we have switched to the Heisenberg picture for the field operators for notational convenience.

is canonically normalised providing $Z_{\phi\varphi}Z_{\Pi\pi} - Z_{\phi\pi}Z_{\Pi\varphi} = 1$. The quadratic correlators are given by,

$$\langle \hat{\varphi} \hat{\varphi} \rangle = \frac{1}{2(-\eta_{\delta})^{2\Delta} \operatorname{Im} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta})} \left(Z_{\Pi\pi} - Z_{\phi\pi} (-\eta_{\delta})^{d} \operatorname{Re} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta}) \right)$$

$$\langle \hat{\varphi} \hat{\pi} \rangle = -\frac{i}{2} + (-\eta_{\delta})^{-2\nu} \frac{(Z_{\phi\varphi} Z_{\Pi\pi} + Z_{\phi\varphi} Z_{\Pi\varphi})(-\eta_{\delta})^{d} \operatorname{Re} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta})}{2(-\eta_{\delta})^{2\Delta} \operatorname{Im} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta})}$$

$$- (-\eta_{\delta})^{-2\nu} \frac{Z_{\Pi\pi} Z_{\Pi\varphi} + Z_{\phi\varphi} Z_{\phi\pi} \left((-\eta_{\delta})^{d} \operatorname{Re} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta}) \right)^{2}}{2(-\eta_{\delta})^{2\Delta} \operatorname{Im} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta})}$$

$$\langle \hat{\pi} \hat{\pi} \rangle = (-\eta)^{-2\nu} \frac{\left(Z_{\Pi\varphi} - Z_{\phi\varphi}(\eta_{\delta})^{d} \operatorname{Re} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta}) \right)^{2}}{2(-\eta_{\delta})^{2\Delta} \operatorname{Im} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta})} + Z_{\phi\varphi}^{2} \frac{(-\eta_{\delta})^{2\Delta} \operatorname{Im} c_{2}(\eta_{\delta})}{2} .$$

$$(4.50)$$

Note that since $\operatorname{Re} c_2 \sim \Delta/\eta^d$ and $\operatorname{Im} c_2 \sim 1/\eta^{2\Delta}$, these are finite providing we fix $Z_{\Pi\varphi} = \Delta Z_{\phi\varphi}$. The subleading $Z_{\phi\pi}$ parameter may take any value,⁴¹ and we choose,

 $Z_{\phi\varphi} = 1$, $Z_{\phi\pi} = 0$, $Z_{\Pi\pi} = 1$, $Z_{\Pi\varphi} = \Delta$, (4.51)

which corresponds to the definition $\hat{\phi} = (-\eta_{\delta})^{\Delta} \hat{\varphi}$ in the free theory. This is the reason that the rescaling (4.9) is necessary to translate $c_n(\eta)$ (the wavefunction coefficients of $\Psi_{\eta}[\phi]$) to α_n (the wavefunction coefficients of $\Psi_0[\varphi]$).

In an interacting theory, there can be further non-zero Z_{ij} coefficients. For instance, whenever $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \Delta_j = d$, or equivalently $d - \Delta_1 = \sum_{j=2}^{n} \Delta_j$, we can have mixing between $\hat{\pi}$ and $\hat{\varphi}^{n-1}$,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left(\eta^{\Delta_{-}} \Pi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta) \right) = \Delta (-\eta_{\delta})^{-2\nu} \hat{\varphi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} + \hat{\pi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} + \frac{Z_{\Pi \varphi^{n-1}}}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_{2} \dots \mathbf{k}_{n}} \hat{\varphi}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \dots \hat{\varphi}_{\mathbf{k}_{n}} \delta^{d} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{k}_{j} \right).$$
(4.52)

because $Z_{\Pi\varphi^{n-1}}$ is no longer constrained to be zero by scale invariance. This occurs precisely when $\delta_{n0} = 0$, corresponding to the ultralocal type of divergence. The effect of this mixing is to introduce an additive counterterm in the boundary wavefunction coefficient (3.35),

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[(-\eta)^{\sum_j \Delta_j} c_n(\eta) \right] = \alpha_n + Z_{\Pi \varphi^{n-1}}$$
(4.53)

which can be used to renormalise the ultralocal divergence, as shown in (4.43). The higher ℓ divergences, when $\delta_{n\ell} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \Delta_j - d + 2\ell \to 0$, correspond to the mixing of $\partial^{2\ell} \hat{\varphi}^{n-1}$ into the BOE of $\hat{\Pi}$, and can be similarly renormalised using the mixing coefficients $Z_{\Pi \partial^{2\ell} \varphi^{n-1}}$.

Similarly, there is a second kind of mixing that takes place when $\Delta_1 = \sum_{j=2}^n \Delta_j$, which allows $\hat{\varphi}$ to mix with $\hat{\varphi}^{n-1}$,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left(\frac{\Phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta)}{\eta^{\Delta_-}} \right) = \hat{\varphi}_{\mathbf{k}_1} + \frac{Z_{\phi\varphi^{n-1}}}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_2 \dots \mathbf{k}_n} \hat{\varphi}_{\mathbf{k}_2} \dots \hat{\varphi}_{\mathbf{k}_n} \delta^3 \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \mathbf{k}_j \right), \tag{4.54}$$

⁴¹It is related to the Reparametrization Invariance (RPI) that one inevitably introduces when splitting up degrees of freedom, see e.g. [44].

since now a non-zero $Z_{\phi\varphi^{n-1}}$ is permitted by scale invariance. This has the effect of mixing wavefunction coefficients of different order, e.g. when n = 3 the boundary coefficient (4.9) becomes,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0} \left[(-\eta)^{\sum_j \Delta_j} c_3(\eta) \right] = \alpha_3 + Z_{\phi \varphi^{n-1}} \sum_{\text{perm.}} \alpha_2 , \qquad (4.55)$$

while the c_4 , c_5 , etc. coefficients are also shifted into each other, as shown in (4.44). This shift can be used to renormalise the semilocal divergences when $\delta'_{n0} \to 0$. The higher ℓ divergences, when $\delta'_{n\ell} = \sum_{j=2}^{n} \Delta_j - \Delta_1 + 2\ell \to 0$, correspond to the mixing of $\partial^{2\ell} \hat{\varphi}^{n-1}$ into the BOE of $\hat{\phi}$, and can be similarly renormalised using the mixing coefficients $Z_{\phi\partial^{2\ell}\varphi^{n-1}}$.

Finally, let us close this section with a conjecture. The new kind of exchange divergence which we encountered in (4.38) is a result of $2\Delta_s = \sum_{j=1}^4 \Delta_j + 2\ell$, which would be the condition for a composite operator like : $\varphi_s \varphi_s$: to mix with $\partial^{2\ell} : \varphi_1 \varphi_2 \varphi_3 \varphi_4$:. Although contact divergences can always be removed by the Boundary Operator Expansion of $\hat{\phi}$ and $\hat{\Pi}$, we speculate that to remove exchange divergences may also require an analogous expansion of composite bulk operators. Understanding how to renormalise exchange divergences is important, since they appear in even simple examples like the exchange of a massless field (for which $\Delta = 0$). We will not pursue this further here, and instead turn now to three concrete examples to which the above discussion in sections 2, 3 and 4 can be applied.

5 Some examples

In the preceding sections, we have discussed the impact of unitarity, de Sitter invariance and locality of the bulk interactions on the wavefunction coefficients (and equal-time correlation functions). These basic properties allowed us to draw very general conclusions about the properties that we should expect from cosmological correlators, regardless of the specific details of the interactions.

We will now focus on a small number of specific models, primarily as a sanity check — to confirm that our general conclusions are realised in practice — but also to make many of our main ideas more concrete and intuitive. Throughout this section we will work in d = 3 spatial dimensions (except for the purposes of dimensional regularisation).

5.1 Conformally coupled scalar

As our first example, consider a conformally coupled scalar field on a fixed de Sitter background,

$$\mathcal{H}[\sigma, \Sigma] = \int_{\mathbf{k}} \left[\frac{1}{2\Omega^{d-1}} \Sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \Sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} + \frac{\Omega^{d-1}}{2} \left(k^2 + \frac{2}{\eta^2} \right) \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \right] + \mathcal{H}_{\text{int}} , \qquad (5.1)$$

where Σ is the momentum conjugate to σ , and $\Omega = 1/(-H\eta)$.

Free theory

We begin by solving the free theory, with $\mathcal{H}_{int} = 0$.

Gaussian coefficient. The two-point wavefunction coefficient is given by solving the nonlinear first-order differential equation (2.9), with $\nu = 1/2$ (i.e. $\Delta = 1$), which gives,

$$c_{\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{1}{H^2 \eta^3} + \frac{ik}{H^2 \eta^2} \left(1 - \frac{2\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}}{\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} - e^{i2k\eta}} \right),$$
(5.2)

up to an undetermined constant of integration $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}$. Solving (2.13) for the mode function introduces a second undetermined constant, N,

$$f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{-H\eta}{\sqrt{2ik}} N(k) \left(e^{-ik\eta} + \left(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} \right)^* e^{+ik\eta} \right) \,. \tag{5.3}$$

The choice of N does not affect any wavefunction coefficient, and it is conventional to set $N(k) = 1/\sqrt{1 - |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2}$ in order to normalise the Wronskian, $f_{\mathbf{k}}^{*} \partial_{\eta} f_{\mathbf{k}} = -iH^2 \eta^2$ (which gives canonical commutation relations). Choosing the Bunch-Davies vacuum in the past corresponds to setting the integration constant $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}} = 0$ (which ensures that $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) \sim e^{-ik\eta}$ at early times). Note that we have chosen the constant phase of $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ so that, when restricted to the Bunch-Davies state, $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta)$ implies simply $|\mathbf{k}| = -|\mathbf{k}|$.

de Sitter isometries. (3.14) and (3.18) give the following two-point correlation functions,

$$\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle'(\eta) = -\frac{H^2 \eta^2}{2k} \frac{1 + |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2 + 2\mathrm{Re}\left[\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}} e^{i2k\eta}\right]}{1 - |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2}, \qquad (5.4)$$

$$\langle \Sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle'(\eta) = \frac{i}{2} - \frac{1}{2k\eta} \frac{1 + |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\rm in}|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\left[\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\rm in}(1 + ik\eta)e^{i2k\eta}\right]}{1 - |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\rm in}|^2}, \qquad (5.5)$$

$$\langle \Sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \Sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle'(\eta) = -\frac{k \left(1 - |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2 + \frac{\left(1 + |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\left[\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}(1 + ik\eta)e^{i2k\eta}\right]\right)^2}{k^2 \eta^2 (1 - |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2)} \right)}{2H^2 \eta^2 \left(1 + |\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\left[\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{in}}e^{i2k\eta}\right]\right)},$$
(5.6)

where Σ is the momentum conjugate to σ . For the corresponding unequal-time correlator to be invariant under dilations, $\sum_J D_J \langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1) \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2}(\eta_2) \rangle = 0$, the equal-time correlator (with $\delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2)$ removed), must satisfy,⁴²

$$(3 - \eta \partial_{\eta} + k \partial_{k}) \langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle'(\eta) = 0, \qquad (5.7)$$

which in the case of (5.4) sets $\partial_k \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} = 0$ (and we have assumed rotational invariance, so that $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}$ is a function of k only). Note that invariance under the other three de Sitter isometries, $\sum_J K_J \langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle' = 0$, is automatic since K_J is odd in \mathbf{k}_J (and $\mathbf{k}_1 = -\mathbf{k}_2$). The same conclusion is reached by instead applying (3.38) and (3.41) directly to (5.2).

Boundary coefficient. If we instead write c_2 in terms of the late time boundary condition α_k , so that,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{1}{H^2\eta^3} + \frac{k}{H^2\eta^2} \frac{\alpha_k \cos(k\eta) - k\sin(k\eta)}{k\cos(k\eta) + \alpha_k \sin(k\eta)},$$
(5.8)

 $\overline{ {}^{42}\text{Note that }\partial_{\eta}\langle\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\ldots\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}\rangle(\eta) = \sum_{J}\partial_{\eta_{J}}\langle\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta_{1})\ldots\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(\eta_{n})\rangle|_{\eta}, \text{ and for the two-point function in particular } k\partial_{k}\langle\phi_{\mathbf{k}}\phi_{-\mathbf{k}}\rangle' = \sum_{J}\mathbf{k}_{J}\cdot\partial_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}\langle\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\rangle'.$

which corresponds to mode functions,

$$f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) \propto \eta \cos(k\eta) + \alpha_k^* \frac{\eta}{k} \sin(k\eta) = \eta + \alpha_k^* \eta^2 + \mathcal{O}(\eta^3), \qquad (5.9)$$

then we see that,

$$\alpha_k = ik \; \frac{1 + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}}{1 - \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}},\tag{5.10}$$

consistent with the general relation (4.18). The Bunch-Davies condition in the past corresponds to the non-analytic boundary condition $\alpha_k = ik$ in the future, and more generally any de Sitter invariant state is characterised by an $\alpha_k = ik \times \text{const.}$

Quartic interaction, σ^4

Now consider turning on a single quartic interaction, $\mathcal{H}_{int} = \Omega^{d+1} \lambda \frac{1}{4!} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^4$.

Quartic coefficient. Solving (2.24), assuming for the moment a Bunch-Davies boundary condition for c_2 , gives a simple quartic wavefunction coefficient,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta) = \frac{1}{H^{4}\eta^{4}} \left[\frac{i\lambda}{k_{T}} + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{\mathrm{in}} e^{-ik_{T}\eta} \right], \qquad (5.11)$$

in terms of a single undetermined coefficient, $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}^{\text{in}}$ (recall that $k_T = k_1 + k_2 + k_3 + k_4$ is the total $|\mathbf{k}_J|$).

Note that in this case there is no exchange contribution to c_4 , and consequently the constant of motion β_4 (2.43) is given solely by the discontinuity (2.36) of (5.11),

$$\beta_4 = \operatorname{Disc} c_4^I = \frac{\operatorname{Disc} \alpha_4^{\operatorname{in}}}{\sqrt{ik_1 i k_2 i k_3 i k_4}}$$
(5.12)

and $\partial_{\eta}\beta_4 = 0$ is indeed conserved, since it is determined by the initial condition α_4^{in} .

de Sitter isometries. The corresponding equal-time correlators from (3.16) and (3.26) are,

$$\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_4} \rangle'(\eta) = \frac{\lambda H^4 \eta^4}{\prod_j k_j} \left[\frac{1}{k_T} + \operatorname{Im} \left[\alpha_4^{\operatorname{in}} e^{-ik_T \eta} \right] \right], \qquad (5.13)$$

$$\left\langle \Sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_4} \right\rangle'(\eta) = \frac{\lambda H^2 \eta}{\prod_j k_j} \left[\frac{1}{k_T} + \operatorname{Im} \left[\alpha_4^{\operatorname{in}} e^{-ik_T \eta} \right] - \operatorname{Re} \left[\alpha_4^{\operatorname{in}} i k_T \eta e^{-ik_T \eta} \right] \right] \,. \tag{5.14}$$

For the corresponding unequal-time correlator to be invariant under the de Sitter isometries, the equal-time correlator (with $\delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2)$ removed) must satisfy (3.38) and (3.41),

$$+9 - \eta \partial_{\eta} + \sum_{J} k_{J} \partial_{k_{J}} \left(\sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{3}} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{4}} \right)' = 0 \qquad (5.15)$$

$$\sum_{J} \frac{\mathbf{k}_{J}}{k_{J}} \left[\left(4\partial_{k_{J}} + k_{J}\partial_{k_{J}}^{2} \right) \langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}\sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}\sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}\sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{4}} \rangle' - \frac{2\eta}{\Omega^{2}} \partial_{k_{J}} \langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \dots \Sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{J}} \dots \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_{4}} \rangle' \right] = 0, \quad (5.16)$$

where we assumed that the correlator is a function of the $|\mathbf{k}_j|$ only (for a simple ϕ^4 contact interaction, this is guaranteed providing α_4^{in} depends only on the $|\mathbf{k}_j|$). Dilations require that $\alpha_4^{\text{in}} \sim 1/k$, while de Sitter boosts require that $(\partial_{k_I}^2 - \partial_{k_J}^2)\alpha_4^{\text{in}}$ for every pair of Iand J. Obvious solutions are $\alpha_4^{\text{in}} \propto 1/k_T$, and the Bunch-Davies condition, $\alpha_4^{\text{in}} = 0$, which both satisfy these conditions.⁴³ This coincides with the conformal constraints (4.4) and (4.5) placed on α_4^{in} by the isometries $\delta_D \Gamma$ (3.36) and $\delta_{\mathbf{K}} \Gamma$ (3.39) acting directly on the wavefunction.

Boundary coefficient. Near the boundary at $\eta = 0$, there is no divergence in $\eta^4 c_4(\eta)$, and so we can immediately write down the boundary coefficient α_4 in terms of the initial condition α_4^{in} (assuming $\alpha_2^{\text{in}} = 0$),

$$\alpha_4 = \frac{i\lambda}{k_T} + \alpha_4^{\rm in}.\tag{5.17}$$

Providing α_4^{in} satisfies the above conditions, this satisfies the Ward identities of a primary correlator in a 3d CFT. Also note that the Bunch Davies initial condition, $\alpha_4^{\text{in}} = 0$, corresponds to the non-analytical boundary state, $\alpha_4 = i\lambda/k_T$ in the future.

Despite $\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^4$ being a simple local interaction, the expressions (5.11) and (5.17) are not analytic in the momenta since we have enforced a condition on $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}$ in the far past (effectively integrating out the canonical momentum, fixing $\partial_{\eta}\phi$ in terms of a non-analytic function of **k**). Instead, we can write a more general expression for c_4 by leaving the boundary condition for c_2 arbitrary, and utilizing the transfer functions (4.33)–(4.36). For this simple contact interaction, only the $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}^{\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3\sigma_4}(\eta)$ integrals (4.37) are needed, and they are given by,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{----}(\eta') = \frac{1}{\eta'} \int_{0}^{\eta'} d\eta \, \cos(k_{1}\eta) \cos(k_{2}\eta) \cos(k_{3}\eta) \cos(k_{4}\eta)$$
(5.18)

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{+---}(\eta') = \frac{1}{\eta'} \int_{0}^{\eta'} d\eta \, \sin(k_{1}\eta) \cos(k_{2}\eta) \cos(k_{3}\eta) \cos(k_{4}\eta) \quad \dots \quad \text{etc.}$$
(5.19)

These are manifestly analytic outside the horizon (i.e. for $|k\eta| < 1$), for instance,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{----}(\eta) = 1 - \frac{1}{6} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{4} k_{1}^{2}\eta^{2} + \frac{1}{120} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{4} k_{1}^{4}\eta^{4} + \frac{1}{20} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}\eta^{4} + \mathcal{O}(|k\eta|^{6}), \quad (5.20)$$

but then as $|k\eta| \sim 1$ it is necessary to resum this series, which in this simple example can be done exactly,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}}^{----}(\eta) = \frac{1}{16} \sum_{s_{J}=\pm}^{16} \frac{e^{i(s_{1}k_{1}+s_{2}k_{2}+s_{3}k_{3}+s_{4}k_{4})\eta}}{s_{1}k_{1}+s_{2}k_{2}+s_{3}k_{3}+s_{4}k_{4}}$$
(5.21)

which produces the familiar k_T pole, as well as the various folded singularities, as anticipated by our previous Method of Regions argument in section 4.2. Choosing $\alpha_k = ik$ (the Bunch-Davies condition) leads to a cancellation of all folded singularities, producing (5.17), but while this has simplified the analytic structure at $|k\eta| > 1$ it comes at the cost of manifest analyticity at $|k\eta| < 1$ scales.

⁴³We also note that when $\alpha_4^{\text{in}} = 0$, choosing any constant α_2^{in} also gives a $\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_4} \rangle'$ which satisfies (5.15) and (5.16), and therefore any α -vacuum is also consistent with the de Sitter isometries.

General contact contribution, σ^n

For a general $\frac{g}{n!}\Omega^{d+1}\sigma^n$ interaction, the contact contribution to c_n (assuming a Bunch-Davies initial condition for c_2) can be written simply as,

$$c_n(\eta) = \frac{\alpha_n^{\rm in}}{\eta^n} e^{-ik_T\eta} - \frac{g}{\eta^d} e^{-ik_T\eta} E_{n-d+1}(-ik_T\eta) , \qquad (5.22)$$

where we have used d = 3 dimensional mode functions but allowed for a general *d*dimensional volume element Ω^{d+1} in the interaction (since this will allow us to compare with the divergent case n = 3 below). We have also momentarily set H = 1 (since it can always be restored by inspecting the mass dimension of each term).

Constants of motion. Since this is purely a contact contribution to c_n , the discontinuity (2.36) must be conserved. Indeed, we see explicitly that,

$$\beta_n = \operatorname{Disc} c_n^I(\eta) = \frac{\operatorname{Disc} \alpha_n^{\operatorname{in}}}{\sqrt{ik_1 \dots ik_n}} - \frac{\operatorname{Im} g}{\eta^{d-n} \sqrt{ik_1 \dots ik_n}} E_{n-d+1}\left(-ik_T\eta\right)$$
(5.23)

and so for unitary dynamics (i.e. a real potential, so that Im g = 0), β_n is indeed a constant of motion, and is set by the initial condition for α_n^{in} .

de Sitter isometries. A dilation acting on this $c_n(\eta)$ gives,

$$\delta_D c_n(\eta) = \frac{e^{-ik_T \eta}}{\eta^n} \left[-d + n + \sum_J \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J} \right] \alpha_n^{\text{in}}$$
(5.24)

using (3.37) and (4.4). For boosts, notice that since $\partial_{k_1}^2$ and $\frac{1}{k_1} \left(1 - \eta \partial_\eta f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^* / f_{\mathbf{k}_1}^* \right) \partial_{k_1}$ acting on the interaction contribution both yield results which depend only on k_T , the interaction contribution to (3.40) vanishes by momentum conservation, leaving only a special conformal transformation (4.5) acting on α_n^{in} ,

$$\delta_{\mathbf{K}} c_n(\eta) = \frac{e^{-ik_T\eta}}{\eta^n} \sum_J \left[2\left(\Delta_J^- + \mathbf{k}_J \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_J} - \mathbf{k}_J \partial_{\mathbf{k}_J}^2 \right] \alpha_n^{\text{in}} \,. \tag{5.25}$$

The result (5.22) is therefore de Sitter invariant providing that the initial state α_n^{in} is conformally invariant, with the scaling of a correlator of n fields each of weight 2 (= $d - \Delta$ for a conformally coupled mass).

Boundary coefficient. At late times, assuming n > d,

$$c_n(\eta) = \frac{1}{\eta^n} \left[\alpha_n^{\rm in} + \frac{g}{(-ik_T)^{n-d}} \Gamma(n-d) + \mathcal{O}(\eta) \right], \qquad (5.26)$$

we see that this has an order (n-d) pole in k_T .

So the general picture for contact interactions is quite simple. In terms of the α_n near $\eta = 0$, the wavefunction coefficient c_n can be written via transfer functions which are analytic providing every $|k_J\eta| < 1$, e.g.,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}...\mathbf{k}_{n}}^{-...-}(\eta) = \frac{1}{n-d} - \frac{1}{2(n-d+2)} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{n} k_{1}^{2} \eta^{2} + \mathcal{O}(|k\eta|^{4}), \qquad (5.27)$$

but once $|k\eta|$ exceeds 1 then this series resums into k_T poles up to order⁴⁴ (n-d).

⁴⁴Note that if we had considered an interaction with derivatives, then this would also increase the order of the k_T pole (at fixed n - d).

If n = d, then there are divergences in the transfer functions which must be regulated — we will now discuss this case in more detail.

Cubic interaction, σ^3

Consider the single interaction $\mathcal{H}_{int} = \Omega^{d+1} \frac{H}{3!} \lambda \sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^3$ (the factor of H ensures that λ , our expansion parameter, is dimensionless).

Bunch-Davies state. Solving the Hamilton-Jacobi equation gives,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}(\eta) = \frac{e^{i\sum_J k_J\eta}}{H^3\eta^3} \left(\lambda \operatorname{Ei}\left[-ik_T\eta\right] + \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\operatorname{in}}\right)$$
(5.28)

where α_3^{in} is an undetermined constant of integration.

de Sitter isometries. Assuming α_3^{in} is real, the equal-time correlators are,

$$\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle(\eta) = \frac{\lambda H^3 \eta^3}{\prod_J k_J} \left[-(\mathrm{Ci} + \alpha_3^{\mathrm{in}}) \sin + \mathrm{Si} \cos \right] ,$$

$$\langle \Sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle(\eta) = \frac{\lambda H}{\prod_J k_J} \left[-(k_1 \eta \cos + \sin) \left(\mathrm{Ci} + \alpha_3^{\mathrm{in}} \right) + (\cos - k_1 \eta \sin) \mathrm{Si} \right] .$$

$$(5.29)$$

where we have suppressed the $k_T\eta$ argument of sin and cos, as well as of the sine integral, Si, and the cosine integral Ci. Invariance of $\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1}(\eta_1)\sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2}(\eta_2)\sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3}(\eta_3)\rangle$ under dilations and de Sitter boosts places the constraints (3.33) on (5.29), requiring that $\sum_J k_J \partial_{k_J} \alpha_3^{\text{in}} = 0$ and that $(\partial_{k_I}^2 - \partial_{k_J}^2)\alpha_3^{\text{in}} = 0$ for every pair of I and J (where we have used that α_3^{in} can always be written in terms of the three $|\mathbf{k}_j|$ only, using $\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 = 0$). α_3^{in} is therefore constrained to be dimensionless and simultaneously a function of $k_1 \pm k_2$, $k_1 \pm k_3$ and $k_2 \pm k_3$ only — the final requirement of crossing symmetry then fixes α_3^{in} to be a constant.

Boundary divergence. Near the boundary, there is a logarithmic divergence,

$$\operatorname{Ei}\left[-i\sum_{J}k_{J}\eta\right] = \log(ik_{T}\eta) + \gamma_{E} + \mathcal{O}(\eta)$$
(5.30)

and so we must renormalise $\alpha_3 = \lim_{\eta \to 0} H^3 \eta^3 c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}$.

In $d = 3 - \delta$ dimensions, the boundary coefficient α_3 can be computed directly in terms of α_3^{in} using a triple-*H* integral (evaluated in the appendix),

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = N_{1}N_{2}N_{3}\int_{-\infty}^{0} d\eta \ \partial_{\eta}c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{I}$$
$$= \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{\mathrm{in}} + \frac{\lambda}{2}\left[\frac{1}{\delta} + \log\left(k_{T}\right) + \mathrm{finite}\right], \qquad (5.31)$$

where $N_J = i\pi (k_J/2)^{\nu_J}/\Gamma(\tilde{\nu}_J)N(k_J)$ is the finite $\lim_{\eta\to 0} H\eta^{\Delta}/f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$, and $\partial_{\eta}c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \lambda H\Omega^{d+1}f_{\mathbf{k}_1}f_{\mathbf{k}_2}f_{\mathbf{k}_3}$ from the equation of motion (2.27). In the minimal subtraction

scheme (4.42), the coefficient is rendered finite by an additive renormalisation of the boundary condition,

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\text{ren}} - \frac{\lambda\mu^{-\delta}}{2\delta}$$
(5.32)

as discussed in (4.13). This results in a finite α_3^{ren} , which depends logarithmically on the momenta, and satisfies an anomalous conformal Ward identity (4.15).

Rather than start in the Bunch-Davies state and evolve forward until we encounter this divergence at the endpoint of the evolution, we can instead describe the bulk $c_3(\eta)$ using the transfer functions (4.27).

Transfer functions. Since $\sum_i \Delta_i = d$, it is $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^{---}$ which is responsible for the late time divergence in the transfer function,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^{---}(\eta) = \frac{1}{d-3} - \log(\eta) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_J k_J^2 \eta^2 + \mathcal{O}(|k\eta|^4)$$
(5.33)

we see that the transfer function is analytic in momenta for $|k\eta| < 1$, but due to the divergence has developed a logarithmic dependence on η . As we transfer from the boundary at $\eta = 0$ into the bulk, eventually we reach horizon crossing at $|k\eta| \sim 1$ and it is necessary to resum the series. In this case we can perform the resummation exactly,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{---} = \frac{1}{3-d} - \log(\eta) \\ -\frac{1}{8} \sum_{s_{J}=\pm}^{8} \left(\operatorname{Ci}\left((s_{1}k_{1} + s_{2}k_{3} + s_{3}k_{3})\eta \right) - \log\left((s_{1}k_{1} + s_{2}k_{3} + s_{3}k_{3})\eta \right) - \gamma_{E} \right), \quad (5.34)$$

and the series in k^{2j} becomes a logarithmic singularity at large η (in both k_T and its folded counterparts), consistent with our previous expectation of an order n-3 pole from a general contact contribution to c_n .

To remove this divergence from $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{---}$, we must redefine the boundary condition on α_3 ,

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\text{ren}} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} - \frac{\lambda\mu^{d-3}}{d-3}$$
(5.35)

where we have introduced a scale μ required on dimensional grounds. When written in terms of this α_3^{ren} , the coefficient $c_3(\eta)$ is now finite as $d \to 3$ for any value of α_2 . In particular, choosing the Bunch-Davies $\alpha_2 = ik$ removes the folded singularities at early times and produces a renormalised coefficient,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{I}(\eta) = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\mathrm{ren}} + \lambda \left(\mathrm{Ei}[-ik_T\eta] - \log\left(\frac{-ik_T}{\mu}\right) - \gamma_E \right) \,. \tag{5.36}$$

Taking the limit $\eta \to -\infty(1-i\epsilon)$ to connect with the state in the far past, we find that,

$$\alpha_3^{\rm in} = \alpha_3^{\rm ren} - \lambda \log\left(\frac{-ik_T}{\mu}\right) - \lambda \gamma_E \,. \tag{5.37}$$

Setting the scale μ close to k_T ensures that the log is small and allows a constant α_3^{ren} to reproduce the Bunch-Davies correlators in the bulk.

5.2 Massless scalar

Now we will consider a massless scalar, ϕ , on de Sitter, with free Hamiltonian given by (2.4) with m = 0 and $\Omega = 1/(-H\eta)$.

Free theory

The Gaussian width is given by,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{k^2}{H^2\eta(1-ik\eta)},$$
 (5.38)

where we have chosen the Bunch-Davies boundary condition $\alpha_2^{in} = 0$ so that the corresponding mode function,

$$f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{H(1+ik\eta)}{ik} \frac{e^{-ik\eta}}{\sqrt{2ik}},$$
(5.39)

vanishes as $\eta \to -\infty(1 - i\epsilon)$. Note that we have chosen the overall phase of $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$ so that sending $k \to -k$ gives $f_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) \to f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(\eta)$.

This corresponds to a field correlator,

$$\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}} \phi_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle = \frac{H^2}{2k^3} (1 + k^2 \eta^2) \,.$$
 (5.40)

Boundary coefficient. Note that while c_2 diverges as we approach the boundary at $\eta = 0$, since $\Delta = 0$ for massless fields the divergence is softened from $\Delta \eta^{-d}$ to $k^2 \eta^{2-d}/(2\nu - 2)$. In dimensional regularisation this vanishes, but with a hard cutoff at η_{δ} this requires an additional renormalisation of the α_2 boundary condition,

$$\alpha_k = \alpha_k^{\rm in} - \frac{k^2}{3\eta_\delta}, \qquad (5.41)$$

which can be thought of as adding a counterterm $(\partial_{\mu}\phi)^2$ to the effective action. The Bunch-Davies condition in the past corresponds to setting this $\alpha_2^{\text{ren}} = i$ in the future (and not the bare α_2).

This gives a renormalised correlator of boundary sources,

$$\alpha_2^{\rm ren} = \frac{k^3}{iH^2} \tag{5.42}$$

which satisfies the Ward identity for a 3-dimensional two-point function of primary operators each with weight 3.

ϕ^3 interaction

Cubic coefficient. The cubic wavefunction coefficient (with $\alpha_2^{in} = 0$) is given by,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{I}(\eta) = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{\mathrm{in}} + \frac{g}{6\sqrt{2}H(-ik_{1}k_{2}k_{3})^{3/2}} \left(-\mathrm{Ei}[ik_{T}\eta]\sum_{\mathrm{perm.}}^{3}ik_{1}^{3} - \frac{ik_{1}}{\eta^{2}} + \frac{k_{1}^{2}-k_{1}k_{2}}{\eta}\right),$$

$$e^{ik_{T}\eta}\sum_{\mathrm{perm.}}^{3} \left(\frac{1}{3\eta^{3}} - \frac{ik_{1}}{\eta^{2}} + \frac{k_{1}^{2}-k_{1}k_{2}}{\eta}\right),$$
(5.43)

where $k_T = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$. Note that since the exponential integral obeys $\operatorname{Ei}[z]^* = \operatorname{Ei}[z^*]$, we have that,

$$\operatorname{Disc} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^I(\eta) = \operatorname{Disc} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}^{\operatorname{in}} \tag{5.44}$$

whenever $g\phi^3$ is a unitary interaction (i.e. Im g = 0), and so the $\beta_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \text{Disc } \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\text{in}}$ of the initial state is conserved throughout the time evolution.

de Sitter isometries. This corresponds to an equal-time correlator,

$$\langle \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} \phi_{\mathbf{k}_{3}} \rangle' = \operatorname{Im} \left(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{\operatorname{in}} \prod_{J} f_{\mathbf{k}_{J}}(\eta) \right) + \frac{gH^{2} \sum_{J} k_{J}^{3}}{24k_{1}^{3}k_{2}^{3}k_{3}^{3}} \left(\left(1 - \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} k_{1}k_{2}\eta^{2} \right) \operatorname{Re} \left(e^{-ik_{T}\eta} \operatorname{Ei} \left[ik_{T}\eta \right] \right) - \left(k_{T}\eta + \eta^{3}k_{1}k_{2}k_{3} \right) \operatorname{Im} \left(e^{-ik_{T}\eta} \operatorname{Ei} \left[ik_{T}\eta \right] \right) - 1 \right) + \frac{gH^{2}}{24k_{1}^{3}k_{2}^{3}k_{3}^{3}} \left(k_{1}k_{2}k_{3} \left(1 + \sum_{J} k_{J}^{2}\eta^{2} - \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} k_{1}k_{2}\eta^{2} \right) - \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} k_{1}k_{2}^{2} \right)$$
(5.45)

which indeed obeys (3.33), providing α_3^{in} satisfies the conformal Ward identities (4.4) and (4.5).

Boundary renormalisation. As $\eta \to 0$, the contribution from interactions to (5.43) diverges — the interactions do not turn off fast enough at late times, and lead to a formally infinite change in the wavefunction between α_3^{in} and α_3 on the boundary. To renormalise the divergence in c_3 , we will now write it in terms of the boundary value of Ψ at $\eta \to 0$. Using a hard-cutoff, this is given by,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{I}(\eta) = \lim_{\eta_{\delta} \to 0} \left(f_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta_{\delta}) f_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}(\eta_{\delta}) f_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta_{\delta}) f_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}(\eta_{\delta}) \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta_{\delta}) + \int_{\eta_{\delta}}^{\eta} d\eta' \,\partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta') \right) \quad (5.46)$$

$$= \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{\mathrm{ren}}(\mu) - \frac{g}{H^{4}} \sum_{\mathrm{perm.}}^{3} \left((-2 + 2\gamma_{E} + i\pi)k_{1}^{3} - 2k_{1}^{2}(k_{2} + k_{3}) + \frac{ik_{1}^{3}}{3}\log(-k_{T}\mu) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{g}{6\sqrt{2}H(-ik_{1}k_{2}k_{3})^{3/2}} \left(-\mathrm{Ei}[ik_{T}\eta] \sum_{\mathrm{perm.}}^{3} ik_{1}^{3} + e^{ik_{T}\eta} \sum_{\mathrm{perm.}}^{3} \left(\frac{1}{3\eta^{3}} - \frac{ik_{1}}{\eta^{2}} + \frac{k_{1}^{2} - k_{1}k_{2}}{\eta} \right) \right)$$

where we have renormalised the boundary condition (adopting a minimal subtraction scheme), 45

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{\text{ren}}(\mu) = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} - \frac{2g}{H^{4}} \left[\sum_{\text{perm.}}^{3} \left(\frac{1}{3\eta_{\delta}^{3}} + \frac{k_{1}^{2} - k_{1}k_{2}}{\eta_{\delta}} - \frac{ik_{1}^{3}}{3}\log(-\mu\eta_{\delta}) \right] \right].$$
(5.47)

⁴⁵In order to remove the logarithmic $\log(\eta_{\delta})$ divergence, it is necessary to introduce a scale μ in this redefinition.

This produces a $c_3(\eta)$ which is now finite for any η (assuming $|\eta| > |\eta_{\delta}|$ before η_{δ} is taken to zero), and which asymptotes to $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\text{ren}}$ at the boundary. Choosing Bunch-Davies in the past, $\alpha_3^{\text{in}} = 0$ in (5.43), corresponds to choosing,

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\text{ren}} = \frac{g}{H^4} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^3 \left((-2 + 2\gamma_E + i\pi)k_1^3 - 2k_1^2(k_2 + k_3) \right) , \qquad (5.48)$$

in (5.46). At the conformal boundary, the Bunch-Davies vacuum corresponds to a non-local state.

The coefficient of the logarithmic running is scheme-independent. For instance, using instead dimensional regularisation,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{I}(\eta) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} + \int_{0}^{\eta} d\eta' \, \partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(\eta') \right) \\ = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(-\frac{i}{H^{4}} \, \frac{k_{1}^{3} + k_{2}^{3} + k_{3}^{3}}{3\delta} \right) \,, \tag{5.49}$$

requires a different redefinition of the boundary condition,⁴⁶

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\text{ren}} - \mu^{-\epsilon} \frac{k^3}{\delta}$$
(5.50)

but produces a renormalised coefficient with the same $\log(k\mu)$ dependence on the RG scale μ .

Boundary operator mixing. For massless scalars, $\Delta^- = 0$ and so $2\Delta^- + \Delta^+ - d = 0$ and the three-point function has a logarithmic semi-local divergence. The renormalisation of α_3 can be understood as the operator redefinition,

$$\phi \to \phi - \frac{g}{\delta} \phi^2 \,, \tag{5.51}$$

which implements the following redefinition of the boundary condition,

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}^{\mathrm{ren}} - \frac{2g}{\epsilon}\alpha_2 \,, \quad \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4} = \alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_4}^{\mathrm{ren}} - \frac{g}{\delta}\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} - \frac{g}{\delta^2}\alpha_2 \,, \quad \dots \quad (5.52)$$

Note that since we are working with the Bunch-Davies initial condition, $\alpha_2^{\text{in}} = 0$, this corresponds to $\alpha_2 = ik^3$, and so (5.52) indeed corresponds to (5.50) for α_3 .

5.3 EFT of inflation

Let us move from the pure de Sitter spacetime to discuss inflation. An inflationary epoch can be thought of as a de Sitter spacetime where time translations are spontaneously broken. This broken symmetry will imply the existence of a Goldstone mode $\pi(x)$. From an effective field theory point of view we can write the most general action for the scalar field π which is consistent with the rest of the symmetries of de Sitter. The advantge of this approach is that we can be rather agnostic about the field content of de Sitter, and for example include the case where there is a non canonical kinetic term for the inflaton.

 $^{^{46}}$ The mass dimension of $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}$ requires the addition of a scale μ in this redefinition.

There is a general procedure for implementing this [11], where one starts by writing down the most general action consistent with softly broken time traslations. This implies that, for example, the first terms will be $S \sim \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}(c(t)R+g^{00}+\Lambda(t)+\ldots)$, where the coefficients c(t) and $\Lambda(t)$ parametrise the new time dependence, and the dots are higher order terms in derivatives of the metric. To obtain the Goldstone mode one reintroduces time reparametrisations via the Stuckelberg trick, $t \to t - \pi(x)$. Doing so, one gets an action for the graviton and the scalar field π . This action contains the kinetic term and also the self interactions of the Goldston mode, but also all allowed interactions with the graviton, so solving the system in full generality is not possible analytically.

In order to proceed let us notice following [11], that the leading order mixing term of the scalar field π with the graviton is given by $2M_{\rm Pl}{}^2\dot{H}\dot{\pi}\delta g^{00} \sim -6M_{\rm Pl}{}^2\dot{H}(\epsilon H^2\pi^2)$. This has to be compared with the kinetic term for π , $-M_{\rm Pl}{}^2\dot{H}\dot{\pi}^2$. We have that,

$$\frac{\text{mixing}}{\text{kinetic}} = \frac{3\epsilon H^2 \pi^2}{\dot{\pi}^2} = \frac{3\epsilon H^2}{\omega^2}.$$
(5.53)

The mixing becomes negligible in the limit when frequencies are $\omega \gg \omega_{\text{mix}} \equiv \sqrt{\epsilon}H$. So large frequency modes are effectively decoupled from gravitational fluctuations, and we can write the action for Goldstone mode on a fixed curved background neglecting couplings with the graviton modes. The decoupled action is,⁴⁷

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[-\frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2 \dot{H}}{c_s^2} \left(\dot{\pi}^2 - c_s^2 \frac{(\partial_i \pi)^2}{a^2} \right) + M_{\rm Pl}^2 \dot{H} \frac{(1 - c_s^2)}{c_s^2} \left(\dot{\pi}^3 - \dot{\pi} \frac{(\partial_i \pi)^2}{a^2} \right) - \frac{4}{3} M_3^4 \dot{\pi}^3 \right] + \dots$$
(5.54)

First let us note that modes leave the horizon at $\omega = H$, so we can relate the Goldstone to observations by considering this action. Let us discuss the action (5.54). Besides the usual kinetic term we have introduced the speed of sound for the peturbations c_s^2 . This parametrises the effect of a non-canonical kinetic term (and also as the effect of integrated out heavy degree of freedoms [45–47]). Note that when $c_s \neq 1$ scale invariance is broken even at $k\eta \to 0$ and so fixing the correlation functions by using conformal symmetry at the future infinity is no longer possible. The second term M_3^4 , parameterises self interactions of the Goldstone mode and is present even in single field inflation where it is of order ϵ^2 .

It is convenient to introduce the symmetry breaking scale $f_{\pi}^4 \equiv 2M_{\rm Pl}^2 |\dot{H}| c_s$, which corresponds to the scale when time traslations are broken [20]. For the case of single field inflation $f_{\pi}^4 = \dot{\phi}$, which matches the intuition that a background spontaneously break the de Sitter symmetry.

Equations of motion. To calculate the Hamiltonian associated to (5.54) we first need the conjugate momentum to π , $P_{\pi} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial_{\pi}}$, which is a non linear equation in $\dot{\pi}$. We can invert this relation if we consider that $f_{\pi}^{-4} \ll 1$. Using the solution for $\dot{\pi}$ we can write

⁴⁷Note that we are working to leading order in a slow-roll expansion, and neglecting the time dependence of the Wilson coefficients and the corresponding mass term for π .

down the Hamiltonian, which at leading order is,

$$H = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{c_s^3}{8f_\pi^4} P_\pi^2 + 2\sqrt{-g} \frac{f_\pi^4}{a^2 c_s} \nabla_\pi^2 - \frac{(c_s^2 - 1)}{2a^2} P_\pi (\nabla \pi)^2 + \frac{1}{g} \left(\frac{c_s^6(c_s^2 - 1)}{32f_\pi^8} + \frac{1}{48} \frac{M_3^4 c_s^9}{f_\pi^{12}} \right) P_\pi^3 + \dots$$
(5.55)

For energies much below the symmetry breaking scale f_{π}^4 , the wavefunction evolution is given by the Schrödinger equation $H = \partial_{\eta}S$. Now given an observed state $|\Psi\rangle$ we can constrain the coefficients of the Hamiltonian by assuming that the initial state was Bunch Davis. The equation for the two point function is given by

$$3Hc_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}} + \frac{1}{a^2}\partial_\eta c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}} = \frac{c_s^3}{f_\pi^4}c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}^2 + \frac{f_\pi^4}{c_s}\frac{1}{a^2}k^2.$$
 (5.56)

This equation looks similar to a massless scalar field on FLRW but now the coefficients are time dependent. The above equation can be solved analytically when we consider de Sitter evolution and that c_s and f_{π}^4 are time and scale independent. We have that,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = \frac{f_{\pi}^4 H^2}{c_s^3} \frac{k^2 \eta^2 c_s^2}{1 + ik\eta c_s},\tag{5.57}$$

where to fix the initial conditions we have assumed a Bunch-Davies initial state. In general inflation breaks the de Sitter isometries and in particular the spacetime is no longer conformally invariant at $k\eta \rightarrow 0$.

The Hamiltonian (5.55) contains interactions which are higher order in momentum and that we did not take into account before. We can still use (2.24) to obtain the wavefunction coefficients. For example the equation for the three point function is given by,

$$\left(3H + \frac{1}{a^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \right) c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} = \\ \left(\frac{c^6_s (c^2_s - 1)}{32 f^8_\pi} + \frac{1}{48} \frac{M^4_3 c^9_s}{f^{12}_\pi} \right) \prod_{i=1}^3 \frac{c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_i}} - \frac{(c^2_s - 1)}{a^2} f_{\mathbf{k}_1} f_{\mathbf{k}_2} f_{\mathbf{k}_3} \sum_{\text{perms}(1,2,3)} \frac{c^{I}_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}}}{f_{\mathbf{k}_i} f_{-\mathbf{k}_i}} (\mathbf{k}_j \cdot \mathbf{k}_k)$$

$$(5.58)$$

Boundary coefficients. This differential equation can be brought to an integral form. Although it is possible to specify an arbitrary initial condition, for now let us assume a Bunch-Davies initial state. This allows to specify the contour at $\eta \to -\infty$ so the integral vanishes there. Then to fix the Hamiltonian one will have to rely on a potentially observed bispectrum. This means that one, in principle, can constrain all the coefficients appearing in the Hamiltonian (5.55). The first term appears in slow roll inflation, in which case $c_s = 1$ and $\frac{1}{48} \frac{M_3^4 c_s^9}{f_{\pi}^{12}} = -\frac{1}{\epsilon}$, where ϵ is the slow roll parameter. The three point function coefficient is given by,

$$(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}})_{\dot{\pi}^{3}} \sim \frac{(H\eta_{\delta})^{3}}{\prod_{i=1}^{3} f_{\mathbf{k}_{i}}^{*}(\eta_{\delta})} \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\delta}} \frac{d\eta'}{(H\eta')^{4}} \prod_{i=1}^{3} f_{\mathbf{k}_{i}}^{*}(\eta') c_{\mathbf{k}_{i}-\mathbf{k}_{i}}(\eta')$$
$$= \frac{1}{a(\eta_{\delta})^{3}} \left(\frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}}{(k_{1}+k_{2}+k_{3})^{3}} + \mathcal{O}(\eta_{\delta}) \right)$$
(5.59)

When $c_s \neq 1$ the second term also contributes to the three point function. After a straightforward calculation we get,

$$(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}})_{\dot{\pi}\nabla\pi^{2}} = \frac{c_{s}^{2}-1}{a(\eta_{\delta})^{3}\prod_{i=1}^{3}f_{\mathbf{k}_{i}}^{*}(\eta_{\delta})} \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\delta}} \frac{d\eta'}{(H\eta')^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{3}f_{\mathbf{k}_{i}}^{*}(\eta') \sum_{\text{perm.}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}-\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\eta')\mathbf{k}_{2}\cdot\mathbf{k}_{3}$$
$$= \frac{c_{s}^{2}-1}{a(\eta_{\delta})^{3}} \sum_{\text{perm.}} \left(\frac{k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2}-k_{3}^{2}}{(k_{1}+k_{2}+k_{3})^{3}}k_{1}^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+3k_{1}(k_{2}+k_{3})+2(k_{2}^{2}+3k_{2}k_{3}+k_{3}^{2}))+\mathcal{O}(\eta_{\delta})\right) (5.60)$$

Both results match known expressions at $\eta \to 0$ for the three point function [48].

Bulk coefficients. We close this section with explicit formulae for the wavefunction in the EFT of inflation at finite η ,

$$(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}})_{\dot{\pi}^{3}}^{S} \sim (H\eta)^{3} \int_{-\infty}^{\eta} \frac{d\eta'}{(H\eta')^{4}} \prod_{i=1}^{3} \left(K_{\mathbf{k}_{i}}(\eta')c_{\mathbf{k}_{i}-\mathbf{k}_{i}}(\eta') \right)$$
$$= \frac{i}{k_{T}^{3}} \prod_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{k_{i}}{k_{i}\eta-i} \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} k_{i}\eta \left(k_{T}\eta-2i \right) - 2 \right)$$
(5.61)

When $c_s \neq 1$ the second term also contributes to the three point function,

$$(c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}})_{\pi\nabla\pi^{2}}^{S} = \frac{c_{s}^{2}-1}{a(\eta)^{3}} \int_{-\infty}^{\eta} \frac{d\eta'}{(H\eta')^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{3} K_{k_{i}}(\eta') \sum_{\text{perms}(1,2,3)} (c_{\mathbf{k}_{i}-\mathbf{k}_{i}}(\eta')\mathbf{k}_{j}\cdot\mathbf{k}_{k})$$
$$= -\frac{(c_{s}^{2}-1)a(\eta)^{-3}}{(k_{1}\eta-i)(k_{2}\eta-i)(k_{3}\eta-i)k_{T}^{3}}$$
$$\times \sum_{\text{perm}}^{3} k_{1}^{2} \left(-k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2}+k_{3}^{2}\right) \left((2k_{T}-k_{1})k_{T}+2k_{2}k_{3}+ik_{T}(k_{1}k_{T}+2k_{2}k_{3})\eta-k_{T}^{2}k_{2}k_{3}\eta^{2}\right) \quad (5.62)$$

6 Discussion

In this work, we have studied the time evolution of scalar field correlators on a fixed de Sitter background using the wavefunction in the Schrödinger picture. This is a concrete arena in which to explore properties of cosmological correlators, since the dominant signals produced during inflation originate in the correlations of a scalar field on a quasi-de Sitter background. Rather than focus on any particular model of inflation, we have assumed only that the interaction Hamiltonian has certain foundational properties — namely unitary, de Sitter invariance and locality. We have shown that,

- Unitarity \Rightarrow One constant of motion, β_n , for every wavefunction coefficient $c_n(\eta)$.
- de Sitter \Rightarrow Constraints on equal-time correlators (of both ϕ and Π) and wavefunction coefficients (which depend explicitly on \mathcal{H}_{int}) at any time in the bulk — the latter reduce to the familiar conformal Ward identities at $\eta \to 0$.
- Locality \Rightarrow Analyticity of transfer functions outside the horizon as a result, nonanalyticities in the bulk $c_n(\eta)$ only arise when $|k\eta| > 1$ and fields enter the horizon and begin to oscillate (or from the boundary condition itself).

These results have a number of interesting consequences. Firstly, the absence of a conserved invariant energy with which to label states on de Sitter has long made describing interactions more difficult than on Minkowski space. Since our β_n are conserved in any unitary theory, and can be computed from the initial data (assuming the free theory can be solved exactly so that **k** can be identified from $f_{\bar{\mathbf{k}}}(\eta) = f^*_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta)$, they could be used as good quantum numbers to label the different states in the Hilbert space. Furthermore, since the constraints from de Sitter isometries in the bulk may depend explicitly on the interaction Hamiltonian, it seems that performing a model-independent bootstrap (in which c_n is determined by symmetries alone) is only possible in the limits where the interactions turn off — namely $\eta \to -\infty$ in the far past, and $\eta \to 0$ at late times (modulo IR divergences). Finally, although the Bunch-Davies initial condition (fixing $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} = 0$ in the past) often results in a simpler analytic structure for the correlators (e.g. removing the folded non-analyticities), this corresponds to a non-analytic boundary condition at late times $(\alpha_{\mathbf{k}} = k)$ and can obscure the otherwise analytic behaviour of $c_n(\eta)$ near the conformal boundary. Rather than studying $c_n(\eta)$ itself, whose analytic structure is sensitive to the initial conditions, one might investigate the properties of objects like $\delta c_n / \delta \alpha_{n'}|_{\alpha_i=0}$, which are always analytic outside the horizon, and more closely resemble a scattering amplitude (since it is the change in the (final) bulk state in response to a change in the (initial) boundary state).

Furthermore, there are interesting connections between our results and other recent progress from a purely boundary perspective. The asymptotic expansion of our equations of motion for the wavefunction coefficients is similar to the Hamilton-Jacobi approach to Holographic Renormalisation [43, 49, 50], in which the equations of motions are solved perturbatively in a derivative expansion (in order to identify the required local counterterms), which also underpins recent holographic approaches to inflationary cosmology [51–56]. The boundary divergences which we have encountered are entirely distinct from the bulk divergences from loops, which have a separate degree of divergence and must be renormalised at any η , not just at the boundary (they are related to the divergences that appear in flat space, and can be resummed using dynamical RG [57]). Recently, [44] has proposed a soft de Sitter EFT for superhorizon modes — it would be interesting to explore further the connection between the Hamiltonian approach used here (in particular our transfer functions and boundary renormalisation) and the Lagrangian approach of [44].

Although we have worked throughout at weak coupling (i.e. tree level only), we believe that much of our construction can be carried over to loop corrections as well (using the fully non-perturbative (2.24)) — this is certainly an important next step. In particular, the loop corrections can also exhibit secular divergences near the boundary and affect the dynamics of long wavelength modes, as recently described in [58] (see also [59, 60]) as systematic corrections to Starobinsky's stochastic description [61]. In terms of diagrams, although we have assumed that a weak coupling suppressed loop diagrams relative to tree diagrams, if a loop contribution were to diverge near the boundary faster than the treelevel coefficient then one might worry that this invalidates perturbation theory for any finite value of the coupling (no matter how small). Here we adopt the view that, since physical observables at the boundary are finite, it should be possible to systematically renormalise these divergences, defining a new set of boundary operators (with finite correlators) which are related to the bulk operators by a (singular) boundary operator expansion. We have shown this explicitly for the boundary divergences which occur at tree-level (from a bulk operator colliding with its image at the boundary), and in the future it would be interesting to investigate how the loop-level divergences might be similarly absorbed into coefficients of a boundary operator expansion, and also how this procedure could be related to the stochastic approach.

In the future, it is imperative that we continue to exploit the connections between cosmological correlators and amplitudes. For instance, our equation of motion for c_4 takes the form of a factorisation condition, $\partial_{\eta}c_4 \sim c_3c_3$, and one could explore whether there is some general factorisation theorem for cosmological correlators (akin to the factorisation of flat space amplitude) — see for instance [62–64] for recent discussions of the consistency conditions imposed by factorisation when Lorentz boosts are broken. Further, combining such axiomatic properties of the S-matrix (namely unitarity, causality, locality and Lorentz invariance) gives rise to powerful UV/IR relations known as "positivity bounds" [65]. One key goal should be to develop analogous relations for cosmological correlators, so that our late-time (low-energy) observables can be translated into statements about UV properties of the fields/interactions present during inflation.⁴⁸

Cosmological correlators offer an exiting new window into the early Universe and fundamental physics in the high-energy regime. As a new generation of cosmological surveys searches the skies for signs of primordial non-Gaussianity, we must be ready with a developed theoretical framework for translating these observations into concrete features of the high-energy inflationary Universe. In this work, we have made a step forward in deriving model-independent constraints on the evolution of the wavefunction — from fundamental properties like unitarity, de Sitter invariance and locality — and hereby advanced this ambitious cosmological correlator programme.

Acknowledgments

SM is supported by an Emmanuel College Research Fellowship. SC is supported through MCIU (Spain) through contract PGC2018-096646-A-I00 and by the IFT UAM-CSIC Centro de Excelencia Severo Ochoa SEV-2016-0597 grant. This work has been partially supported by STFC consolidated grant ST/P000681/1.

A Comparison with wavefunctions on Minkowski spacetime

In this short appendix we compare some of our above (de Sitter) discussion with the Minkowski case.

 $^{^{48} \}mathrm{See} \ [22]$ for an application of these ideas to subhorizon scattering during inflation and [66] for an anti-de Sitter analogue.

Equations of motion

Since $c_2 = ik$ and time-translation invariance sets $\partial_{\eta}c_n = 0$, the equations of motion (2.24) for the wavefunction coefficients become purely algebraic,

$$0 = ik_T c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_n} + \frac{\delta^n \mathcal{H}}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1} \dots \delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}} + \text{exchange}$$
(A.1)

and the *n*-point coefficient is related to lower order coefficients (as well as bulk sources) by a simple factor of i/k_T .

Since the mode functions are simply $f_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = e^{-ikt}/\sqrt{2ik}$, they have the property that $f_{\mathbf{\bar{k}}}(t) = f_{\mathbf{k}}^*(t)$ for $|\mathbf{\bar{k}}| = -|\mathbf{k}|$. The constants of motion (2.43) are also conserved on Minkowski space (and indeed on any conformally flat spacetime), but with the simple relation for $\mathbf{\bar{k}}$ the Disc in (2.36) can now be interpreted as a genuine discontinuity of the function as one crosses $|\mathbf{k}| = 0$. See [24] for a detailed discussion of this important point.

Minkowski isometries

The isometries of Minkowski spacetime are,

$$P_{\alpha} = \partial_{\alpha}$$
 and $M_{\alpha\beta} = x_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta} - x_{\beta}\partial_{\alpha}$. (A.2)

Invariance of the scalar field action $S = \int d^4x \mathcal{L}$ under these symmetries leads to 10 conserved Noether currents,

$$J_{P_{\alpha}}^{\ \mu} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial_{\mu} \phi} \partial_{\alpha} \phi - \delta_{\alpha}^{\mu} \mathcal{L}$$
(A.3)

$$J^{\mu}_{M_{\alpha\beta}} = x_{\alpha}J^{\mu}_{P_{\beta}} - x_{\beta}J^{\mu}_{P_{\alpha}}, \qquad (A.4)$$

whose corresponding charges may be written in terms of the Hamiltonian density and canonical momenta,

$$Q_{P_0} = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}} \,, \qquad Q_{P_i} = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \,\Pi_{\mathbf{x}} \partial_i \phi_{\mathbf{x}} \tag{A.5}$$

$$Q_{M_{0i}} = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \left[-t \,\Pi_{\mathbf{x}} \partial_i \phi_{\mathbf{x}} - \mathbf{x}_i \,\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}} \right] \tag{A.6}$$

In the quantum theory, these must be normally ordered. For instance, the charge associated with translations may be written

$$\hat{Q}_{P_i} = \int_{\mathbf{k}} i \mathbf{k}_i \, \frac{\hat{\Pi}_{-\mathbf{k}} \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} + \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{\Pi}_{-\mathbf{k}}}{2} = \int_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{k}_i \, \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} \tag{A.7}$$

so that a one-particle state, $\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$ has momentum +**k**. The charge associated with boosts may be written,⁴⁹

$$\hat{Q}_{M_{0i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{q}^{i}} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}} \big|_{\mathbf{q}=0} \,, \tag{A.8}$$

⁴⁹Note that since the charge is time-independent we can define the Schrödinger-picture operator using the classical $Q_{M_{0i}}$ at t = 0.

where $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}} = \int_{\mathbf{x}} e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}}$ is the momentum space Hamiltonian density, such that $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}=0}$ is the usual Hamiltonian and generator of time translations. In the free theory,

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}} = \int_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2} \frac{k_1 k_2 - \mathbf{k}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k}_2}{2\sqrt{k_1 k_2}} \, \hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_1} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_2} \, \delta(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2) \tag{A.9}$$

$$= \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}=0} + \mathbf{q} \cdot \left(\int_{\mathbf{k}} k \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \partial_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + \int_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\mathbf{k}}{2k} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} \right) + \mathcal{O}(q^2) \,. \tag{A.10}$$

Note that $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\dagger} = \mathcal{H}_{-\mathbf{q}}$ since the Hamiltonian is Hermitian. This generates the expected transformation of $\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}$,

$$[\hat{Q}_{M_{0i}}, \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}}] = -it\mathbf{k}\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} - i\partial_{\mathbf{k}}\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}, \qquad (A.11)$$

which is indeed $x_0\partial_i - \mathbf{x}_i\partial_0$ when written in position-space.

Under an infinitesimal boost, the wavefunction $\Psi_i[\phi] = \langle \phi | \Psi_t \rangle$ changes by,

$$\delta \Psi_t[\phi] = \langle \phi | i \hat{Q}_{M_{0i}} | \Psi_t \rangle \,. \tag{A.12}$$

In terms of the effective action, $\Psi_t[\phi] = e^{i\Gamma_t[\phi]}$,

$$\delta_{M_{0i}}\Gamma_{t} = \int_{\mathbf{p}_{1}\mathbf{p}_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{t}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{p}_{1}}} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{t}}{\delta\phi_{\mathbf{p}_{2}}} - \frac{\mathbf{p}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{2}}{2} \phi_{\mathbf{p}_{1}}\phi_{\mathbf{p}_{2}} \right) \partial_{i}\delta^{3}\left(\mathbf{p}_{1} + \mathbf{p}_{2}\right) + \partial_{\mathbf{q}^{i}}\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathrm{int}}\big|_{\mathbf{q}=0} \quad (A.13)$$

where we have split $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}} = \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{\mathbf{x}}^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_i \phi_{\mathbf{x}})^2 + \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{int}}$ into a free and interacting part.

For example, while there are many possible vacuum states, $c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2}(t)$, for Minowski, only one is both time-translation and boost invariant, namely $c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2}(t) = i|\mathbf{k}_1|\delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2)$. In fact, suppose that we demand this particular $\hat{Q}_{M_{0i}}$ as a symmetry (i.e. invariance under boosts with speed c = 1), then if we consider the time evolution generated by,

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{\phi}^2 - c^2 (\partial_i \phi)^2 \right) \tag{A.14}$$

we find that (A.13) requires that c' = 1.

As another example, take the cubic interactions $\lambda \phi^3$ and $\lambda' \phi(\nabla \phi)^2$. The corresponding wavefunction coefficients are,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3}(t) = \lambda \left(\frac{i}{k_T} + \alpha(k_1, k_2, k_3) e^{-ik_T t} \right) \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3)$$
(A.15)

and

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}(t) = \lambda' \left(ik_{T} + \alpha(k_{1}, k_{2}, k_{3})e^{-ik_{T}t} \right) \delta^{3}(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3})$$
(A.16)

respectively, where $k_T = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$. Lorentz invariance in this case requires,

$$\delta c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} = \sum_j k_j \partial_{\mathbf{k}_j} c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} = 0.$$
(A.17)

This is satisfied by the α -independent terms (which were generated by the Lorentz-invariant interactions), but for our initial state to preserve Lorentz-invariance we must have that α

is a function of k_T only.⁵⁰ Further demanding invariance under time-translations requires that α contains a $\delta(k_T)$, and so Lorentz invariance uniquely fixes the three-point coefficients in terms of a single constant,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}(t) = \lambda \left(\frac{i}{k_T} + \text{const.} \times \delta(k_T)\right) \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3)$$
(A.18)

and

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3}(t) = \lambda' \left(ik_T + \text{const.} \times \delta(k_T) \right) \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3)$$
(A.19)

For higher derivative interactions, e.g. $\nabla_\mu\phi\nabla^\mu(\nabla\phi)^2$ has a simple wavefunction coefficient,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_1 + k_2 + k_3} \left[\left(k_1(k_2 + k_3) - \mathbf{k}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k}_{23}\right) \left(k_2k_3 - \mathbf{k}_2 \cdot \mathbf{k}_3\right) + 2 \text{ perms.} \right]. \quad (A.20)$$

Since,

$$\sum_{J} k_{J} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_{J}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = -\frac{c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{k_{T}} \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J} , \qquad (A.21)$$

the boost constraint is satisfied. Note that using momentum conservation we may also write this coefficient more simply as,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = i\lambda \left(k_1\mathbf{k}_2 \cdot \mathbf{k}_3 + 2 \text{ perms.}\right) \tag{A.22}$$

which is consistent with integrating the interaction by parts, contributing only a boundary term $\dot{\phi}(\nabla \phi)^2$ to the on-shell action.

We will now show that the boost constraint (A.13) is also satisfied by in a number of simple examples

Some examples

$\lambda \phi^4$ interaction

Consider a $\lambda \phi^4$ interaction. The corresponding wavefunction coefficient is,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3\mathbf{k}_n} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_T} \,. \tag{A.23}$$

Since,

$$\sum_{J} k_{J} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_{J}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_{T}^{2}} \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J}$$
(A.24)

the boost constraint is satisfied.

⁵⁰By crossing symmetry, α can depend only on the combinations k_T , $k_1^2 + k_2^2 + k_3^2$ and $k_1k_2k_3$. Only the first of these satisfies (A.17).

$\lambda \phi^3$ interaction

Consider a $\lambda \phi^3$ interaction. The corresponding wavefunction coefficients are,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_1 + k_2 + k_3} \tag{A.25}$$

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3 \mathbf{k}_n} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_T (k_1 + k_2 + k_{12})(k_3 + k_4 + k_{34})} + 2 \text{ perms.}$$
(A.26)

and so on. Note that the following ${\bf k}$ derivatives vanish when the total momentum is conserved,

$$\sum_{J} k_{J} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_{J}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_{T}^{2}} \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J}$$
(A.27)

$$\sum_{J} k_{J} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_{J}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}} = \left(\frac{\lambda^{2}}{(k_{1}+k_{2}+k_{12})(k_{3}+k_{4}+k_{34})} + 2 \text{ perms.}\right) \frac{1+k_{T}}{k_{T}^{2}} \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J}$$
(A.28)

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}_{12}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\mathbf{k}_{12}}c_{\mathbf{k}_{3}\mathbf{k}_{4}\mathbf{k}_{12}}+2 \text{ perms} = \left(\frac{\lambda^{2}}{k_{12}(k_{1}+k_{2}+k_{12})^{2}(k_{3}+k_{4}+k_{34})}+2 \text{ perms.}\right)\sum_{J}\mathbf{k}_{J}$$
(A.29)

and so the boost constraint is satisfied for any \mathbf{k}_{J} .

$\lambda \phi (\nabla \phi)^2$ interaction

Consider a $\lambda \phi(\nabla \phi)^2$ interaction. The corresponding wavefunction coefficient is,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{k}_3} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_1 + k_2 + k_3} \left(k_1 k_2 - \mathbf{k}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k}_2 + 2 \text{ perms.} \right) \,. \tag{A.30}$$

Since,

$$\sum_{J} k_{J} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_{J}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = -\frac{c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{k_{T}} \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J} , \qquad (A.31)$$

the boost constraint is satisfied. Note that using momentum conservation we may also write this coefficient more simply as,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = i\lambda k_T \tag{A.32}$$

which is consistent with writing the interaction as $\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla^{\mu}(\phi^2)/2$ and integrating by parts, contributing only a boundary term $\dot{\phi}\phi^2$ to the on-shell action.

$\lambda abla_{\mu} \phi abla^{\mu} (abla \phi)^2$ interaction

Consider a $\lambda \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} (\nabla \phi)^2$ interaction. The corresponding wavefunction coefficient is,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = \frac{i\lambda}{k_1 + k_2 + k_3} \left[\left(k_1(k_2 + k_3) - \mathbf{k}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k}_{23} \right) \left(k_2k_3 - \mathbf{k}_2 \cdot \mathbf{k}_3 \right) + 2 \text{ perms.} \right].$$
(A.33)

Since,

$$\sum_{J} k_{J} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{k}_{J}} c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}} = -\frac{c_{\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2}\mathbf{k}_{3}}}{k_{T}} \sum_{J} \mathbf{k}_{J} , \qquad (A.34)$$

the boost constraint is satisfied. Note that using momentum conservation we may also write this coefficient more simply as,

$$c_{\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2\mathbf{k}_3} = i\lambda \left(k_1\mathbf{k}_2 \cdot \mathbf{k}_3 + 2 \text{ perms.}\right) \tag{A.35}$$

which is consistent with integrating the interaction by parts, contributing only a boundary term $\dot{\phi}(\nabla \phi)^2$ to the on-shell action.

Locality and analyticity

Finally, we remark that it would be interesting to study the analogue of our "transfer functions" from section 4.2 on Minkowski space. Although there is no horizon, one could nonetheless imagine specifying a boundary condition for the wavefunction at t = 0, and then write the future time evolution of the state in terms of this boundary condition. By analogy with section 4.2, the coefficients in this expansion should be analytic functions of the momenta for times |t| < 1/k, i.e. before the field begins to oscillate appreciably.

B Some properties of Bessel functions

Dimensional regularisation

In Minkowski, analytically continuing to d dimensions does not change the form of the momentum-space mode function, $e^{ik_{\mu}x^{\mu}}$.

In d dimensions, the free vacuum state is given by,

$$-\partial_{\eta}c_{\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{k}} = \Omega^{1-d}c_{\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{k}}^{2} + \Omega^{1-d}\left(k^{2} + \Omega^{2}m^{2}\right)$$
(B.1)

Choosing the Bunch-Davies vacuum,⁵¹

$$c_{\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = H\Omega^d \left(-\frac{d-2\tilde{\nu}}{2} + \frac{k\eta H_{\tilde{\nu}-1}(-k\eta)}{H_{\tilde{\nu}}(-k\eta)} \right)$$
(B.2)

where H_{ν} is a Hankel function of the first kind, with order given by,

$$\tilde{\nu} = \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} - \frac{m^2}{H^2}} = \nu + \frac{3(d-3)}{4\nu} + \mathcal{O}((d-3)^2), \qquad (B.3)$$

in the limit $d \to 3$, where $\nu = \sqrt{9/4 - m^2/H^2}$. The mode functions, given by $\Omega^{d-1}\partial_{\eta}\tilde{f}_{\mathbf{k}} = c_{\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{k}}\tilde{f}_{\mathbf{k}}$, become,

$$\tilde{f}_{\mathbf{k}}(\eta) = N(k) \,\Omega^{-d/2} \,H_{\tilde{\nu}}(-k\eta) \tag{B.4}$$

⁵¹In principle one could mix in $e^{+ik\eta}$ by an amount which vanishes as $d \to 3$, but we will not explore such schemes.

and its complex conjugate, where N(k) is an overall normalisation which does not affect correlations.

When regulating divergent integrals, the limit $\eta \to 0$ does not commute with taking $d \to 3$. In particular, this means that integrals of the form $\int_{\infty}^{\eta} d\eta/\eta^4 \partial_{\eta} c_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_n}^I$ must be first carried out up to $\eta = 0$ at general d, and only after the integral is performed can we expand in powers of (d-3) (prematurely expanding the integrand in powers of (d-3) would give spurious results). This scheme therefore requires integrals over products of Hankel functions.⁵² For convenience, we collect relevant identities below.

Triple-H integrals

In general, an integral over n Hankel functions can be expressed in closed form as a generalised hypergeometric function of n-1 variables. For example, we will show below that,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} t^{\lambda} \prod_{J=1}^{3} H_{\nu_{J}}^{(1)}(k_{J}t)$$
(B.5)
$$= \frac{i2^{\lambda}}{2\pi^{3}} e^{-i\pi/2} \sum_{J} \nu_{J} \left(k_{3} e^{-i\pi/2}\right)^{-\lambda} \left(A_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} + A_{\nu_{1}-\nu_{2}} + A_{-\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} + A_{-\nu_{1}-\nu_{2}}\right),$$
$$A_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} = \left(\frac{k_{1}}{k_{3}}\right)^{\nu_{1}} \left(\frac{k_{2}}{k_{3}}\right)^{\nu_{2}} \Gamma(-\nu_{1}) \Gamma(-\nu_{2}) \Gamma(a_{1}) \Gamma(a_{2}) F_{4} \left(a_{1}, a_{2}; 1+\nu_{1}, 1+\nu_{2}; \frac{k_{1}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}, \frac{k_{2}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right),$$

where F_4 is the fourth Appell function (hypergeometric series in two variables), $a_1 = (\lambda + \sum_J \nu_J)/2$ and $a_2 = a_1 - \nu_3$, and we have assumed that $\operatorname{Re} (\lambda - \sum_J \nu_J) > 0$ and that the *t* contour can be deformed to $t \to \infty(1 + i\epsilon)$. While these special functions are not particularly enlightening (particularly when n > 3, not much more is known about them than the original Hankel integrals), they can be simplified for particular values of the ν_j . For example, we see from the triple-*H* integral (B.5) with $\lambda = d/2$ the simple pole arising whenever $\Delta_1^- + \Delta_2^- + \Delta_3^- = d$ (i.e. $a_1 = 0$) or $\Delta_1^- + \Delta_2^- + \Delta_3^+ = d$ (i.e. $a_2 = 0$), whose residue is straightforwardly read off using the fact that,

$$F_4(\epsilon, a_2; b_1, b_2; x, y) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon).$$
 (B.6)

In particular, for the three-point coefficient of conformally coupled scalars $(\lambda = d/2, \nu_j = 1/2 \text{ for all } j)$ discussed in section 5, the first subleading correction is,

$$F_4\left(a_1, a_2 \ ; \ 1 - \nu_1, 1 - \nu_2 \ ; \ \frac{k_1^2}{k_3^2}, \frac{k_2^2}{k_3^2}\right)$$

= $1 - 2(d - 3)\frac{\partial}{\partial a_1}F_4\left(a_1, \frac{1}{2} \ ; \ \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2} \ ; \ \frac{k_1^2}{k_3^2}, \frac{k_2^2}{k_3^2}\right)|_{a_1=0} + \mathcal{O}((d - 3)^2)$
= $1 + (d - 3)\log\left(\frac{(k_{23} - k_1)(k_{12} - k_3)(k_{13} - k_2)k_{123}}{k_3^4}\right) + \mathcal{O}((d - 3)^2)$ (B.7)

 $^{^{52}}$ [43] also discuss alternative schemes in which the mode function order is not analytically continued with the spacetime dimension — although computationally simpler, this results in wavefunction coefficients which do not respect the equations of motion (just like a hard cutoff).

when $d \to 3$. Inside the log, the numerator is a manifestly crossing-symmetric function of the k_J , while the denominator cancels against the log coming from the factor of $k_3^{-2a_1} = k_3^{4(d-3)+\dots}$ in (B.5).

In order to derive (B.5), we will make use of the Mellin-Barnes representation of the Bessel functions,

$$J_{\nu}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} ds \Gamma(s) \Gamma(s-\nu) \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{\nu-2s} \frac{i\sin\left(\pi(s-\nu)\right)}{\pi}$$
(B.8)

$$iY_{\nu}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} ds \Gamma(s) \Gamma(s-\nu) \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{\nu-2s} \frac{\cos\left(\pi(s-\nu)\right)}{\pi}$$
(B.9)

$$H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} ds \,\Gamma(s)\Gamma(s-\nu) \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{\nu-2s} \,\frac{e^{i\pi(s-\nu)}}{\pi} \tag{B.10}$$

where c is a real positive constant > $\operatorname{Re}(\nu)$. Using the relation $\pi/\sin(\nu\pi) = \Gamma(\nu)\Gamma(1-\nu)$, we can express⁵³

$$J_{\pm\nu}(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} ds \frac{\Gamma(-s)}{\Gamma(s+1\pm\nu)} \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{2s\pm\nu}$$
(B.11)

$$H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z) = \frac{i}{\sin(\nu\pi)} \left(e^{-i\pi\nu} J_{\nu} - J_{-\nu} \right)$$
(B.12)

and so the triple-H integral is given by,

$$\frac{-1}{\sin(\nu_1\pi)\sin(\nu_2\pi)} \left[\mathcal{I}_{-\nu_1-\nu_2} - e^{-i\pi\nu_1} \mathcal{I}_{-\nu_1\nu_2} - e^{-i\pi\nu_2} \mathcal{I}_{\nu_1-\nu_2} + e^{-i\pi(\nu_1+\nu_2)} \mathcal{I}_{\nu_1\nu_2} \right]$$
(B.13)

where $\mathcal{I}_{\nu_1\nu_2}$ is the integral,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} t^{\lambda} J_{\nu_{1}}(k_{1}t) J_{\nu_{2}}(k_{2}t) H_{\nu_{3}}(k_{3}t) \tag{B.14}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int d^{3}s \, 2\pi i \delta(\lambda + \nu_{T} + 2(s_{1} + s_{2} - s_{3})) \frac{\Gamma(-s_{1})\Gamma(-s_{2})\Gamma(s_{3})\Gamma(s_{3} - \nu_{3})}{\Gamma(s_{1} + 1 + \nu_{1})\Gamma(s_{2} + 1 + \nu_{2})}$$

$$\times \left(\frac{k_{1}}{2}\right)^{2s_{1} + \nu_{1}} \left(\frac{k_{2}}{2}\right)^{2s_{2} + \nu_{2}} \left(\frac{k_{3}}{2}\right)^{\nu_{3} - 2s_{3}} \frac{e^{i\pi(s_{3} - \nu_{3})}}{\pi} \tag{B.15}$$

where $\nu_T = \sum_J \nu_J$ and the integration is $\int d^3 s = \prod_J \int_{c_J - i\infty}^{c_J + i\infty} ds_J$ (with $c_1 > 0$, $c_2 > 0$ and $c_3 > \operatorname{Re}(\nu_3)$), and we have used the identity,

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} t^n = 2\pi i \delta(n) , \qquad (B.16)$$

⁵³Note that while the J_{ν} integral representation is usually defined with $\nu > 0$, we can use that $J_{-\nu} = \cos(\nu\pi)J_{\nu} - \sin(\nu\pi)Y_{\nu}$ to derive the analogous representation also for negative order.

to perform the t integration. We can perform the s_3 integration using the delta function,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} = -\frac{i2^{\lambda}e^{i\pi a_{2}}}{2\pi} \frac{k_{1}^{\nu_{1}}k_{2}^{\nu_{2}}k_{3}^{\nu_{3}}}{k_{3}^{2a_{1}}} \\
\times \int \frac{d^{2}s}{(2\pi i)^{2}} \frac{\Gamma(-s_{1})\Gamma(-s_{2})\Gamma(s_{1}+s_{2}+a_{1})\Gamma(s_{1}+s_{2}+a_{2})}{\Gamma(s_{1}+1+\nu_{1})\Gamma(s_{2}+1+\nu_{2})} \left(-\frac{k_{1}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right)^{s_{1}} \left(-\frac{k_{2}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right)^{s_{2}} \qquad (B.17)$$

$$= \frac{i2^{\lambda}e^{i\pi a_{2}}}{k_{1}^{\nu_{1}}k_{2}^{\nu_{2}}k_{3}^{\nu_{3}}} \Gamma(a_{1})\Gamma(a_{2}) = F_{1}\left(a_{1},a_{2}+1+\nu_{1}+\nu_{2}+1+$$

$$= -\frac{i2^{\lambda}e^{i\Lambda a_{2}}}{2\pi} \frac{k_{1}^{c_{1}}k_{2}^{c_{2}}k_{3}^{s_{3}}}{k_{3}^{2a_{1}}} \frac{\Gamma(a_{1})\Gamma(a_{2})}{\Gamma(1+\nu_{1})\Gamma(1+\nu_{2})} F_{4}\left(a_{1},a_{2}\,;\,1+\nu_{1},1+\nu_{2}\,;\,\frac{k_{1}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}},\frac{k_{2}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right),\tag{B.18}$$

where the δ function has been used to set $s_3 = s_1 + s_2 + (\lambda + \nu_T)/2$, and $\lambda + \nu_T$ is assumed positive. So defining,

$$A_{\nu_1\nu_2} = \left(\frac{k_1}{k_3}\right)^{\nu_1} \left(\frac{k_2}{k_3}\right)^{\nu_2} \Gamma(-\nu_1)\Gamma(-\nu_2)\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2) F_4\left(a_1, a_2 \ ; \ 1+\nu_1, 1+\nu_2 \ ; \ \frac{k_1^2}{k_3^2}, \frac{k_2^2}{k_3^2}\right),$$
(B.19)

the triple-H integral is,

$$\frac{i2^{\lambda}}{2\pi^{3}}e^{-i\nu_{T}\pi/2}\left(k_{3}e^{-i\pi/2}\right)^{-\lambda}\left(A_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}+A_{\nu_{1}-\nu_{2}}+A_{-\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}+A_{-\nu_{1}-\nu_{2}}\right)$$
(B.20)

(note a sign which comes from $\pi/\sin(\nu\pi) = \Gamma(\nu)\Gamma(1-\nu) = -\Gamma(-\nu)\Gamma(1+\nu)$). The sum over four such functions is clearly required by the property $H_{\nu}(z) = e^{i\pi\nu}H_{-\nu}(z)$. The factor of $(k_3e^{-i\pi/2})^{-\lambda}$ out front can be recognized as the analytic continuation from the triple-K integral [27], since $K_{\nu}(z) = \frac{i\pi}{2}e^{i\nu\pi/2}H_{\nu}\left(ze^{i\pi/2}\right)$.

Appel F_4 identities. The Appel F_4 function is a hypergeometric series of two variables,

$$F_4(a_1, a_2; b_1, b_2; x, y) = \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a_1)_{m+n} (a_2)_{m+n}}{(b_1)_m (b_2)_n} x^m y^n,$$
(B.21)

which can be represented as an integral,

$$F_4(a_1, a_2; b_1, b_2; x, y)$$
(B.22)
= $\frac{\Gamma(b_1)\Gamma(b_2)}{\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2)} \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} \frac{ds_1 ds_2}{(2\pi i)^2} \frac{\Gamma(s_1 + s_2 + a_1)\Gamma(s_1 + s_2 + a_2)}{\Gamma(s_1 + b_1)\Gamma(s_2 + b_2)} \Gamma(-s_1)\Gamma(-s_2)(-x)^{s_1}(-y)^{s_2}.$

These representations make manifest the symmetry properties,

$$F_4(a_1, a_2; b_1, b_2; x, y) = F_4(a_2, a_1; b_1, b_2; x, y) = F_4(a_1, a_2; b_2, b_1; y, x)$$
(B.23)

as well as various recurrence relations such as,

$$a_2 \left(F_4(a_1, a_2 + 1 ; b_1, b_2 ; x, y) - F_4(a_1, a_2 ; b_1, b_2 ; x, y) \right) = a_1 \left(F_4(a_1 + 1, a_2 ; b_1, b_2 ; x, y) - F_4(a_1, a_2 ; b_1, b_2 ; x, y) \right)$$
(B.24)

Less obvious is the crossing relation,

$$F_{4}\left(a_{1}, a_{2} ; b_{1}, b_{2} ; \frac{k_{1}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}, \frac{k_{2}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right)$$
(B.25)
$$= \frac{\Gamma(b_{2})\Gamma(a_{2} - a_{1})}{\Gamma(a_{2})\Gamma(b_{2} - a_{1})} \left(e^{i\pi} \frac{k_{2}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right)^{-a_{1}} F_{4}\left(a_{1}, a_{1} - b_{2} + 1 ; b_{1}, a_{1} - a_{2} + 1 ; \frac{k_{1}^{2}}{k_{2}^{2}}; \frac{k_{3}^{2}}{k_{2}^{2}}\right)$$
$$+ \frac{\Gamma(b_{2})\Gamma(a_{1} - a_{2})}{\Gamma(a_{1})\Gamma(b_{2} - a_{2})} \left(e^{i\pi} \frac{k_{2}^{2}}{k_{3}^{2}}\right)^{-a_{2}} F_{4}\left(a_{2}, a_{2} - b_{2} + 1 ; b_{1}, a_{2} - a_{1} + 1 ; \frac{k_{1}^{2}}{k_{2}^{2}}; \frac{k_{3}^{2}}{k_{2}^{2}}\right)$$

which exchanges $k_2 \leftrightarrow k_3$, and can be used to show that the expression (B.20) is crossing symmetric under the exchange of 2 and 3.

In practice the above representation (B.21) is of little use because the series only converges for $|x|^{1/2} + |y|^{1/2} < 1$, which in terms of k_1 and k_2 corresponds to $k_1 + k_2 < k_3$ (which is inconsistent with the triangle inequality required by momentum conservation), and little is known about the analytic structure of F_4 beyond this domain. However, for certain values of $\{\lambda, \nu_1, \nu_2, \nu_3\}$, the Appell function may be expressed in terms of more elementary functions (products of two hypergeometric functions of a single variable), which can be analytically continued in a straightforward way to the physical region $k_1 + k_2 > k_3$.

In particular, the fourth Appel function F_4 reduces to the first Appel function F_1 whenever $a_2 = b_2$,

$$F_4\left(a_1, b_2 \ ; \ b_1, b_2 \ ; \ \frac{-x}{(1-x)(1-y)}, \frac{-y}{(1-x)(1-y)}\right)$$

= $(1-x)^{a_1}(1-y)^{a_1} F_1\left(a_1, \ b_1-b_2, 1+a_1-b_1 \ ; \ b_1 \ ; \ x, xy\right)$. (B.26)

When b_1 also coincides with b_2 ,

$$F_1(a_1, 0, 1 + a_1 - b_2; b_2; x, xy) = {}_2F_1(a_1, 1 + a_1 - b_2; b_2; xy)$$
(B.27)

and when b_1 coincides with $1 + a_1 - b_2$,

$$F_1(a_1, 1 + a_1 - 2b_2, b_2; 1 + a_1 - b_2; x, xy)$$
(B.28)
= $(1 - x)^{-a_1} {}_2F_1\left(a_1, b_2; 1 + a_1 - b_2; -\frac{x(1 - y)}{1 - x}\right).$

For example, when computing the correlators of conformally coupled scalar fields (i.e. $\nu_J = 1/2$ and $\lambda = d/2$) one needs the Appell functions,

$$F_4\left(1, \frac{1}{2} ; \frac{3}{2}, \frac{1}{2} ; \frac{k_1^2}{k_3^2}, \frac{k_2^2}{k_3^2}\right) = \frac{k_3}{4k_1} \log\left(\frac{k_{123}(k_{13} - k_2)}{(k_{12} - k_3)(k_{23} - k_1)}\right)$$
(B.29)

$$F_4\left(1,\frac{3}{2}\;;\;\frac{3}{2},\frac{3}{2}\;;\;\frac{k_1^2}{k_3^2},\frac{k_2^2}{k_3^2}\right) = \frac{k_3^2}{4k_1k_2}\log\left(\frac{(k_{13}-k_2)(k_{23}-k_1)}{k_{123}(k_{12}-k_3)}\right) \tag{B.30}$$

and the expansion of,

$$F_4\left(\frac{d/2 - 3\nu}{2}, \frac{d/2 - \nu}{2}; 1 - \nu, 1 - \nu; \frac{k_1^2}{k_3^2}, \frac{k_2^2}{k_3^2}\right)$$

= $1 - \frac{1}{4}\left(\frac{d-3}{2} - 3\left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right)\log\left(\frac{(k_1 - k_{23})(k_3 - k_{12})(k_2 - k_{13})k_{123}}{k_3^4}\right) + \dots$ (B.31)

near d = 3 and $\nu = 1/2$. This gives a triple-*H* integral,

$$\frac{8i}{\sqrt{2\pi^3 k_1 k_2 k_3}} \left[\frac{1}{d-3-6\left(\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right)} \left(1 - \frac{d-3}{2} \gamma_E - \left(\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right) \log(8k_1 k_2 k_3) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \log\left(-ik_T\right) \right]. \tag{B.32}$$

Once multiplied by $N_1 N_2 N_3$, it gives a three-point wavefunction coefficient,

$$\alpha_3 = 2i \left[\frac{1}{d - 3 - 6\left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)} - \frac{1}{2}\gamma_E - \frac{1}{2}\log\left(-ik_T\right) \right] .$$
(B.33)

The pole depends on the scheme, but there is always an anomalous violation of scale invariance due to the $\log(k_T)$ which is scheme-independent. See e.g. [43] for a general demonstration of the scheme-independence of the anomaly in 3d scalar CFTs.

When ν_2 and ν_3 are both conformally coupled scalars (but ν_1 is arbitrary), the relevant Appell F_4 is given by the identity,

$$2F_4\left(a_1, a_1 + \frac{1}{2}; b_1, \frac{1}{2}; x, y\right) = (1 + \sqrt{y})^{-2a_1} {}_2F_1\left(a_1, a_1 + \frac{1}{2}; b_1; \frac{x}{(1 + \sqrt{y})^2}\right) + (1 - \sqrt{y})^{-2a_1} {}_2F_1\left(a_1, a_1 + \frac{1}{2}; b_1; \frac{x}{(1 - \sqrt{y})^2}\right).$$
(B.34)

Finally, we also note that when $\lambda = 1$ (i.e. an integral over three $H_{\nu_J}(k_J t)$ with no overall factor of t), the Appell function factorises, since

$$F_4(a_1, a_2; b_1, b_2; X(1-Y), Y(1-X)) = {}_2F_1(a_1, a_2; b_1; X) {}_2F_1(a_1, a_2; b_2; Y)$$
(B.35)

when $a_1 + a_2 + 1 = b_1 + b_2$. Both (B.34) and (B.35) may then be used to analytically continue into the physical region $k_1 + k_2 < k_3$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- R.J. Eden, P.V. Landshoff, D.I. Olive and J.C. Polkinghorne, S-matrix theory of strong interactions, Cambridge University Press (1966).
- [2] G.F. Chew, S-matrix theory of strong interactions, Benjamin, New York (1961).
- [3] P. Benincasa, New structures in scattering amplitudes: a review, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 29 (2014) 1430005 [arXiv:1312.5583] [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Elvang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes, arXiv:1308.1697 [INSPIRE].
- [5] C. Cheung, TASI Lectures on Scattering Amplitudes, in Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Anticipating the Next Discoveries in Particle Physics (TASI 2016), Boulder, CO, U.S.A., June 6–July 1, 2016, R. Essig and I. Low, eds., pp. 571–623 (2018) [DOI] [arXiv:1708.03872] [INSPIRE].

- [6] A.H. Guth, The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 347 [INSPIRE].
- [7] A.A. Starobinsky, A New Type of Isotropic Cosmological Models Without Singularity, Phys. Lett. B 91 (1980) 99 [INSPIRE].
- [8] A.D. Linde, A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems, Phys. Lett. B 108 (1982) 389 [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Albrecht and P.J. Steinhardt, Cosmology for Grand Unified Theories with Radiatively Induced Symmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1220 [INSPIRE].
- P. Creminelli, M.A. Luty, A. Nicolis and L. Senatore, Starting the Universe: Stable Violation of the Null Energy Condition and Non-standard Cosmologies, JHEP 12 (2006) 080
 [hep-th/0606090] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Cheung, P. Creminelli, A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, *The Effective Field Theory of Inflation*, *JHEP* 03 (2008) 014 [arXiv:0709.0293] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J.B. Hartle and S.W. Hawking, Wave Function of the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 28 (1983) 2960 [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.J. Halliwell and S.W. Hawking, The Origin of Structure in the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 1777 [INSPIRE].
- [14] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [15] D. Harlow and D. Stanford, Operator Dictionaries and Wave Functions in AdS/CFT and dS/CFT, arXiv:1104.2621 [INSPIRE].
- [16] G.L. Pimentel, Inflationary Consistency Conditions from a Wavefunctional Perspective, JHEP 02 (2014) 124 [arXiv:1309.1793] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Ghosh, N. Kundu, S. Raju and S.P. Trivedi, Conformal Invariance and the Four Point Scalar Correlator in Slow-Roll Inflation, JHEP 07 (2014) 011 [arXiv:1401.1426] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Anninos, T. Anous, D.Z. Freedman and G. Konstantinidis, Late-time Structure of the Bunch-Davies de Sitter Wavefunction, JCAP 11 (2015) 048 [arXiv:1406.5490] [INSPIRE].
- [19] G. Goon, K. Hinterbichler, A. Joyce and M. Trodden, Shapes of gravity: Tensor non-Gaussianity and massive spin-2 fields, JHEP 10 (2019) 182 [arXiv:1812.07571]
 [INSPIRE].
- [20] D. Baumann and D. Green, Equilateral Non-Gaussianity and New Physics on the Horizon, JCAP 09 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1102.5343] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Baumann, D. Green and R.A. Porto, B-modes and the Nature of Inflation, JCAP 01 (2015) 016 [arXiv:1407.2621] [INSPIRE].
- [22] D. Baumann, D. Green, H. Lee and R.A. Porto, Signs of Analyticity in Single-Field Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 023523 [arXiv:1502.07304] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Grall and S. Melville, Inflation in motion: unitarity constraints in effective field theories with (spontaneously) broken Lorentz symmetry, JCAP 09 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2005.02366] [INSPIRE].
- [24] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri and E. Pajer, *The Cosmological Optical Theorem*, arXiv:2009.02898 [INSPIRE].

- [25] I. Antoniadis, P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Conformal Invariance, Dark Energy, and CMB Non-Gaussianity, JCAP 09 (2012) 024 [arXiv:1103.4164] [INSPIRE].
- [26] P. Creminelli, Conformal invariance of scalar perturbations in inflation, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 041302 [arXiv:1108.0874] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Implications of conformal invariance in momentum space, JHEP 03 (2014) 111 [arXiv:1304.7760] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Constraints from Conformal Symmetry on the Three Point Scalar Correlator in Inflation, JHEP 04 (2015) 061 [arXiv:1410.2606] [INSPIRE].
- [29] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Ward Identities for Scale and Special Conformal Transformations in Inflation, JHEP 01 (2016) 046 [arXiv:1507.06017] [INSPIRE].
- [30] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, Cosmological Collider Physics, arXiv:1503.08043 [INSPIRE].
- [31] N. Arkani-Hamed, D. Baumann, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Inflationary Correlators from Symmetries and Singularities, JHEP 04 (2020) 105 [arXiv:1811.00024] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Bootstrapping Inflationary Correlators in Mellin Space, JHEP
 02 (2020) 098 [arXiv:1907.01143] [INSPIRE].
- [33] D. Baumann, C. Duaso Pueyo, A. Joyce, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The cosmological bootstrap: weight-shifting operators and scalar seeds, JHEP 12 (2020) 204
 [arXiv:1910.14051] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J.M. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, On graviton non-Gaussianities during inflation, JHEP 09 (2011) 045 [arXiv:1104.2846] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S. Raju, New Recursion Relations and a Flat Space Limit for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [arXiv:1201.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R. Jackiw, Analysis on Infinite Dimensional Manifolds Schrodinger Representation for Quantized Fields, Vol. Field Theory and Particle Physics, 5th Jorge Swieca Summer School, Brazil, World Scientific (1989) [https://inis.iaea.org/collection/NCLCollectionStore/ Public/22/056/22056871.pdf].
- [37] M. Lüscher, Schrödinger representation in quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 254 (1985) 52 [INSPIRE].
- [38] D.V. Long and G.M. Shore, The Schrödinger wave functional and vacuum states in curved space-time, Nucl. Phys. B 530 (1998) 247 [hep-th/9605004] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T. Leonhardt, R. Manvelyan and W. Rühl, The Group approach to AdS space propagators, Nucl. Phys. B 667 (2003) 413 [hep-th/0305235] [INSPIRE].
- [40] U. Moschella and R. Schaeffer, Quantum theory on Lobatchevski spaces, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 3571 [arXiv:0709.2795] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.S. Costa, V. Gonçalves and J. Penedones, Spinning AdS Propagators, JHEP 09 (2014) 064 [arXiv:1404.5625] [INSPIRE].
- [42] B. Allen, Vacuum States in de Sitter Space, Phys. Rev. D 32 (1985) 3136 [INSPIRE].
- [43] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Scalar 3-point functions in CFT: renormalisation, β-functions and anomalies, JHEP 03 (2016) 066 [arXiv:1510.08442]
 [INSPIRE].

- [44] T. Cohen and D. Green, Soft de Sitter Effective Theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 041 [arXiv:2007.03693] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A.J. Tolley and M. Wyman, The Gelaton Scenario: Equilateral non-Gaussianity from multi-field dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 043502 [arXiv:0910.1853] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Achucarro, J.-O. Gong, S. Hardeman, G.A. Palma and S.P. Patil, Effective theories of single field inflation when heavy fields matter, JHEP 05 (2012) 066 [arXiv:1201.6342] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. Cespedes, V. Atal and G.A. Palma, On the importance of heavy fields during inflation, JCAP 05 (2012) 008 [arXiv:1201.4848] [INSPIRE].
- [48] C. Cheung, A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, On the consistency relation of the 3-point function in single field inflation, JCAP 02 (2008) 021 [arXiv:0709.0295] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Bianchi, D.Z. Freedman and K. Skenderis, *Holographic renormalization*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 631 (2002) 159 [hep-th/0112119] [INSPIRE].
- [50] I. Heemskerk and J. Polchinski, Holographic and Wilsonian Renormalization Groups, JHEP 06 (2011) 031 [arXiv:1010.1264] [INSPIRE].
- [51] F. Larsen and R. McNees, Inflation and de Sitter holography, JHEP 07 (2003) 051 [hep-th/0307026] [INSPIRE].
- [52] J.P. van der Schaar, Inflationary perturbations from deformed CFT, JHEP 01 (2004) 070 [hep-th/0307271] [INSPIRE].
- [53] P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holography for Cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 021301 [arXiv:0907.5542] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 015009 [arXiv:1108.5735] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holographic predictions for cosmological 3-point functions, JHEP 03 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1112.1967] [INSPIRE].
- [56] I. Mata, S. Raju and S. Trivedi, CMB from CFT, JHEP 07 (2013) 015 [arXiv:1211.5482] [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Green and A. Premkumar, Dynamical RG and Critical Phenomena in de Sitter Space, JHEP 04 (2020) 064 [arXiv:2001.05974] [INSPIRE].
- [58] V. Gorbenko and L. Senatore, $\lambda \phi^4$ in dS, arXiv:1911.00022 [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Mirbabayi, Infrared dynamics of a light scalar field in de Sitter, JCAP 12 (2020) 006 [arXiv:1911.00564] [INSPIRE].
- [60] M. Baumgart and R. Sundrum, de Sitter Diagrammar and the Resummation of Time, JHEP 07 (2020) 119 [arXiv:1912.09502] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A.A. Starobinsky, Stochastic de Sitter (inflationary) stage in the early universe, Lect. Notes Phys. 246 (1986) 107 [INSPIRE].
- [62] M.P. Hertzberg and J.A. Litterer, Symmetries from locality. I. Electromagnetism and charge conservation, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 025022 [arXiv:2005.01731] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M.P. Hertzberg, J.A. Litterer and M. Sandora, Symmetries from locality. II. Gravitation and Lorentz boosts, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 025023 [arXiv:2005.01744] [INSPIRE].

- [64] E. Pajer, D. Stefanyszyn and J. Supel, The Boostless Bootstrap: Amplitudes without Lorentz boosts, JHEP 12 (2020) 198 [arXiv:2007.00027] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. Adams, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dubovsky, A. Nicolis and R. Rattazzi, *Causality, analyticity and an IR obstruction to UV completion*, JHEP 10 (2006) 014 [hep-th/0602178] [INSPIRE].
- [66] D. Baumann, D. Green and T. Hartman, Dynamical Constraints on RG Flows and Cosmology, JHEP 12 (2019) 134 [arXiv:1906.10226] [INSPIRE].